

Journal of Exceptional People

2017 – Volume 2; Number 11

Institute of Special Education Studies Faculty of Education – Palacký University Olomouc



Journal of Exceptional People

2017 – Volume 2; Number 11

Institute of Special Education Studies

Faculty of Education – Palacký University Olomouc

Journal of Exceptional People

Volume 2, Number 11, 2017, published in November 1, 2017

Scientifics Board

- Zsolt Cséfalvay, Univerzita Komenského, Bratislava, Slovakia
- Dariusz Dziuba, Uniwersytet Ślasky, Katowice, Poland
- Antonio Miňan Espigares, Facultad de Ciencias de la Educatión, Granada, Spain
- Sharon Raver-Lampman, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, USA
- Valéria Kerekes, Általános Gyógypedagógiai Tanszék, Budapest, Hungary
- Katarína Majzlanová, Univerzita Komenského, Bratislava, Slovakia
- Karel Pančocha, Masarykova univerzita, Brno, Czech Republic
- Endre Szkárosi, Eötvös Loránd Tudományos Egyetem, Budapest, Hungary
- Laima Toméniené, Šiauliai University, Lithuania
- Pavel Vacek, Univerzita Hradec Králové, Czech Republic
- Igor Viktorovič Vachkov, Moskovskij gorodskoj psichologo-pědagogičeskij univěrsitět, Rassija
- Milan Valenta, Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc, Czech Republic
- Kateřina Vitásková, Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc, Czech Republic
- · Peng Yan, Faculty of Education, Sichuan Normal University, China

Editor in Chief Libuše Ludíková Executive Editors Pavel Svoboda, Jan Chrastina Responsible Editor Otakar Loutocký

Editorial Board

Oldřich Müller, Lucia Pastieriková, Martin Dominik Polínek, Petra Potměšilová, Michal Růžička, Veronika Růžičková, Vojtech Regec, Kateřina Stejskalová, Jiří Langer, Jiří Kantor, Zdeňka Kozáková

Language Editors Jana Magdoňová, Edita Satinská

Cover Design Jiří Jurečka Layout Jiřina Vaclová

Editorial Office PdF UP, Žižkovo náměstí 5, Olomouc, 770 00, Czech Republic

Publisher Published and printed by Palacký University Olomouc Křížkovského 8, 771 47 Olomouc

Journal Website: http://jep.upol.cz/

ISSN 1805-4978 (Print) ISSN 1805-4986 (Online) Reg. č. MK ČR E 20769

Journal of Exceptional People

An International Journal for Education and Special Studies

Editor Pavel Svoboda Volume 2 Number 11 2017

Journal of Exceptional People is indexed in:

- List of non-impact peer-reviewed journals (Council for Research, Development and Innovation, Czech Republic)
- ERIH Plus (The European Reference Index for the Humanities and the Social Sciences)
- Ulrich's Periodicals Directory (UlrichsWeb)
- Index Copernicus International
- Bibliographia Medica Čechoslovaca (BMČ) of the National Medical Library of the Czech Republic

Obsah

Introduction	5
mitroduction	

ARTICLES

"They think we are all beggars": The resilience of a person with disability in Ghana
Maxwell Peprah Opoku, Naomi Gyamfi, Eric Badu, Wisdom Kwadwo Mprah7
Does pedagogical coordination through the leadership influence Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)? An international review
Inmaculada García-Martínez, José Luis Ubago-Jiménez, Mohammed El Homrani .19
Impact of social media on students with visual impairment a study of south-south region of Nigeria
Olayi, J. E; Eke, V. U.; Ikwen, E. U
Inclusive education: culture, principles, policies, and practices: a literature review41 SUNIL KUMAR
Boundaries and perspectives: needs of children with emotional and behavioral disorders from the perspective of children and educators
Women in private sex business from the perspective of relationship level
A review of somatic games intervention for children with autism spectrum disorders
Studying the attitude of future teachers towards inclusive education in the Republic of Kazakhstan
Saule Aubakirova, Kundyz Mukatayeva
Lifestyle of visually impaired individuals
Testing of subjective perception of complexity of signs of Czech sign language 123 Jıří Langer, Miroslav Rypka

BOOK REVIEWS

The role of school principals in implementing inclusive education in the Czech Republic . 1-	43
Reviewed by Joy S. Okoye 1	43
A practical guide for learning the craft of qualitative interviewing1	45
Reviewed by Liu Jia, Zhou Bo1	45
Approaches to students with learning disorders in inclusive school environment	49
Reviewed by Orim Samuel Orim	49
Information for authors	53

Introduction

Dear readers,

you are just reading the autumn number of our JEP magazine, which contains a wide range of contributions from authors focusing on the various topics. The very first article we publish deals with resilience of people with disabilities in the northern region of Ghana (M. Opoku et al.). Following is the contribution of the Spanish authors (I. García-Martínez et al.), which will give readers an idea of the problems of integrating ADHD students into ordinary classrooms not only in Spanish Andalusia. Another article by Nigerian authors focuses on assessing the roles of various media platforms that affect the daily life of the blind and visually impaired in the southern part of Nigeria (J. Olayi et al.)

Another article is a literature review from various sources of terms such as inclusive culture, inclusive policy, inclusive policy and inclusive practice.(S. Kumar). K. Červenka from Masaryk University in Brno describes the results of two qualitative researches focused on the situation of children with emotional and behavioral disorders and in the following interesting article called *Women in Private Sex Business perspectives of relationship level* we encounter issues of sexual services (Southern Bohemia) in the context of often disturbed social relationships between family and partner.

The Chinese author, L. Xianmei, deals with the current issue of autism and the success of applied psychosomatic methods of intervention. Another article by Kazakhstan authors (S. Aubakirova, K. Mukatayeva) gives an overview of how future teachers in this country are ready for inclusive education. In the following article Czech writers A. Hiršová and D. Finková chose the lifestyle of visually impaired people as a topic of their contribution and they introduce us to the results of the extensive research that was realized in the spring of 2017 and the final contribution (J. Langer, M. Rypka) reports on the results of research focusing on the subjective assessment of the perception of complexity of signs of CSL from the perspective of potentially hearing students.

A number of papers conclude three more reviews of interesting books on inclusive education and qualitative research interviewing.

The actual conclusion of the magazine itself is devoted to the usual information concerning the formal pages of contributions. Our editors put into this November issue texts from authors from seven countries in Europe, Africa and Asia. We continue to bring special pedagogical themes closer to the reader not only in the vertical plane but also in the horizontal plane.

Pleasant reading

Pavel Svoboda, Jan Chrastina - executive editors

"They think we are all beggars": The resilience of a person with disability in Ghana

(overview essay)

Maxwell Peprah Opoku, Naomi Gyamfi, Eric Badu, Wisdom Kwadwo Mprah

Abstract: In this study, the authors employed a single-participant approach to investigate the resilience of persons with disabilities in the face of discrimination and marginalisation. An interview was conducted with a woman living with physical disability in the capital of the Northern region of Ghana. The study found that despite barriers erected against a person with disabilities in the study area, the individual has striven to live independently by engaging in productive activities. The discussion of the study focused on the urgent need for society to empower persons with disabilities to enable them to utilise their inherent capabilities to allow them to become productive members of the society.

Keywords: Self-determination, persons with disability, inclusion, employment, resilience, Ghana

1 Introduction

The Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities [CRPD] makes it mandatory for signatory states to create an enabling environment that would promote full inclusion of persons with disabilities. Given this, discourses at the international level have mainly revolved around how the best states could open up respective societies and create opportunities for their population living with disabilities (Anthony, 2011). However, consistently, persons with disabilities have limited opportunities to participate in most activities available in the society because of prolonged barriers erected against them (Avoke, 2002; Kassha, Kassah & Agbota, 2014; Forlin, Lau, Chan & Peters, 2012). For instance, in Ghana, they have been reported to have limited access to necessities of life such as education, employment, and health care (Anthony, 2011; Badu, Agyei-Baffour & Opoku, 2016; Kassah, 1998; Opoku et al., 2016). Despite these barriers, the resilience of the few persons with disabilities who have made substantial contributions when it comes to the development of self-esteem is rarely reported as the emphasis is always placed on their challenges. Thus, this brief report aims to focus on the strength in disability which drives them to participation in economic activities despite the existence of barriers.

The challenges of persons with disabilities encounter can be traced to several factors – a major one being negative perceptions people hold about disability. In most societies in Ghana as well as in many countries, disability is not tolerated due to negative perceptions of people (Avoke, 2002; Kassah et al. 2014). Largely, people attribute the occurrence of disabilities to spirituality or explain regarding other superstitious beliefs (Agbenyega, 2003; Baffoe, 2013). Thus, when a child is a disabled, the most likely reason for this is that the gods are annoyed (Baffoe, 2013). Consequently, such individuals are labelled and sometimes segregated from other members of society and thus, limiting their ability to live independently like any other members of society (Avoke, 2002; Kuyini, Alhassan & Mahama, 2011; Naami & Hayashi, 2012). For instance, labelling persons with disabilities as sick, stupid person, idiot, dumb, imbecile, and river children create challenges for them and limit opportunities for them to use their potentials (Avoke, 2002; Agbenyega, 2003; Baffoe, 2013). This works against their self-worth and individual capabilities to support themselves and engage in productive activities.

Society has low expectation for persons with disabilities because of doubts about their capacities. The deep-seated stereotype views about disability have accounted for the lack of support to persons with disabilities in societies to enable them to participate in areas productive areas that would see improvement in their lives. The popular assumption in most societies has been that persons with disabilities are unproductive and thus limited to a life of dependency (Avoke, 2002; Munyi, 2012). Especially, persons with disabilities are not given the necessary support, and opportunity to have access to necessities such as education (Kassah et al. 2014; Naami & Hayashi, 2012). Consequently, lack of education means limited opportunity to acquire skills to participate in socio-economic activities (Crowley et al. 2013; Opoku et al. 2016b). Therefore, it is not surprising that many persons with disabilities have resorted to begging in the streets to survive.

Street begging has further worsened the plight of persons with disabilities as society looks down on them as individuals who have to rely on the generosity of others to make a living. In an effort towards achieving an inclusive society in Ghana, commentators are searching for supportive measures to institutionalise in societies for persons with disabilities. On top of that recommendations have been made on the need to project persons with disabilities and celebrate their achievements as part of awareness creation. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to share the story of an individual who defied the odds to make a living by utilising the little resources at her disposal. The study adopted a single case study to investigate the barriers the individual has been able to overcome and engage in income earning activities.

2 Disability and theory of resilience

The physical and social barriers faced by persons with disabilities are widely reported in the literature, and it is mainly investigated from the perspectives of socio-medical models of disability which highlight limitations encountered based on impairments. This study adopted the theory of resilience which provides a useful framework to analyse context and individual variables which may impact or serve as motivation to persons with disabilities to overcome barriers they face in societies. The theory is a strength-based approach to analyse capacity of persons with disabilities to overcome the obstacles erected against them in the society (Zimmerman, 2013). The theory underscores the ability of an individual to adapt to society in the face of adversity or barriers erected against their equal social participation (Ledesma, 2014; Southwick et al. 2014).

The expectation and stereotype views about persons with disabilities have contributed to a limited avenue for them to explore opportunities in societies. Society has their biases against persons with disabilities. Therefore, efforts have to be made before persons with disabilities could have access to opportunities available in the society (Carter et al. 2015; Frankland et al. 2004). In the midst of scarcity, major determinants of resilience in the field of disability have been linked to social barriers erected against persons with disabilities (Ledesma, 2014). Persons with disabilities are endowed with innate abilities which could only be teased out once their strength and capacity have been identified (Field, Server & Shaw, 2003). As discussed by Zimmerman (2013), the availability of assets such as self-esteem and self-efficacy determines how far persons with disabilities would be able to respond to barriers. To roll-out policies which would have an impact on the lives of persons with disabilities, it is important to find out how they think about themselves so as to figure out the best way to reach out to them (Wehmeyer & Garner, 2003). The support could be in the form of creating an enabling environment for them to explore opportunities available in the society.

Society has to acknowledge the primary role persons with disabilities could play to support their lives and that of the society. Until people are educated about the individual abilities and capabilities of persons with disabilities, they would always be regarded as second-class citizens who have to depend on society to survive (Field et al. 1998; 2003). The quest to attain an inclusive society depends on realising the capabilities of persons with disabilities, then, provide the platform for them to exhibit their talent (Field, 1996; Frankland et al. 2004). Despite these barriers, the resilience

of the few persons with disabilities who have made tremendous achievements in life is underreported This study takes the campaign of supporting persons with disabilities further by presenting the account of a person with a disability, who in the face of limited resources, has worked to make a living.

3 Method

3.1 Study design

The study was descriptive narrative research which used both observation and faceto-face interviews to collect data. The design provides the opportunity to closely study a private life of the interviewee with the aim of drawing inferences for the general well-being of the society (Muylaert, 2014). It encompasses the study of individual sharing their life story which has the potential to influence others or bring about transformation (Muylaert, 2014; Sandelowski, 1991). In achieving inclusive society in Ghana, it is important to project the image of persons with disabilities. Consistently, studies have reported the challenges faced by persons with disabilities (Avoke, 2002; Agbenyega, 2003; Baffoe, 2013; Kassah, 2008) without reporting on issues which could encourage them to live independently. In this study, our objective was to report on success stories of person with disability who has succeeded in a field of endeavour despite societal barriers. From a constructivist perspective of representing reality from the participant's perspective (Etherington, 2013), we documented the life story of a woman with a disability with the aim of gaining an understanding of how she became independent to encourage others who find themselves in a similar situation.

The participant for this study was Rahi (who agreed that we used her first name in writing the report) a 38-year-old married woman with two kids living with physical disabilities. She is a renowned seamstress who has committed herself to train other women with disabilities without a job in the community. She was born with her disability which she believed was caused by polio.

3.2 Data collection and procedures

We led discussions with executives of disabled people's organisation [DPO] in Tamale, which is the capital of the Northern Region of Ghana, to assist us in identifying any member of the association who has excelled in field of work. Rahi was recommended, and we met her in June 2016 and discussed the study objective with her and sought permission to use her for this study. As reported by Muylaert (2014), studying the life of an individual require close observation to corroborate the story of the participant. Due to this, we spent one week in the community observing and gathering information from family and friends in the community. We arranged a face-to-face interview at her place of work on the seventh-day of our observation. We did not use structured interview guide which according to Muylaert (2014), is ideal for a narrative study in other to keep the conversation flowing. The interview centred on her daily routine, family support, access to education, job opportunities, her personal motivations, her views on begging and her appeal to the government for support. The interview was conducted by the first author and lasted two hours which was audio-recorded with permission from the participant.

3.3 Data analysis

Since Rahi could not speak English, we conducted the interview in the Twi language which is the dominant language spoken by most people in Ghana. After the interview session, we played back the audio to Rahi to make a decision on content which we could include in our reporting. Since the study was done from a constructivist perspective, it was important that we allowed the participant to listen to the taped conversation to make sure that her story is rightly reported (Creswell & Miller, 2000). The audio data was then transcribed verbatim into English by the first and second author separately. They met and condensed the two documents together before typing in Microsoft Word for analysis. We followed Muylaert's (2014) steps to analyse data in the narrative study. In Microsoft Word, we drew a table which was split into three columns under the following headings; transcription, reduction and keywords. We extracted key categories from the interviews which were assigned codes. These were pulled together to form the story in the analyses.

4 Results: Rahi's story

I could not go to school due to my disability. The school was very far, and I could not crawl such a long distance to attend school. I was able to go in the morning, but due to the sun, I found it difficult to come home when I close. The distance was too far. I told my father that the school is very far for me so I wanted to stop. Looking at how I was suffering, he accepted, because he did not have money to support my transportation. Even my health care was a problem sometimes my sister would come and tell him to take me to the hospital, but my father would refuse due to lack of money. My parents are good such that I cannot compare my mother to anybody. My mother does not have money, but she considers my disability and help me with the little she has. It would be better for family members to help us so that we become useful with our lives.

Even though I was not able to go to school, that did not deter me from pursuing my dream in life. I move from where we were to Tamale where I came to learn vocational training. When I came, somebody introduced me to DPO, and I have been a member ever since. While learning the training, I was also farming and selling bread in front of our house and was able to raise money to pay for my hospital bills and also support my training. I am now a seamstress. I work for a company. What I have realised is that persons with disabilities are mainly poor because many employers do not want to employ them. When I was looking for employment, my employer told me I am disabled, so I will not be able to do the work. I responded that I could do the work since it is not my legs which I will use to work. When I was accepted, they shared responsibilities for us (employees). I did not exclude myself but agreed that all of us would do the sweeping. I accepted responsibility because I wanted to prove to them that disability is not inability. It hurt me that they were using my disability as a basis to deny me a job because I did not create myself so there is no need for people to judge me based on how I look. Besides my disability fits me and that is why God made me as such. Everyone could be disabled at any time so we should not use disability as a basis to discriminate between others. Even with my disability, I have been able to work effectively and now I have been able to buy my wheelchair. I do get money on my own, so I can buy whatever I want. I am proud to be employed, very happy to be working and can work like any other person.

I am now financially independent. People in this community see every disabled person as a beggar. They think we are all beggars. They have made it general to cover everyone. At times someone will see me in my wheelchair going to town or moving around, and they will come and give me money. I have been rejecting such things. I believe those who beg on the road side need help. However, they can also help themselves. My fellows with disabilities, my advice is stop begging and do something because everything starts small. I was selling bread on a small table in front of our house. That is how you should begin, and it will surely grow with time. With that, I was able to generate money to support my training. I did not rely on people. It took determination to get to where I wanted to be. So you also can. I have married, but I have not given birth, but I take care of one child and also help my siblings and their children.

I tell you that if you have disabled yourself, they will call you disabled but if you are active, no one will call you a disabled. No one calls me a disabled because I have decided to work hard. Where I am living now, there is no tap water in the house, so when I close from work, I take my bucket and go out and fetch water and cook for myself. If you are not disabling yourself, your neighbours will not call you a disabled. I really work hard and sometimes if I tell people the kind of work I do, they doubt about me. I work on the farm, I crawl and work on the farm. I do not consider my disability, but I always try to work hard. So when you go to where I stay and make enquiries about me, they will tell you I can do everything. I sometimes wake up at 4:30 am or 5: 00 am and do my house chores, and by 6:30 am I will be at work because my work starts at 7:30 am. We should keep in mind that disability is not an excuse to be lazy, dependent and unproductive. This is because some disabled persons sleep and

wake up at 8:00 am or 9:00 am so if you have to send your child or sister to school or you need money to work, and you sleep like that how that can be possible? I want all disabled persons to behave like me! I want those who are not working to come to us and learn the sowing. I tell you, because of how hard I have worked, my employer now recruits other disables who are walking without jobs. Now there are other disables working with us. If I speak like this, some disabled will say I am working that is why I am saying that. However, they do not know how I suffered to come by this job. So, friends, you have to struggle for yourself because very few people and organisations are willing to help disabled people.

People always say that there are so many NGOs who are helping disables, but many NGOs support non-disabled than us. They spend much money on non-disabled and neglect us disables. Many of the disabled are not having money to feed, so I am pleading with authority to help create opportunities for disables who are beggars to find something to do. Even if they cannot take part in skilled training, they could be supported to do business. Also, I implore NGOs to help disables. Because I went to one NGO when I was aspiring for Assemblywoman in my village, but they didn't help me. They told me they would help me but they did not until I finished my campaign. Anyway, I lost, but I will try again next time. I campaigned, but no one voted for me.

5 Discussion

Resilience theory discussed the strength in disability which policy makers could capitalise on and support persons with disabilities in societies. Ghana has ratified international and domestic legislation in an effort towards achieving equal rights for all persons in the society. One major recommendation has always been awareness creation for societies to recognise the abilities of persons living with disabilities. However, persons with disabilities have endured systematic discrimination despite the existence of both local and international legal laws aimed at protecting their rights (Anthony, 2011; Opoku, 2016). As documented by other studies, there are barriers faced by persons with disabilities in most developing countries in which Ghana is no exception. Barriers such as negative perception, limited access to education, jobs and other necessities hinder the inclusion of persons with disabilities in societies (Agbenyega, 2003; Kuyini et al. 2011; Munyi, 2012; Opoku et al. 2016a; 2016b; Naami & Hayashi, 2012). It is unsurprising that the resilience of persons with disabilities has received less attention in contemporary disability discourses.

Persons with disabilities have endured many years of marginalisation, but many of them have been able to survive, which underscores their spiritedness. Historically, persons with disabilities have not been favoured in societies because cultural interpretations were given to their impairments (Avoke, 2002; Baffoe, 2013; Kassah, 1998). However, their resilience is undoubted as they have been able to endure the

harsh environmental conditions while striving to make a livelihood. The reduction of persons with disabilities to individuals who feed on the benevolence of society was a major boost for the participant to overcome this erroneous notion. Persons with disabilities need to motivate themselves to reduce negative perceptions about them. As demonstrated by the participant, they have to fight and participate in social activities for society to see their ability.

The support Rahi had at the family level was invaluable which urged her to exploit her potential in life. The family provides invaluable support to its members with disabilities which are an essential resource, and motivation individuals need to enable them to unearth their talents (Kassah, 2008; Kassah et al. 2014). The acceptance of persons with disabilities at the family level would allow them to discover their potentials and confidence to go over barriers in the society (Abgenyega, 2003; Kassah et al. 2014). Despite the fact that Rahi's family did not have enough financial resources to enrol her in school, they supported her to acquire vocation skill to enable her to earn a living. With some push from family members and determination to make a living, Rahi supported herself through farming and petty trading to make a living. It is advisable that poverty or limited support from the family should not be a basis for persons with disabilities to sit idle and depend on the benevolence of society.

The needs of persons with disabilities are mainly ignored by society as they are looked down upon and expected to continue to maintain their status quo. Adverse perceptions about persons with disabilities have been a basis for their exclusion in societal activities (Abgenyega, 2003; Avoke, 2002; Kassah, 1998; Baffoe, 2013). Consequently, the inaccessibility of education indicates the absence of opportunities for persons with disabilities. In Ghana, special schools are found to be few and access limited to few children with disabilities (Opoku et al. 2016a; 2016b). This brings to bear the need for government to prioritise the implementation of inclusive education for persons with disabilities to expand their career opportunities in life. However, the implementation of the policy has been found to be facing challenges which mean that the government would be unable to extend the programme to other parts of the country (Anthony, 2011; Opoku et al. 2016a). Largely, their needs are overlooked and unable to benefit from jobs opportunities or engaging in productive ventures education open for the larger citizenry. It was not surprising that persons with disabilities have taken up begging as an alternative means of livelihood (Kassah, 2008). Due to the widespread of begging among persons with disabilities, they are seen as needy persons who may be unable to attain higher heights.

The absence of jobs has contributed to most persons with disabilities engaging in begging which seems to be the most easily available jobs. This kind of mentality further weakens persons with disabilities about aspiring to achieve higher heights. The engagement of most persons with disabilities in the begging business might have led to a generalisation that they are all beggars. It is important to state that not every person with a disability are enthused about this kind of disability-begging synergy as they are motivated to feed on their sweat. As Rahi said, some people tried to give her money thinking that she is also engaged in this act which she said she refused all times. Rahi has demonstrated that most persons with disabilities are capable of supporting themselves and change the erroneous notion of society against them. Persons with disabilities could attain the self-worth in society in the event they are supported either by family or at the national level to overcome social barriers and engage in productive activities.

6 Conclusion

The study was only limited to only one person in the Northern Region of Ghana who has defiled the current social obstacles and involved in activities reserved for other members of the society. Also, we relied on accounts of executives of the DPOs in the study area to settle on the participant, and we are unable to tell if she is the individual who have excelled in her field of work. Therefore, it is recommended that future studies look at the broader spectrum of society and engage persons with disabilities who have been able or do something to support themselves. Despite the limitation of the study, it provided a rare opportunity for an individual with a disability to share her life experiences.

The study has demonstrated that there is the ability in disability. Thus, policymakers should focus on effective ways to support them to exhibit their talents in life. To achieve an inclusive society, the creation of space for persons with disabilities to participate in societal activities is inevitable. Persons with disabilities are capable of working as any individual so society, especially the family, should give them necessary support to enable them to become productive (Kassah et al. 2014; Naami & Hayashi, 2012). When such opportunities are given to individuals with disabilities regarding having access to education, vocational training or life skills, they will not become a burden on society (Baffoe, 2013; Crowley et al. 2013; Kuyini et al. 2011). On the other hand, person with disability has to be proud of their disability and not demeaning themselves. Once they accepted their disability and determined to work like any other person, society would open up spaces for them. It is not their destiny to depend on others to make a living as with the necessary training; they could work to support themselves.

References

[1] Agbenyega, J. (2003). The power of labeling discourse in the construction of disability in Ghana. In *A paper presented at the Australian Association for Research in Education Conference, Newcastle, Association of Active Educational Researchers (AARE).*

- [2] Anthony, J., (2011). Conceptualising disability in Ghana: implications for EFA and Inclusive education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *15*(10), pp. 1073–1086.
- [3] Avoke, M. (2002). Models of disability in the labelling and attitudinal discourse in Ghana. *Disability & Society*, *17*(7), 769–777.
- [4] Badu, E., Agyei-Baffour, P., & Opoku, M. P. (2016). Access Barriers to Health Care among People with Disabilities in the Kumasi Metropolis of Ghana. *Canadian Journal of Disability Studies*, 5(2), 131–151.
- [5] Baffoe, M. (2013). Stigma, discrimination & marginalization: Gateways to oppression of persons with disabilities in Ghana, West Africa. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 3(1), 187–198.
- [6] Carter, E. W., Lane, K. L., Jenkins, A. B., Magill, L., Germer, K., & Greiner, S. M. (2015).
- Administrator views on providing self-determination instruction in elementary and secondary schools. *The Journal of Special Education*, 49(1), 52–64.
- [7] Crowley, C., Baigorri, M., Ntim, C., Bukari, B., Oseibagyina, A., Kitcher, E., ... & Laing, A. (2013). Collaborations to address barriers for people with communication
- disabilities in Ghana: Considering the World Report on Disability. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 15(1), 53–57.
- [8] Field, S., Martin, J., Miller, R., Ward, M., & Wehmeyer, M. (1998). Self-determination for persons with disabilities: A position statement of me division on career development and transition. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 21(2), 113–128.
- [9] Forlin, C. I., Lau, E., Chan, D., & Peters, B. (2012). "I'm not a Rice Pot": Disability, society and inclusion in Hong Kong. *Journal of Exceptional People*, 1(2).
- [10] Field, S., Sarver, M. D., & Shaw, S. F. (2003). Self-determination a key to success in postsecondary education for students with learning disabilities. Remedial and Special Education, 24(6), 339–349.
- [11] Frankland, H. C., Turnbull, A. P., & Wehmeyer, M. L. (2004). An exploration of the self-determination construct and disability as it relates to the Dine (Navajo) culture. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, 191–205.
- [12] Muylaert, C. J., Sarubbi Jr, V., Gallo, P. R., Neto, M. L. R., & Reis, A. O. A. (2014). Narrative interviews: an important resource in qualitative research. *Revista da Escola de Enfermagem da* USP, 48(SPE2), 184-189.
- [13] Sandelowski, M. (1991). Telling stories: Narrative approaches in qualitative research. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 23(3), 161–166.
- [14] Etherington, K. (2013). Narrative approaches to case studies. Last accessed, 30. www.keele.ac.uk/ media/keeleuniversity/facnatsci/schpsych/documents/counselling/co nference/5thannual/NarrativeApproachestoCaseStudies.pdf
- [15] Creswell, J. W., & Miller, D. L. (2000). Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory into Practice*, 39(3), 124-130.
- [16] Kassah, A. K. (1998). Community-based rehabilitation and stigma management by physically disabled people in Ghana. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 20(2), 66-73.
- [17] Kassah, B. L. L., Kassah, A. K., & Agbota, T. K. (2014). Abuse of physically disabled women in Ghana: its emotional consequences and coping strategies. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 36(8), 665–671.
- [18] Kassah AK. (2008). Begging as work: a study of people with mobility difficulties in Accra, Ghana. Disability and Society, 23, 163–70
- [19] Kuyini, A. B., Alhassan, A. R. K., & Mahama, F. K. (2011). The Ghana community-based rehabilitation program for people with disabilities: what happened at the end of donor support? *Journal* of Social Work in Disability & Rehabilitation, 10(4), 247–267.

- [20] Ledesma, J. (2014). Conceptual frameworks and research models on resilience in leadership. *Sage Open*, 4(3), 2158244014545464.
- [21] Opoku, M.P. Mprah, W.K. Owusu, I. Badu, E. and Torgbenu, E.L. (2016a). Challenges in accessing education for children with disabilities in Ashanti and Brong Ahafo regions of Ghana. *Journal of Disability Studies*, 1(2).
- [22] Opoku, M. P., Mprah, W. K., Dogbe, J. A., Moitui, J. N., & Badu, E (2016b). Access to employment in Kenya: the voices of persons with disabilities. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development*. DOI: 10.1515/ijdhd-2015-0029,
- [23] Opoku, M.P. 2016. The state of special schools in Ghana: Perceptions of special educators in Ashanti and Brong Ahafo regions of Ghana. *Turkish International Journal of Special Education* and Guidance & Counselling (TIJSEG) ISSN: 1300-7432, 5(1).
- [24] Munyi, C. W. (2012). Past and present perceptions towards disability: A historical perspective. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 32 (2).
- [25] Naami, A., & Hayashi, R. (2012). Perceptions about disability among Ghanaian university students. Journal of Social Work in Disability & Rehabilitation, 11(2), 100–111.
- [26] Southwick, S. M., Bonanno, G. A., Masten, A. S., Panter-Brick, C., & Yehuda, R. (2014). Resilience definitions, theory, and challenges: interdisciplinary perspectives. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 5 (10).
- [27] Wehmeyer, M. L., & Garner, N. W. (2003). The impact of personal characteristics of people with intellectual and developmental disability on self-determination and autonomous functioning. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 16(4), 255–265.
- [28] Zimmerman, M. A. (2013). Resiliency Theory A Strengths-Based Approach to Research and Practice for Adolescent Health. *Health Education Behav*iour, 40 (4), 381–383. doi: 10.1177/1090198113493782

(reviewed twice)

Maxwell Peprah Opoku^a, Naomi Gyamfi^b, Eric Badu^b, Wisdom Kwadwo Mprah^b

^a University of Tasmania Faculty of Education, Launceston-Australia

^b Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology Centre for Disability Rehabilitation Studies Kumasi-Ghana

email: Maxwell.opoku@utas.edu.au, naomi.gyamfi@yahoo.com, badu3eric@gmail.com, mprahwisdom@yahoo.com

Corresponding author: Opoku Maxwell Peprah University of Tasmania, Faculty of Education, Launceston-Australia email: Maxwell.opoku@utas.edu.au

Does pedagogical coordination through the leadership influence Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)? An international review

(overview essay)

Inmaculada García-Martínez, José Luis Ubago-Jiménez, Mohammed El Homrani

Abstract: This article proposes a literature review about the problems faced by the teachers when they have to achieve the inclusion of students who are diagnosed with ADHD. While searching the resources, we have also found that the establishment of collaborative work climate among teachers, the establishment of common goals and shared responsibility, are factors that favor the work with this type of students. In addition, these factors have been found to occur in contexts where shared and distributed leadership prevails.

Keywords: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD); distributed leadership; school improvement

1 Introduction

The aim of the school is the improvement of student's learning. Work on behalf of the student is the emblem on that any teacher must be located (Seashore-Louis, 2007). The current school, far from being a place watertight and homogeneous, must move forward at the same time as society. On this matter, the teachers must recognize the diversity of their students and develop their professional capital (Fullan, 2010). Through the promotion of good practices and the collaborative climate among teachers, the fan will be opened towards the use of other strategies which encourage the inclusion (Hargreaves and Fullan, 2012).

2 Pedagogical Coordination and Leadership in Spain

For a better understanding, we introduce as an example the pedagogical coordination design of the Educational Spanish system. Thus, the Spanish Educational System maintains the same structure of levels and educational stages designed in the Organic Law of General Management of the Educational System (LOGSE, 1990). Although reforms of structure, curriculum, faculty organization and the centers themselves are being attempted, such reforms are still on paper until an education pact between political parties is achieved, which seems very difficult.

In relation to the structure, we can differentiate between *General Education* and *General Regime Teachings*. The first one includes early childhood education, primary education, secondary education (comprising compulsory secondary education, baccalaureate and intermediate vocational training), higher vocational training and university education. It also contemplates the adequacy of these teachings to students with special educational needs, distance education for students who cannot attend regularly to a teaching center and adult education. The second one, for its part, refers to the artistic teachings and the language teaching.

Focusing on the Educational purposes that are stablished in the educational laws, teachers and the educational community must work cooperatively for training the citizens of a future society, facilitating the inclusion of all. This will promote autonomous learning, critical thinking and the ability to learn throughout life.

To guarantee the proper functioning of schools, the educational law establishes the type of relationships that must exist between the various organs or organizational units of the school. These relationships can take different forms, depending on the organizational model; But in general, in every educational center, a vertical or hierarchical structure and a horizontal or functional structure are appreciated. In practice, there are no vertical or horizontal models, they are usually the result of a mixture of both. But why is pedagogical coordination so important among teachers? The pedagogical coordination provides a cohesive and integrated vision of learning that takes place in the schools. If there was no coordination, each group of students would build a different learning. In addition, teachers would be able to replicate the content taught by others and miss the possibility of achieving comprehensive and comprehensive teaching and learning processes.

To ensure an appropriate pedagogical performance, Spanish schools have the *Teaching Coordination Bodies* (see Table 1). They are coordination groups formed by teachers, whose objective is for students to acquire global and integrated learning. Due to the demands of providing quality teaching to the students and the work they entail, it becomes clear that teachers need to work within the framework of working groups.

Table 1: Spanish teaching Coordination bodies

Teaching Coordination bodies			
Cycle teams*	Didactic Departments**		
Commission for pedagogical coordination**	Tutors and teachers' group meetings Cycle teams Composition and operation***		

* Kindergarten and / or Primary Education.

****departments of** didactic coordination, orientation department and department of complementary and extracurricular activities when they impart Secondary Education.

*** Kindergarten, Primary Education, Secondary Education and bachelor's degree.

The relationship which appears between teachers in which bodies must be collaborative and characterized by trust and respect. All the curricular decisions taken are a matter for all teachers, which contributes to teachers being responsible for the teaching and learning processes of all their students, especially those who have special educational needs to achieve their inclusion. When schools staff get it, a distributed leadership exist at schools, that allow the school improvement.

3 Leadership and its implications on students` inclusion

In this regard, a factor that has been studied extensively on a global scale appears: pedagogical leadership (Pont, Nusche and Moornan, 2008; OECD, 2009; Leithwood, 2009; Hargreaves, 2001; Spillane, 2006; Bolívar, 2012; 2014; Bolívar and Ruano, 2013). Recognizing the multiplicity of meanings and variants of this factor in vogue, numerous studies have stated its positive effect on the improvement of the school results (Mulford, 2006; González, 2007; Peacock, 2014; Klar, 2012; Poultney, 2012). This hypothesis is what has led us to consider the research that we raised in this article. If the educational leadership shows better results in the improvement of the students in general, would it also display them in the case of pupils with Special educational needs (hereinafter SNE)? Does the teacher who works with such students supply his/ her teaching by leadership, in its distributed form, in his/her professional career? Is there any relationship between leadership and improvement of performance of students with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (hereinafter ADHD)?

In parallel, there are various studies that confirm the global prevalence of ADHD estimating that it is the same everywhere – 5.29% (Spencer, Biederman and Mick, 2007), with increased frequency among men than among women, in a proportion of 3 to 1 (Valdizán, Mercado and Mercado-Undanivia, 2007). It is estimated to affect between 2 and 5 per cent of the child population in Spain (Molina-Carballo, Naranjo-Gómez, Uberos, Justicia-Martínez, Ruiz-Ramos, Cubero-Millán,... and Muñoz-Hoyos, 2013) and can be defined as a persistent pattern of symptoms of inattention and/or hyperactivity-impulsivity that is more frequent and more serious

than the usually observed in people with a degree of similar development. These difficulties are started in early childhood and are associated with a deficit in the conduct governed by rules and a certain pattern of performance (Barkley and Russell, 1990). The disorder persists during adolescence in the 50–80% of the diagnosed cases throughout childhood and in 30–50% of cases diagnosed during the adult stage (Barkley and Russell, 1990).

These difficulties reflect a lack of the will of the individual or his inability to selfcontrol its own conduct during a space of time, and to keep in mind the goals and implications for the future. ADHD is associated with a developmental disorder, since it involves evolutionary patterns different in affected people. The symptoms could also vary in every affected person. This disorder has biological origin with manifestations in the expression of psychosocial elements, affecting the family, school, work and socio-economic of individuals who are diagnosed. This is recognized by the scientific community on a global scale. The main symptoms of the individual with ADHD are the lack of attention, hyperactivity and impulsivity excessive according to age. In the same way, it is a chronic disorder because once the symptoms are manifested, they tend to be maintained throughout the life of the individual while modifying their resentation feature depending upon the different evolutionary moments.

The diagnostic process can be performed by the medical specialist or by the clinical psychologist with specialization in ADHD. In this regard, the Official Bulletin of the Cortes Generales of 12 December 2012, collects: "It is very important to solve problem of the current infra diagnosis, since not every active child suffers from ADHD; therefore, it is necessary to delve into the manifested symptoms [...] that can affect the learning and the relationship with other children" (p. 53). To do this, the diagnosis must be substantiated through a specialized consultation based on the collection of all the information about the individual. Numerous studies affirm that an inappropriate treatment of individuals with ADHD have negative consequences such as series of risks that threaten the mental and physical integrity (De La Peña, Palacio and Barragán, 2010).

At the age at which students begin to be diagnosed with ADHD, educational background turns to be as important as family background. In addition to the growing demand in the academic aspects, belonging to a peer group becomes a pressing priority. Students with ADHD usually have learning difficulties in curricular content, and also difficulties to achieve their integration in the group (Rabiner and Coie, 2000). In our case, the updated information, participation and leadership of teachers are necessary to carry out the diagnosis of ADHD as well as for the development of interventions of educational therapeutics (Vile Junod, DuPaul, Jitendra, Volpe and Cleary, 2006), otherwise the ADHD would increase to a large extent and the possibilities of developing school failure, problems of self-esteem and self-perception would be more likely to happen (Rodríguez and Caño, 2012).

The importance of the school context and the teaching team is obvious, since the students spend a lot of time at schools. In fact, the symptoms are being detected clearly due to these circumstances. We consider that it is common to associate low academic improvement, non-conclusion of a task started or distraction, to the profile of a child with ADHD, but this profile is observed in a high percentage of students of compulsory secondary education who do not suffer from ADHD. Another clear example is when teachers constantly command order and silence among their students; in that case they only want pupils who do not speak or move in their class. On the other hand, sometimes the teacher is excessively permissive to the continuing disruption of the child, associating it with temporary condition or lack of maturity (Gadow and Sprafkin, 1995). These are just some examples of the casuistry we can find at schools. All of them prove a demand of evaluation of ADHD (Félix, 2006).

Academically, students with ADHD are more likely to have worse qualifications and low scores in standardized tests (Loe and Feldman, 2007). They are also more likely to have a higher rate of absenteeism, and three times more likely to repeat school years during the period of the primary school. They are at a greater risk of dropping out of high school than their peers who don't suffer from ADHD (Barbaresi, Katusic, Colligan, Weaver and Jacobsen, 2007). It is evident that the improvement of the academic success of students in general and, especially students with ADHD, is related with the schools that offer their teachers the possibility to get trained about the aspects of students with special needs.

Quality, achievement and qualifications take precedence in the current society and at schools. The results that students achieve are important, but we must keep in mind that not all students or groups are offered the same opportunities. This fact can have negative affect on ADHD students' school careers assuming, in many cases, a loss of educational, personal and social opportunities. In this sense, the distributed leadership provides a development of the capacities and strengths of the pupil, giving teachers a "feedback" in relation to their own effort. According to Bolívar (2010: 92) "leadership distributed [...] it is part of an organization, it is understood as an organization that learns or, more recently, as professional learning community".

These organizational and structural changes that are possible thanks to distributed leadership, influence directly on the training needs of the teachers, providing them with better resources, possibilities and exploitation of the spaces depending on the students' needs. Inter professional relations are the cross shaft in order to ensure an improvement in the inclusion of students with ADHD. Thus, "the teacher has to manage the organizational structure of their students, adapting resources (human and material) to their needs (own space, available time, curriculum adapted, etc.)" according to Fernandez and Hernandez, (2013: 98).

So, to work with students with ADHD, because of lack of social conscience and teachers' practical knowledge, it is necessary to create guides. We can make cards or

posters that remind the teacher what is each thing used for, and when it has to be used. It is advised to use a clock at your table and divide the working time, so that it splits up the tasks into stages when working with children with severe hyperactivity.

The teacher must deal with the child using a motivating voice tone, he/she must learn behavior modification techniques and try to standardize the problem as much as he/she can (DuPaul, Gormley, and Laracy, 2014). In this regard, the needs of the students are those establishing the preferences and the objectives to be achieved. At the time that the educational needs of students become more specific, teachers' vocation emerges to help their peers and learners to handle these situations. It is necessary that the teaching staff is committed to innovation and change towards the common goal. In this way, the cooperative working climate will encourage making decisions that have a positive influence on the entire student body and, more specifically, students diagnosed with ADHD. Then, teachers who are part of the same ship will be able to give coordinated common answers. Under this educational leadership, understood within the terms of the distributed leadership, we assume the existence of a close collaboration in teaching that will be rewarded by the feedback among teachers as a propulsion engine of creative and motivating initiatives that arouse the curiosity of the students with ADHD. "The probability that the teachers to exert leadership roles also increases when they have access to professional development oriented to develop the skills and knowledge needed to assume these roles effectively" according to Leithwood (2009: 99). Hence the importance of professional development in regard to the acquisition of skills particularly as the innovation, creativity, communication, group work or research must be stressed (Harris and Lambert, 2003).

In the arduous search for techniques and methodologies that promote meaningful learning for the student, we can glimpse that the distributed leadership implies a specific importance on the reduction of the negative effects on social and family environment; it exerts positively on the group in general (Knapp, 1995), even on students with ADHD. Innovations are more relevant within the classroom because the students have a greater tendency to learn when their teachers use a variety of resources, techniques and contextualized tasks (Bauermeister, 2014).

In the Burns and Mason (2002) study, concluded with their results obtained among the students of homogenous and heterogeneous classes, students reach the best results in heterogeneous classes. They similarly found strong evidence that managers deliberately attached students who presented deficit of attention to the multigrade classes, thus being able to establish a clear link between the actions of managers, the composition of the class and school performance. The study also stands out as the most effective strategy that involves supportive behaviors that are based on the motivation and the active strategies of teaching/learning. This helps students with ADHD to focus their attention and keep their involvement and interest in the tasks (Bartlett, Rowe, and Shattell, 2010). Those students with ADHD experience many difficulties in their everyday life because of the executive and motivational deficits. In particular, the influence on academic outcomes is very negative. Schools and special education services are facing serious challenges when they have to respond to the needs of the growing number of students with ADHD (Berenguer, Roselló, Miranda, Baixuli, Palomero, 2016). People who must pay proper attention and support to them are their parents and teachers.

Synthesizing, students with ADHD need the motivational support of their closest adults and teachers who should use active teaching strategies. In this context, it is essential that the educational professional leadership advice parents about the best way to help ADHD students to obtain academic success.

4 Conclusion

Taking into account that students with ADHD find greater allies in parents and teachers, the transformation of schools into professional learning communities can be a solution to strengthen the bond between the family and the school. In this regard, it has been strongly emphasized in the international literature that one of the facilitators of such a transformation is once again the implementation of horizontally-based leadership in schools. On top of that and focusing on students with NEAE, it would be a matter of paying attention to the students as a whole. Speaking of students in general, including the previous one in the same group and recognizing that they have specific and / or special needs at any given time, is one of the many challenges that the 21st century school has to face.

In addition, inclusion requires more qualified professionals to respond to heterogeneous group of students. The development of professional teaching capacity is a branch of research on which great emphasis is being placed today. Among its possibilities of development, we recognize the implementation of leadership as a way of collaboration and the teacher's professional growth. Cooperative work, exchange of good practices, feedback among teachers, the search for joint solutions and the shared responsibility for the learning of all students, including students with ADHD, will guarantee success, as we have found in the resources that we have revised for the elaboration of this work.

References

 BARBARESI, W. J., KATUSIC, S. K., COLLIGAN, R. C., WEAVER, A. L. AND JACOBSEN, S. J. (2007). Long-term school outcomes for children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A population-based perspective. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 28, pp. 265–273.

- [2] BARKLEY, R. A. AND RUSSELL, A. (1990). *Niños Hiperactivos, cómo comprender y atender sus necesidades especiales*. Barcelona: Paidós.
- [3] BARLETT, R., ROWE, T. AND SHATTELL, M. (2010). Perspectives of college students on their childhood ADHD. *American Journal of Maternal and Child Nursing*, 35, pp. 226–231.
- [4] BAUERMEISTER, J. J. (2014). Hiperactivo, impulsivo, distraído ¿Me Conoces?: Guía acerca del déficit atencional (TDAH) para padres, maestros y profesionales. New York: Guilford Publications.
- [5] BERENGUER, C., ROSELLÓ, B., MIRANDA, A., BAIXULI, I. AND PALOMERO, B. (2016). Funciones ejecutivas y motivación de niños con trastorno de espectro autista (TEA) y trastorno por déficit de atención con hiperactividad (TDAH). *Revista de Psicología*, 1, pp.103–112.
- [6] BOLÍVAR, A. (2010). ¿Cómo un liderazgo pedagógico y distribuido mejora los logros académicos? Revisión de la investigación y propuesta. *Revista Internacional de Investigación en Educación*, 3 (5), pp. 79–106.
- [7] BOLÍVAR, A. (2012). Políticas actuales de mejora y liderazgo educativo. Archidona: Aljibe.
- [8] BOLÍVAR, A. (2014). Construcción de capacidades de la escuela: Liderazgo compartido y Comunidades Profesionales de Aprendizaje. Una propuesta de investigación. *International Journal* of Educational Leadership and Management, 2 (2), 147–175.
- [9] BOLÍVAR, A. AND BOLÍVAR RUANO, M. R. (2013). Construir la capacidad de mejora escolar: liderazgo distribuido en una comunidad profesional de aprendizaje. *Revista Educ@rnos*, 10–11, pp. 11-34.
- [10] BURNS, R. AND MASON, D. (2002). Class composition and student achievement in elementary school. American Educational Research Journal, 39, pp. 207–233.
- [11] DE LA PEÑA, F., PALACIO, J.D. AND BARRAGÁN, E. (2010). Declaración de Cartagena para el Trastorno por Déficit de Atención con Hiperactividad (TDAH): rompiendo el estigma. *Revista Científica Salud*, 8, pp. 93–98.
- [12] DE LAS CORTES GENERALES, B. O. E. (2007). Congreso de los Diputados. X Legislatura, 5.
- [13] DUPAUL, G., GORMLEY, M., AND LARACY, S. (2014). School-Based Interventions for Elementary School Students with ADHD. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics*, 23, pp. 687–697.
- [14] FÉLIX, V. (2006). Recursos para el diagnóstico psicopedagógico del TDAH y comorbilidades. *Revista Electrónica de Investigación Psicoeducativa*, 10, vol. 4(3), pp. 623-642.
- [15] FULLAN, M. (2010). All Systems Go: The Change Imperative for Whole System Reform. Thousands Oaks, CA: Sage.
- [16] GADOW, K. AND SPRAFKIN, J. (1995). *Child symptom inventories. The revised CSI Parent teacher checklist.* New York: Stony Brook.
- [17] GONZÁLEZ, M. T. G. (2007). Condiciones organizativas, participación y liderazgo. En Pérez Gómez, A. I. (ed). Profesorado y otros profesionales de la educación: alternativas a un sistema escolar democrático (pp. 121-147). Barcelona: Octaedro Editorial.
- [18] HARGREAVES, A. AND FULLAN, M. (2012). *Professional Capital: Transforming Teaching in Every School.* Nueva York: Teachers College Press.
- [19] HARRIS, A. AND LAMBERT, L. (2003). Building leadership capacity for school improvement. Berkshire, UK: Open University Press.
- [20] KLAR, H. W. (2012). Fostering department chair instructional leadership capacity: laying the groundwork for Distributed instructional leadership. *International Journal of Leadership in Education: Theory and Practice*, 15 (2), pp. 175-197.
- [21] KNAPP, M. (1995). *Teaching for meaning in high poverty classrooms*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- [22] LEITHWOOD, K. (2009). ¿Cómo liderar nuestras escuelas? Aportes desde la investigación. Santiago de Chile: Fundación Chile.

- [23] LOE, I. M. AND FELDMAN, H. M. (2007). Academic and educational outcomes of children with ADHD. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 32, pp. 643–654.
- [24] MOLINA-CARBALLO, A., NARANJO-GÓMEZ, A., UBEROS, J., JUSTICIA-MARTÍNEZ, F., RUIZ-RAMOS, M.J., CUBERO-MILLÁN, I., CONTRERAS-CHOVA, F., AUGUSTIN-MORALES, M.C., KHALDY-BELKADI, H. AND MUÑOZ-HOYOS, A. (2013). Methylphenidate effects on blood serotonin and melatonin levels may help to synchronise biological rhythms in children with ADHD. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 47, pp. 377–383.
- [25] MULFORD, B. (2006). Liderazgo para mejorar la calidad de la educación secundaria: algunos desarrollos internacionales. *Profesorado. Revista de currículum y formación del profesorado*, 10 (1), 1-22.
- [26] OCDE (2009). CreatingEffectiveTeaching and LearningEnvironments: FirstResultsfrom TALIS. Paris: OCDE. Recovered from: http://www.oecd.org/TALIS
- [27] PEACOCK, J. (2014). Science instructional leadership: the role of the department chair. *Science Educator*, 23(1), 36–48.
- [28] PONT, B., NUSCHE D., AND MOORMAN, H. (2008). *Improving school leadership*. Paris: OCDE. Recovered from: http://www.oecd.org/edu/schoolleadership
- [29] POULTNEY, V. (2012). The role of the effective Subject Leader: perspectives from practitioners in secondary schools. *British Educational Leadership, Management & Administration Society*, 21 (2), 8–14.
- [30] RABINER, D. AND COIE, J. (2000). Early attention problems and children's reading achievement: A longitudinal investigation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39, pp. 859–867.
- [31] RODRÍGUEZ, C. AND CAÑO, A. (2012). Autoestima en la adolescencia: análisis y estrategias de intervención. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, 12(3), 389-403.
- [32] SEASHORE-LOUIS, K. (2007). Changing the culture of schools: Professional community, organizational learning, and trust. Journal of School Leadership, 16(4), 477–489.
- [33] SPENCER, T. J., BIEDERMAN, J. AND MICK, E. (2007). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Diagnosis, Lifespan, Comorbidities, and Nerobiology. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32(6), pp. 631–642.
- [34] SPILLANE, J. (2006). Distributed leadership. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- [35] VALDIZÁN, J. R., MERCADO, E. AND MERCADO-UNDANIVIA, A. (2007). Características y variabilidad clínica del trastorno por déficit de atención/hiperactividad en niñas. *Revista de Neurología*, 44 (Supl 2), 27–30.
- [36] VILE JUNOD, R. E., DUPAUL, G. J., JITENDRA, A. K., VOLPE, R. J., AND CLEARY, K. S. (2006). Classroom observation of students with and without ADHD: Differences across type of engagement. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44, pp. 87–10.

(reviewed twice)

Inmaculada Garcia-Martinez University of Granada Spain email: igmartinez@ugr.es Mahammed El Homrani University of Granada Spain email: mohammed@ugr.es

José Luis Ubago-Jiménez University of Granada Spain email: jlubago@correo.ugr.es

Impact of social media on students with visual impairment a study of south-south region of Nigeria

(scientific paper)

Olayi, J. E; Eke, V. U.; Ikwen, E. U

Abstract: This study was undertaken to ascertain the role the various media platforms play in the daily social and educational development of students who are blind and visually impaired. The study area was south-south Nigeria, 10 higher institutions was selected across the zone, 25 visually impaired student participated in the study. 5 research questions were generated to aid this study. 15 item questionnaire was the main instrument used to elicit responses, bar chart statistical tool was employed to analyse the data obtain. The result reveals that in hierarchical order of preference email, Facebook and Whatsapp are top most preferable platform used by the visually impaired. The study recommended that students and working class visually impaired should be encouraged to explore the benefit of social media platform to enhance their educational and social interaction using the various devices as may be available to them.

Keywords: Impact, Social media, Visual impairment

1 Introduction

The adverts of information and communication technology have broadened the means of communication and exchange of information in the 21st century. Information can therefore be obtained through different platforms like the internet oriented social media such as Facebook, Whatsapp, twitter, email, YouTube. This new media is actually propelled and driven by the internet, which provides platforms for social interactions between and among users in such a manner that no older platforms/media can boast of. The new media according to Adaja and Ayodele (2013) display such potentials that the only limitation to the dynamism is ignorance or illiteracy in

terms of the inability to use the hardware and/or software for maximum effects in the realm of communication, education, politics, economics, social or technology.

2 Purpose of the study

The purpose of this study was to find out which one of the social media platform in any way has impact on the daily development of person with visual impairment in the south-south region of Nigeria.

3 Significant of the study

Significantly, the study stands to benefit stakeholder, including parents of students with visual impairment, the students and the communication provider.

4 Research questions

The following research questions were generated to guide the study, which are

- Which social media is mostly used by the visual impaired?
- Which social media meets the social engagement and interaction needs of the visual impaired?
- Which social media meets the educational purpose of the visual impaired?
- Which social media meets the entertainment needs of the visual impaired?
- Which social media helps the visual impaired to maximise access to the environment.

5 Literature review

This review is focus on the benefit of social media platform.

Social media are media that allow users to meet online via the internet, communicate in social forum, it permit users to generally interact by sharing news, photo or ideas and thoughts or respond to issues and other contents with other people(Buhari, Ahmad & Hadiashara,2014). Social media is also considered by Bryer & Zaratarro (2011) as technologies that facilitate social interaction, make possible collaboration and enable deliberate by stakeholders across boundaries, time and space. These technologies include: blogs, wikis, media (audio, photo, video, text) sharing tools, networking platform and virtual worlds. The common examples of social media are the popular social networking site like Facebook, Myspace, YouTube, flicker, twitter, 2go etc. The rise of social media sites as another platform on the internet has gain popularity over the decade. The sites have attracted millions of users worldwide due to this fact many people are changing the outlets where they search for news, information, business and entertainment. These social media sites let those who use them create personal profiles, while connecting with other users of the sites. Users can upload photographs and post what they are doing at any given time (Boyd &Ellison, 2007; Pempek, Yemolayeva & Calvert, 2008 in Buhari, Ahmed & HadiAshara, 2014). Social media by their nature have the capabilities of educating, informing, entertaining and inflaming the audience. Above all, they possess a contagious and outreaching influence which the conventional media lack. This potential is most likely what Oshahenge (2011) refers to as 'unstoppable power of the social media.

Person with disabilities, particularly those with visual impairment have gain a lot from smartphone technology and mobile devices which can be used to implement assistive software such as audio-based multi-touch interaction techniques that enable blind users to access touch screen application. However, a study conducted by Qiu, Hu and Rauterberg (2015) shows that an increasing number of persons with blindness and visual impairment are gradually involved in mobile social media along with popularization of mobile devices. Their recent statistics in Netherland shows that more than 100,000 blind and visually impaired individuals own an Apple iPhone since the introduction of a screen reader(voiceover) in 2007 still mobile social media continue to pose barriers to people with blindness as they must constantly re-learn how to navigate these system. Laptop, desktop computers have also received adaptation in keyboards and assistive software like jaws, open book etc. which enable persons with visual impairment to access social media. Abubakar, (2011) posits that social media which include blogs (political blogs), video sharing (YouTube) with large text conversation are laptop or desktop computer based. This is to say interaction in social media is not only done with mobile phones but can also be possible with any type or size of a computer.

However, a study conducted in 2013 to find out students' use of social media in Nigeria revealed that students view social media for the purpose of leisure as entertainment, watching films, to expose themselves to pornography, discuss serious issues like politic, economy and religious matters (Ezeah, Euphemia, Asogwa& Obiorah, 2013). Today in Nigeria there are over 1000 social media networking site, which include social, educational, entertainment and gossip. The mass appeal of social media on the internet could be a cause for concern, particularly, undergraduate in Nigeria spend more time on Facebook, twitter and other social media sites through smartphone that are now in abundance among them and most of them cannot go for two-three hours without checking and updating their profiles on these social networks even at the detriment of other activities such as education and career pursuit (Idankwo, 2011) this is not different to student and the working class individual with visual impairment. In fact, in a study to ascertain the usefulness of deploying assistive technology devices for teaching and learning in Nigeria higher education for the benefit of students who are blind or severely visual impaired, a and iolayim2009 noted that there is a overwhelming support by visually impaired student to the deployment of assistive technology devices and the utilisation of social media platform for teaching and learning, information dissemination, socialisation, political awareness, economic enhancement, leisure and recreation as well as entertainment. Of its importance and advantages, numerous problems of social media usage have recently been the major focus of attention worldwide. Issues of fraud, identity thefts, pornography and countless other negative influences associated with social networking in general have been a cause for concern for scholars and authorities worldwide. There are increasing concerns over the use of social media for internet crimes ranging from hacking to recruitment for terrorism.

1) Methodology

The study was a survey design and cover 10 higher institutions within the south-south institutions of Nigeria. Participants were all visually impaired students. The sample population was purposive and included the all visually impaired student in the 10 higher institution selected for the study, in all 25 visually impaired students were involved. The instrument for this study was a 15 item questionnaire well validated by two experts in research and statistics who as well ensure the reliability of the instrument. The study was conducted by face-to-face administration of the instrument on respondent by two members of the research group and all completed questionnaire were retrieved. A bar chart statistical analysis tool was used to interpret the information obtain.

2) Data analysis and result

Presentation of result

Research question one

Which social media is mostly used by the visual impaired? To answer this question, frequencies and bar graph was used. The result showed that the most social media used by visual impaired students is email represented 38% followed by twitter 19% and then Facebook, Whatsapp and then YouTube respectively. The result is presented in Table 1.

which social media is mostly used by the visual impaired				
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Facebook	3	14.3	14.3	14.3
Twitter	4	19.0	19.0	33.3
Whatsapp	3	14.3	14.3	
Email	8	38.1	38.1	85.7
YouTube	3	14.3	14.3	100.0
Total	21	100.0	100.0	

Table 1: Frequencies of the most used social media among the visual impaired





Research question two

Which social media meets the social engagement and interaction needs of the visual impaired? To answer this research question, frequencies and bar graph was used. The result showed that the most social media that meets the interaction needs of the visually impaired is Facebook represented with 42.9%, followed by Whatsapp and Email tool with 19.0%, and then YouTube and twitter. The result is presented in Table 2.

Table 2: Frequencies of social media that meets the social engagements and interaction needs of the visually impaired

	social media that meets social engagements and interactions				
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Facebook	9	42.9	42.9	42.9	
Twitter	2	9.5	9.5	52.4	
Whatsapp	4	19.0	19.0	71.4	
Email	4	19.0	19.0	90.5	
YouTube	2	9.5	9.5	100.0	
Total	21	100.0	100.0		



Research question three

Which social media meets the educational purposes of the visual impaired? To answer this research question, frequencies and bar graph was used. The result showed that the most social media that meets the educational purposes of the visually impaired is mostly emails represented with 38.1%, followed by Whatsapp with 23.8%, and then YouTube with 14.3% and Facebook with 14.3%. The result is presented in Table 3.

Table 3: Frequencies of social media that meets the educational purposes of the visually
impaired

social media for educational purposes and needs				
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Facebook	3	14.3	14.3	14.3
Twitter	2	9.5	9.5	23.8
Whatsapp	5	23.8	23.8	47.6
Email	8	38.1	38.1	85.7
YouTube	3	14.3	14.3	100.0
Total	21	100.0	100.0	


Research question four

Which social media meets the entertainment needs of the visual impaired? To answer this research question, frequencies and bar graph was used. The result showed that the most social media that meets the entertainment needs of the visually impaired is Whatsapp represented with 33.3%, followed by YouTube with 23.8%, and then emails and Facebook with 14.3%. The result is presented in Table 4.

 Table 4: Frequencies of social media that meets the entertainment needs of the visually impaired

social media for entertainment needs					
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Facebook	3	14.3	14.3	14.3	
Twitter	3	14.3	14.3	28.6	
Whatsapp	7	33.3	33.3	61.9	
Email	3	14.3	14.3	76.2	
YouTube	5	23.8	23.8	100.0	
Total	21	100.0	100.0		



Research question five

Which social media helps the visually impaired to maximize access to the environment? To answer this research question, frequencies and bar graph was used. The result showed that the most social media that visually impaired to maximize access to the environment is email represented with 42.9%, followed by Whatsapp with 19.0%, and then twitter and Facebook with 14.3. The result is presented in Table 5.

Table 5: Frequencies of social media that helps the visually impaired to maximize access to the environment

social media to maximize access to the environment				
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Facebook	3	14.3	14.3	14.3
Twitter	3	14.3	14.3	28.6
Whatsapp	4	19.0	19.0	47.6
Email	9	42.9	42.9	90.5
YouTube	2	9.5	9.5	100.0
Total	21	100.0	100.0	



3) Discussion

Generally, the study presented a clear picture of the importance of the internet including associated social media platform to communication and information dissemination to all especially to person with visual impairment in areas of education, social life, interaction, economic enhancement and political awareness. This is in agreement with Agba and Olayi (2009) and Adaja and Ayodele (2013). On which social media platform is most preferable and used, the study revealed that email top the chart affirming the claims by Agba and Olayi 2009 that email is most used by visually impaired to access information and communication. similarly, Facebook and Whatsapp are confirmed to be mostly the platform of socialisation and entertainment by the visually impaired just as their sighted counterpart is view is upheld by Ezeah, Euphemia, Asogwa & Obiorah (2013).

4) Conclusion

From the outcome of this study, it can be concluded that the visually impaired just as their sighted counterpart in the zone understudy derived pleasure and great attachment to the use of the internet and the social media platform daily to enhance social interaction, sending and receiving information, economic enhancement, political update, entertainment and overall educational attainment. Thus, these platforms can be interesting means for contact and studying as well as favouring both inclusion and personal growth.

5) Recommendation

The study recommend that in view of the fact that the internet service and the social media platform have offer immeasurable opportunities for student who are visually impaired to cope with life long struggle s in socialisation process stakeholders in the communication industry especially in the area of information and communication technology [ICT] should do more to improve network services to users including students with visually impairment.

References

- [1.] Adaja, T.A. & Ayodele, F.A. (2013). Nigerian Youths and Social Media: Harnessing the potentials for Academic Excellence. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review* 2(5), 65–75
- [2.] Agba &Olayi, J. (2010). Communication strategy for basic curriculum adaptation in the education of the visually impaired in Nigeria.
- [3.] Qiu, S., Hu, J. & Rauterberg, M. (2015). Mobile Social Media for the Blind: Preliminary Observations. ICEAPVI 12(14), 152–156.

- [4.] Buhari, S.R., Ahmad, G.I. & HadiAshara, B. (2014). Use of Social Media among students of Nigerian polytechnic. International conference on communication, media Technology and Design. 24–26 April 2014.
- [5.] Boyd, D.M. & Ellison, N.B. (2007). Social Network sites: definition, History and scholarship. *Journal of Computer Mediated Communication* 13(1), 11–19
- [6.] Bryer, T.A. & Zavattaro, S.M. (2011). Social Media and public Administration: theoretical dimensions an introduction to symposium. Administrative Theory & Praxis, 33 (3), 325–340.
- [7.] Osahenye, K. (2011, February 25). The social media challenge. The Guardian, pp.52.
- [8.] Pempek, T.A., Yermolayeva, Y.A., & Calvert, S.L. (2009). College students' social networking Experiences on facebook. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 30(3), 227–238.
- [9.] Idankwo, L. (2011). The use of social media among Nigerian Youths. Retrived (7/9/2015).
- [10.] Abubakar, A.A. (2011). Political participation in social media during the 2011 presidential Electioneering in Oladokun Omojola et al (eds.) Media, terrorism and political communication in a multi-Cultural Environment: ACCE Conference Proceedings. Ota (Nigeria): ACCE Loc. Pp. 445–453.

(reviewed twice)

Olayi, J.E email: olayi.je@gmail.com

08032516152 Nigeria

Eke,V.U. email: vitaliseke@gmail.com 08030798967 Nigeria

Ikwen, E. U email: Uemmaikwen45@gmail.com 08033915384 Nigeria

Affiong, E. E. email: affyessien@yahoo.com 07062533117 Nigeria

Inclusive education: culture, principles, policies, and practices: a literature review

(overview essay)

Sunil Kumar

Abstract: Inclusive education is a process and schools around the globe are still in the process of implementing the inclusive ideologies. This paper is a literature review from various sources of terms like inclusive culture, inclusive principle, inclusive policy and inclusive practice. The review of literature analysis suggests that Inclusive education can be harnessed successfully in schools by creating inclusive culture, principles, policies and practices. This can only be strengthened when all the stakeholders in education start to collaborate together. The State, Districts, Ministry of Education, Schools, Leaders, Teachers, Parents and Students should all work cooperatively to meet the diverse needs of students in the schools and classrooms. Hence it is all about commitment, dedication, hard and smart work from the stakeholders to flourish inclusive education in our states and regions.

Keywords: beliefs, culture, democracy, diverse needs, inclusion, inclusive education, normalization, marginalization

1 Introduction

Inclusive education in schools is a global phenomenon and is stipulated as a process that can have positive consequences for the general school climate and for the right of students to study in an inclusive environment. In addition, according to Opertti and Brady (2011) an inclusive education structure at all stages is not one which responds separately to the needs of certain categories of learners but rather one which responds to the varied, precise, and exceptional features of each learner, especially those at risk of marginalization and underachievement under common structures of settings and provisions. Moreover, Inclusive education has been defined, amongst other complementary perspectives, as being closely associated with international efforts to achieve and sustain the Education for All (EFA) agenda by Ainscow and Miles (as cited in Opertti and Brady, 2011). However, Ainscow and Sandill (2010) stated that the issue of how to develop more inclusive forms of education is debatably the major encounter facing school organizations all over the world. Since Inclusive education is a very broad topic we should narrow it down to own context and bring inclusion on a smaller scale in our education system so that it is implemented well at all levels of education. Upon achievement of this, we can bridge other gaps of Inclusive education and make our own schools move towards meeting the diverse needs of students in this 21st century.

To establish inclusive education in my literature survey I looked into Culture, Principles, Policies, and Practices of inclusion. These topics can enhance one as an educator or those interested in Inclusive education to broaden their horizon in Inclusive education. However, there are many concepts that are underpinned with the topic Inclusive education which is not discussed in this literature review but we may come with some overlapping ideas.

2 Method

The methodology employed in literature search involved wide variety of worldwide literature related to Inclusive education in terms of culture, principles, policies, and practices. For this systematic review, a wide spread of literature search was conducted using physical search in text books, electronic databases and Google scholar with no year of article limitations. The key words used in this search included "Inclusive education" and similar, "Inclusive culture" and policies, principles, and practices involved. In addition, Boolean operators, 'OR' and 'AND' were used to connect my search words together to narrow or broaden my set of results. Only articles in the English language were selected.

3 Results

The search strategy and article screening process are illustrated in Table 1 below. The search generated 30 articles. After abstract reading and full-text reading 25 articles were included and a concluding collection of 22 articles which were concerned pertinent was done to fit the objectives of the study. Among the 22 studies 6 were research articles, 9 papers were reviews, 2 textbook reviews, 1 was a conference paper, 2 were Ph.D. theses and 2 were international documents.

Table 2: Pertinent literature review

Author	Title	Sample	Data collection method	Findings relevant to my topic
Ainscow, M., and Sandill, A.	Developing inclusive education systems: the role of organiza- tional cultures and leadership	n/a	Drawing on research evidence from a range of international lit- erature	Role of leadership in fostering Inclusive Cultures
Björn, P. M., Aro, M. T., Koponen, T. K., Fuchs, L. S., and Fuchs, D. H.	The Many Faces of Special Education within RTI Frame- works in the United States and Finland	n/a	Comparative analysis of RTI in both coun- tries	Inclusive practice: Response to interven- tion
Egan, M	Inclusive education policy, the general allocation model and dilemmas of practice in primary schools	Three distinct mainstream classroom. 14 Teachers	A mixed methods ap- proach to data collec- tion, semi-structured interviews were con- ducted	Inclusive education policy
Foreman, P.	Inclusion in action	n/a	Text Book	Legislation, Prin- ciples, policies and practices
Hall, T.	Differentiated In- struction. Effective Classroom Practices Report	n/a	Report	Differentiation strat- egy
Hay, J., and Beyers, C.	An analysis of the South African model of inclusive education with regard to social justice. Africa Educa- tion Review	n/a	Document analysis	Social justice
Heacox, D.	Differentiating in- struction in the regu- lar classroom: How to reach and teach all learners, grades 3–12	n/a	Text book	Differentiation strat- egy

Elizabeth B. Kozleski, Ting Yu1, Allyson L. Satter, Grace L. Francis, and Shana J. Haines	A Never Ending Jour- ney: Inclusive Educa- tion Is a Principle of Practice, Not an End Game	5 Elemen- tary schools and 1 mid- dle school	Focus groups inter- views at each school with school principal/ leaders and teachers	Open communica- tion between all stakeholders is central to building this common vision and trusting school climate. Student voice, engagement, and empowerment. Families Involvement. Students are active participants in the tools, strategies, and outcomes of learning.
Mentz, K., & Barrett, S.	Leadership and In- clusive Education in South Africa and Jamaica: A Compara- tive Analysis	n/a	Analysis of docu- ments and literature review	Overcrowding and lack of resources can threaten the integrity of policies.
Morningstar, Allcock, White, Taub, Kurth, , Gonsier- Gerdin, and Jorgensen,	Inclusive Education National Research Advocacy Agenda	Participants of 2012 TASH Con- ference in the USA	Focus group data collection methods elicited both multiple and distinct perspec- tives, as well as the views of different audiences (i.e., re- searchers, practition- ers, advocates, family members	Systems-Level Capac- ity Building. Building and Classroom Ca- pacity. Student Learn- ing and Development
Mulroy, H., and Eddinger, K.	Differentiation and literacy	n/a	Analysis of docu- ments and literature review	Differentiation strat- egy
National council for special educa- tion	Literature Review of the Principles and Practices relating to Inclusive Education for Children with Special Educational Needs	n/a	Literature review of the Principles and practices relating to Inclusive education	Principles and prac- tices relating to Inclu- sive education

Renato Op- ertti and Jayne Brady	Developing inclusive teachers from an inclusive curricular perspective	n/a	Outcomes of the 48th session of the International Confer- ence on Education (ICE)UNESCO and findings from other authors	Definition of inclu- sive education in light of the Education for All agenda. Develop- ing inclusive teachers from the perspective of an inclusive cur- riculum which seeks to address the needs of all learners. Key policy discussion areas which must be addressed if inclusive educational reforms are to be sustained.
Paliokosta, P. and Bland- ford, S	Inclusion in school: a policy, ideology or lived experience? Similar findings in di- verse school cultures	43 stake- holders	Semi structured in- terview	School culture as a barrier or facilita- tor, Differentiation as a barrier, Time limi- tations as a barrier, Teachers' knowledge and conceptualiza- tions as a barrier.
Shaddock, Giorcelli and Smith	Students with disabil- ities in mainstream, Classrooms a re- source for teachers	n/a	Text Book	Inclusive Practice
Shogren, Mc- Cart, Sailor and Lyon	All Means All: Build- ing Knowledge for Inclusive Schoolwide Transformation. <i>Research And Practice</i> <i>For Persons With</i> <i>Severe Disabilities</i>	11 schools	Survey and interviews with teachers and principals	Co Teaching , Differ- entiated instructions and Family-profes- sional partnership and Inclusive culture
Theroux, P.	Differentiating in- struction	n/a	Authors ideas and literature review	Differentiation strat- egy
Tomlinson, C. A.	Deciding to teach them all. <i>Educational</i> <i>Leadership</i>	n/a	Authors ideas	Differentiation strat- egy
Tomlinson, C. A.	Grading and differ- entiation: Paradox or good practice?	n/a	Authors ideas and literature review	Differentiation strat- egy

UNESCO	Guidelines for inclu- sion: Ensuring access to education for all.	n/a	Constructive, valu- able feedback And critical insight from individuals with experiences and knowledge of Inclu- sive education	Inclusive education ideologies, culture principle and practice
Wahab, A.	Preparing teachers for multi-class teaching: a case study from Fiji Ph.D. Thesis	Pre-service teachers, associate teachers and visiting lecturers	surveys, semi struc- tured interviews, observations, docu- ment analysis	Policy support litera- ture review
Zollers, N. J., Ramanathan, A. K., and Yu, M.	The Relationship be- tween School Culture and Inclusion: How an Inclusive Culture Supports Inclusive Education	Urban El- ementary school, 9 Teachers and staff, 4 parents, Principal for Formal interviews.	Participant obser- vation, interviews (formal and informal) and document re- views	Three components of the School culture that contributed to the success of inclu- sion: inclusive leader- ship, a broad vision of school com- munity, and shared language and values

4 Discussion

Inclusive Culture

School culture plays a pivotal role in meeting the daily business of schooling. It enhances holistic development of students, building capacity and meets the demands of societies at large. Thus to meet the learning needs of diverse learners schools have to harness inclusive approach at the organizational level.

An inclusive culture is one nurtured by constant development of staff capacity to include students, collaborate with other professionals and work in partnership with parents. Such a positive culture also fosters team planning, collaborative teaching, cooperative learning and transition planning for students as they progress through schooling (Shaddock, Giorcelli & Smith, 2007, p.4).

According to Kozleski, Yu, Satter, Francis and Haines (2015) capacity building enhances inclusive culture, when there is dynamics of relationships between the principal, school staff and families and it can be harnessed very well in the schools when the principal has a strong personality, is dedicated, committed to the students, families, families and the staff.

A research conducted by Zollers, Ramanathan, and Yu (1999) found three components of the School culture that contributed to the success of inclusion: inclusive leadership, a broad vision of school community, and shared language and values. Each of the following is discussed below in the paragraphs. The first one is **Inclusive leadership**, when the school leader used the democratic approach in which he valued participatory democracy and in which the core element was collaborative decision making which created a high level of interdependence among the entire community of the school. The school leader has a very strong belief in inclusion, valuing people with disabilities and protecting their rights within the school community. The leader also shaped and shared the belief of inclusion in nearly every interaction which characterized him as a value-driven leadership. Lastly, the school leader as an exemplary role model also influenced everyone in the school community.

Secondly, **A broad vision of school community**; the school members shared a profound interest in including families as well as the outside community in every aspect of the school so that they share the responsibility and the best educational and social outcomes of students can be achieved, whereby families, faculty, and students were nourished with personal attention and respect. The school also created the home based partnership and it empowered all the members of the community and gave them a voice in the school.

Lastly, **Shared language and values**, the Faculty, Staff, and Parents speak the same language about their school motto stating that they are all special and describe the school for everybody. They also entertain multiculturalism in the school where everyone becomes an integral part of school events which promotes multiculturalism.

In addition, open communication between all stakeholders is the central element in building a common vision and a trusting school climate (Kozleski et al., 2015, p.227).

In contrast to the above, a study conducted by Paliokosta and Blandford (2010) found that school culture can become a barrier when:

- Teacher's impression is insufficient to deal with all methods of learning.
- There is no association amongst the managements teams struggle to raise standards and the special educational needs departments practice.
- Discussion amongst teachers and teaching assistants is not evident.
- Inclusion is not regarded as of importance by the senior management team of the schools.
- Teaching assistants' work is not valued and recognized by others which creates a low self-perception amongst them.
- Members of staff at a strategic level and operational level openly talk about the disparity in the school organization due to the admission of a high amount of learners with special needs.
- Stakeholders choose a medical model to address special educational needs. (Paliokosta and Blandford, 2010 p. 181 and 182)

According to Shogren, McCart, Sailor & Lyon (2015) study for the Schoolwide Integrated Framework for Transformation which integrated research on inclusive educational practices and critical features of systemic school reform as a framework for schools, districts, and state education agencies to promote lasting and sustainable change all the schools had firmly rooted school culture: culture of sharing responsibility to serve all children by including staff members and families, all the members had a strong belief that all students should be valued, provided with support to be successful, all students learn differently and their ultimate goal was to celebrate differences.

Thus, inclusive culture should be embedded in schools and realistic goals can be achieved if all the stakeholders in education especially around the child with diverse needs start to collaborate, share values, responsibility and display teamwork, then will the inclusive ideologies arise smoothly in any school context.

Hence we all know that school is a platform for building capacity, sustainable education for our future generation. To build this future generation we have to cater the learning needs of diverse students, we also have to get those students into classrooms who lack access to education. We as leaders, educators, teachers, parents and community members should create a positive culture, committed and dedicated environment, democracy, a visionary approach and when all this collaboration and networking is done in a conducive way, the schools will definitely succeed in Inclusive education.

Inclusive Education Principles

There are numerous principles that have formed a platform for policy and practice for inclusion of students with disabilities. In addition, these policies are widely used in any educational settings, from the system level to school level, finally to classroom levels for application of this in teaching and learning programs.

The four key features of inclusion by UNESCO offer an expedient summary of the principles that support the inclusive practice. These components are:

- Inclusion is a process. It has to be seen as a never-ending search to find better ways of responding to diversity. It is about learning how to live with differences and learning how to learn from differences. Differences come to be seen more positively as motivation for nurturing scholarship, between children and adults.
- Inclusion is concerned with the identification and elimination of obstructions. It involves gathering, comparing and evaluating data from multiple sources in order to plan for improvements in policy and practice. It is about using evidence of numerous varieties to inspire creativeness and problem-solving.
- Inclusion is about the attendance, involvement, and success of all students. 'Presence' is concerned with where children are educated, and how consistently and promptly they attend; 'participation' relates to the excellence of their

involvements and must incorporate the views of learners; and 'achievement' is about the outcomes of learning across the curriculum, not just test and exam results.

• Inclusion invokes a particular emphasis on those groups of learners who may be at threat of marginalization, segregation or underachievement. This indicates the moral responsibility to ensure that those 'at risk' are sensibly scrutinized and that steps are taken to ensure their existence, involvement, and accomplishment in the education system (UNESCO, 2005, p.15).

Hence, we should make differences in the scholarship journey of students, so that whatever obstructions they have is accomplished and they become part of the education system, latter to the community and society at large.

According to Foreman, 2011 five underlying principles are outlined below:

I. Principles of Social justice and human rights

Everyone is born with a divine right but the circumstance and situation in our life at times makes it miserable. Constantine, Hage, Kindaichi and Bryant (as cited in Hay and Beyer, 2011, p.234) stated that "Social justice can be described as a fundamental search for equity and fairness in resources, rights, and treatment for marginalized individuals and groups of people who do not have equal power in society". In addition, Foreman (2011) suggested that inclusion in education is often as much a rights issue as it is an issue of what works best in all circumstances. Thus its social justice and human rights should be essential components of Inclusive education.

II. All children can learn

Every child is unique and they are born with talents. However, before 1970s students were classified as educable depending on their IQ test and were provided with education in the public education system and others were regarded as medical cases, since 1970 there has been a widespread acceptance that all children can learn and recently in inclusive settings or inclusive classroom (Foreman, 2011). Thus we as teachers need to tap the capabilities of our learners in the real classroom situation.

III. Normalization

Normalization is best defined as making people with disabilities live a normal life by giving roles and responsibilities to them in their daily life. According to Foreman (2011), the concept of normalization embraces the belief that people are entitled to live as normal as possible a lifestyle in their community and in relation to education students with disabilities can choose their own schools. (P.10). Moreover, Wolfensberger (as cited in Foreman, 2011 p.10) suggested that we must value the social roles of people with disability, if they are genuinely included in the community, so that the social roles are valorized by giving them roles and opportunities.

Moreover, in the normalizing process, those students at risk in other schools became part of the expected mix of abilities, histories and experiences and skill levels with the school. (Kozleski et al., p.223). Hence normalizing should start at schools so that the students with diverse needs are included in the schools around their own community so that they feel that they are accepted within their own community. Thus, these will develop self- esteem and self- confidence amongst the children with disabilities and without disabilities.

IV. The least restrictive environment

Environment plays a very important role in human development. The concept of the least restrictive environment is based on the principle that some environments are intrinsically more restrictive than others. In addition vigorous research regarding LRE placement is needed, given the variability both within and across states, as well as practices that seize or stimulate family involvement and how districts interpret policies and procedures that influence placement is an essential question (Morningstar, Allcock, White, Taub, Kurth, , Gonsier-Gerdin,& Jorgensen, 2016).

V. Age – appropriate behavior

Students with disabilities should be given roles that are valued by the school community. They should actively participate in the daily activities of the schools and wherever possible, perform roles that are seen positively by peers and are valuable. The principles of normalization and social role valorization suggest that student's activities should be appropriate to their age. (Foreman, 2011 p.15)

Furthermore, according to the National Council for special education (2010) "underpinning principle of inclusive education is that all children and young people, and without disabilities or other special needs, are learning effectively together in ordinary mainstream schools, with appropriate networks of support. This principle means that we enable all students to participate fully in the life and work of mainstream settings, whatever their needs".

Thus everyone's right is that any educational setting should be respected. Students with disabilities should be given roles and responsibilities so that they live with their daily life within their own community. Best place to harness this will be schools where everyone is treated equally which creates positivism and students may become successful.

Inclusive Education Policy

Policies are guidelines that give a sense of direction and outline an organization's goals and desired effects. It is important that the state, Ministry of Education, Universities, Teacher Education, Schools and local community have policies that clearly stipulate the terms and conditions of Inclusive education.

Therefore at its core, inclusive education policy answers the question what is the purpose of inclusive education in a society, and how can we best fulfill that purpose in meeting the needs of diverse students in this 21st century of education.

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) has created a chain of reports and policies in the preceding 20 years that constantly discusses inclusive education practices (Foreman, 2011 p.45). Education for All (EFA) promotes recognition of the need to expand quality education to all children in the world irrespective of where they live (United Nations, 2010). Little (as cited in Ali, 2011, p.27) stated that "most Governments in the world have become signatories of EFA and have initiated programs in their own countries to allow all children to have free and compulsory primary school education". Inclusive schools are seen as an effective means of achieving the EFA goals of improving the education of children in isolated circumstances, and for ethnic minorities. Having legitimate policies in Inclusive education means taking a holistic approach to education reform and tack-ling the exclusion system that exists in the education system.

As such, teacher education institutions and ministry of education need policy documents to guide them in the development of pertinent inclusive education program materials and authenticate the dissemination of such a program. However, simply having policies in place will not solve the problem faced by Inclusive teaching; policies need to be implemented. Therefore, Fullan (cited in Ali,2011) stated that educational change or reform is not just about putting the policy in place but is based on the improvement of relationships between policies and the people implementing the policy. In many countries "policy development is mired by bureaucratic procedures and lack of commitment by those in power" (Ali, 2011, p.27). In addition, according to a comparative analysis of leadership and Inclusive education by Mentz and Barrett (2011) concluded that the measures of access increased in the policy documents in South Africa and Jamaica are very well expressed, however, it can be challenged by overcrowding of students in the class and lack of resources. In addition a study conducted by (Paliokosta and Blandford, 2010, p.183) found that there is inconsistency amongst theory and authenticity whereby time was presented as a severe obstacle to inclusive policy execution because a teacher and tutor explained that teachers are not able to carry out differentiation due to not having enough time within the lessons. Therefore, who will be accountable for these challenges? Whenever there is any design of policy, the policy makers should involve all the stakeholders of education so that all the challenges are discussed and meeting these challengers are forecasted in the policy itself.

Interestingly, with regard to policy intention and implementation, Gomez (as cited in Egan, 2013, p.14) suggests that policy implementation can be resisted due to lack of participation from key stakeholders such as teachers, a view that is shared by Coughlan (as cited in Egan, 2013, p.14) with regard to Irish education policy. All too often, it is a small group with a certain knowledge (power /agency) who are involved in devising policy with little consultation or participation from those involved in its implementation. The current study embraces teacher participation. It focuses on teachers and the implementation of policy texts because according to O'Brien (as cited in Egan, 2013, p.14) the key resource to successful inclusive education lives inside teachers' heads. Barton (as cited in Egan, 2013, p.14) observes that the professional opinions of teachers, their values and voices have been consistently ignored within the process of devising and implementing education policy. Therefore, it is essential to reveal teacher attitudes, beliefs, and values. It's true that teachers are not involved in decision-making process when designing policies at state level teachers are the best resources to guide policy makers so that we can have an authentic policy, it's not just moving with the global education but moving within our own context.

According to Morningstar et al., (2016) their findings articulate that research aligned with school-wide transformative approach is needed. In particular, understanding systems unifying general and special education, including policies to scaleup, generalize, and sustain inclusive practices and models, is critical. Research is needed to scrutinize how policy and regulatory language support or hinder quality practices.

Inclusive Practice

A recent study in the UK by Ainscow, Booth, and Dyson (as cited in Ainscow and Sandill, 2010.p.403) found that to develop inclusive practices in schools social learning process at a workplace that impacts individuals achievement and the thinking that informs this achievement should happen. In addition, they sought a deeper understanding of Wenger's framework that analyses the development of practices in social context and found that whatever strategies we have at organizational level becomes clear when it is used and discussed amongst colleagues. (Ainscow and Sandill 2010). Furthermore, Paliokosta and Blandford (2010, p.184) found that teachers knowledge and conceptualizations can also become a major drawback in inclusive culture and which will not facilitate effective implementation of differentiation as an inclusive practice. Therefore, we cannot work in isolation, we have to share knowledge by sharing knowledge there is an expansion of Knowledge and with this expansion of knowledge we can harness inclusive practices in our diverse classroom.

Furthermore, according to Shaddock, Giorcelli and Smith (2007) described inclusive practices as following

- All efforts made by the school and its community to make students and their parents feel welcome.
- Inclusive practice implies that if participation becomes an issue for any student, whether rising from disability, gender, behavior, poverty, culture, refugee status or any other reasons than desirable approach is not to establish special programs for the newly identified individual or group need, but to expand mainstream thinking, structures and practices so that all students are accommodated.
- Inclusive practices involve a change in mindset about how society, schools, work together to allow all students to achieve meaningful individual and group learning outcomes.
- For students with identified disability, inclusive practice requires innovative ways of thinking about disability, differences, interdependence and they have a right to be educated with their siblings and peers at their schools of choice.
- It requires school leadership and vision that foster a sense of community and emphasize the importance of relationships.
- Inclusive practice begins with each teachers understanding the importance of being personally inclusive of students, parents, and others; treating each student as an individual; disregarding labels; learning from good practitioners and best practice research; and reflecting on their own performance as teachers.
- Inclusive practice describes a host of strategies that support the inclusion of students with disabilities. Teachers willingness to engage in co-teaching and to find creative ways of working together with others to support students with disabilities in the mainstream are hallmarks of effective inclusive practice.(Shaddock, Giorcelli and Smith, 2007.p.4)

However, to really practice inclusive teaching we must look at varieties of teaching strategies that we can cater for diverse needs of students. Which will be discussed below

A. Co-Teaching

Co-teaching is a model that highlights cooperation and communication amongst all members of a team to encounter the requirements of all students. It is also called cooperative teaching and collaborative teaching. According to Shogren et al (2015), the schools accomplished collaborative teaching by changing job descriptions of teachers who were originally appointed to serve in separate settings, enabling them to serve in a co-teaching or supporting role in a general education classroom. The other schools worked to organize supports for students who needed more intensive intervention not based on disability label, but on student need. Schools also identified that they used paraprofessionals in several ways, including supporting any student with a need, often delivering direct instruction to students while a general or special education teacher took primary responsibility for the teaching and learning process.

B. Differentiation strategy

Tomlinson (2005), a leading expert in this field, defines differentiated instruction as a philosophy of teaching that is based on the premise that students learn best when their teachers accommodate the differences in their readiness levels, interests and learning profiles. To differentiate instruction is to acknowledge various student backgrounds, readiness levels, languages, interests and learning profiles (Hall, 2002). Building on this definition, Mulroy, and Eddinger (2003) add that differentiated instruction emerged within the context of increasingly diverse student populations. Within the learning environment permitted by the differentiated instruction model, teachers, support staff, and professionals collaborate to create an optimal learning experience for students (Mulroy and Eddinger, 2003).

One of the three ways to differentiate instruction is through changing the content. The content of the lesson is the curriculum that is being taught. Heacox (2002) identified several actions that teachers can take to differentiate the content for their students. One way teachers can differentiate the content or the curriculum they teach by providing students with the opportunity to choose a subtopic within a main topic or unit of their own interest. Secondly, differentiating the process/activities incorporates learning activities or strategies that provide appropriate methods for students to explore concepts of the content (Theroux, 2004).

Lastly, a product is what a student develops to show their understanding of the content which was taught. Differentiating the product encourages students to demonstrate what they have learned in a wide variety of forms that reflect knowledge and ability to manipulate an idea. This phase of differentiating is identified as evaluation (Tomlinson, 2003).

Hence, curriculum differentiation provides a planned and documented curriculum that is adapted to take into account the needs and abilities of groups of students with particular educational needs.

Recent studies outlined by Kozleski et al (2015) p. 223 suggest that "students are no longer passive recipients of a curriculum and pedagogies but rather active participants in the tools, strategies, and outcomes of learning. The more they are involved in learning, the more their creativity and individual capacity can be harnessed to produce powerful learning."

C. Response to Intervention (RTI)

Response to Intervention (RTI) has evolved into a systematic tool for implementing identification, evidence-based instruction, close monitoring of student progress, and decision making for all levels within the system, including administration, teachers, and parents (Björn, Aro, Koponen, Fuchs, & Fuchs, 2016). In addition, according to Sullivan & Long (as cited in Björn, et.al, 2016) stated that as for the effectiveness of RTI, in terms of academic achievement, it may be deemed an early intervention approach that can improve the academic performance of at-risk students (Thus, the following examples describe how RTI can be used to prevent reading problems and identify children who need support for reading. According, to Fuchs, Fuchs, & Compton (as cited in Björn, et.al, 2016) in the three-tier RTI Smart model, Tier 1 is for all students. Screenings are conducted several times per year to perform a timely identification of at-risk children. Each at-risk student's progress is closely monitored. If the child does not respond to the first level of group-oriented interventions and other instructional support (such as differentiated instruction), he or she typically moves to the next RTI level (Tier 2). Tier 2 the student then receives research-based instruction, sometimes in small groups, sometimes as part of a class wide intervention. The length of time spent in Tier 2 is longer than in Tier 1, and the intensity of the interventions is greater. If the child does not respond adequately to the interventions in Tier 2, then a third level (Tier 3) becomes an option for continued, yet more intensive, often individual research-based intervention (Björn, et al., 2016).

In addition, Opertti and Brady (2011) stated that inclusive pedagogies, practices, and tools imply, amongst other things, a move away from overloading students with theoretical and formal academic knowledge towards a focus on active student participation and learning. They imply that teachers are able to develop a more flexible and relevant range of objectives, methods, media, activities, and assessment. Research on learning reminds that students are no longer passive recipients of a curriculum and pedagogies but rather active participants in the tools, strategies, and outcomes of learning. The more they are involved in this work, the more their creativity and individual capacities can be harnessed to produce powerful learning (Kozleski et al p.223). Thus, contemporary strategies like co-teaching, differentiation strategy and response to Intervention, can be applied to real classroom teaching and learning process. However, there are lots of innovative strategies that can meet the demands of the diverse classroom. These might include cooperative teaching and learning, collaborative problem-solving, mixed-ability groups, and individual education plans developed in line with the rest of the curriculum, along with cognitive instruction, self-regulated and memory learning, multi-level teaching, competency-based approaches, and interactive, digital teaching tools (Opertti and Brady, 2011, p.465). To harness this, teacher preparation and professional development will be equally important. Thus it is necessary to examine and clarify the dispositions, knowledge, and skills of educators to support inclusive practices (Morningstar et al., 2016). Therefore as teachers and educators, we must be fully versed with all the new strategies so that we can make the difference and a successful learning journey for our students. Hence, inclusive practice is about feelings, mindset, knowledge, vision, reflective Practitioners and innovation, if these ideologies are in calculated in teachers and the teaching process inclusive education, will be implemented in schools and the needs of students will be met productively.

5 Conclusion

Hence as we develop the ideologies of inclusive education in schools to meet the diverse needs of students, it is obligatory to identify that the arena itself is puzzled with doubts, disagreements, and paradoxes around the globe. Therefore a smaller scale implementation of inclusive education concepts as per our own context will be the fundamental platform of reaching inclusive education goals. The core topic of inclusion: culture, policies, principles, and practices are interrelated. For inclusion to occur in schools this topic should be given the top most priority so that some realistic goals in inclusive education is achieved in schools. Every school around the globe is unique with its geographical location, human resources with different perceptions and ideologies and priorities from states in terms of education but the ultimate development. If inclusive education is cultivated from the beginning of learning journey of an individual learner, the individual learner's progress will create a big difference of a state's progress in creating a peaceful and prosperous nation.

6 References

[1] Ainscow,M & Sandill, A. (2010) Developing inclusive education systems: the role of organisational cultures and leadership, *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14:4, 401–416,

DOI: 10.1080/13603110802504903

- [2] Björn, P. M., Aro, M. T., Koponen, T. K., Fuchs, L. S., & Fuchs, D. H. (2016). The Many Faces of Special Education within RTI Frameworks in the United States and Finland. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 39(1), 58–66.
- [3] Egan, M. 2013. Inclusive education policy, the general allocation model and dilemmas of practice in primary schools. Ph.D. Thesis, University College Cork.
- [4] Foreman, P. (2011). Inclusion in action. South Melbourne, Vic: Cengage.
- [5] Hall, T. (2002). Differentiated Instruction. Effective Classroom Practices Report. National Center on Accessing the General Curriculum, CAST, U.S. Office of Special Education Programs.[Online] http://www.cast.org/ncac/classroompractice/cpractice02.doc [15 November 2016].
- [6] Hay, J., & Beyers, C. (2011). An analysis of the South African model of inclusive education with regard to social justice. Africa Education Review, 8(2), 234.doi:10.1080/18146627.2011.603226

- [7] Heacox, D. (2002). *Differentiating instruction in the regular classroom: How to reach and teach all learners, grades 3–12.* Minneapolis, MN: Free Spirit Publishing.
- [8] Kozleski, E., Yu, T. ., Satter, A. ., Francis, G. ., & Haines, S. (2015). A Never Ending Journey: Inclusive Education Is a Principle of Practice, Not an End Game. *Research AndPractice For Persons With Severe Disabilities*, 40(3), 211–226. doi:10.1177/1540796915600717
- [9] Mentz, K., & Barrett, S. (2011). Leadership and Inclusive Education in South Africa and Jamaica: A Comparative Analysis. International Studies in Educational Administration(Commonwealth Council For Educational Administration & Management(CCEAM)), 39(1), 33–48.
- [10] Morningstar, M. E., Allcock, H. C., White, J. M., Taub, D., Kurth, J. A., Gonsier-Gerdin, J., & ... Jorgensen, C. M. (2016). Inclusive Education National Research Advocacy Agenda. *Research & Practice For Persons With Severe Disabilities*, 41(3), 209-215. doi:10.1177/1540796916650975
- [11] Mulroy, H., and Eddinger, K. (2003). Differentiation and literacy. Paper presented at the Institute on Inclusive Education, Rochester
- [12] NSCE (2010). Literature Review of the Principles and Practices relating to Inclusive Education for Children with Special Educational Needs. National Council for Special Education 1–2 Mill Street Trim Co. Meath.
- [13] Opertti, R., & Brady, J., (2011). Developing inclusive teachers from an inclusive curricular perspective .*Prospects*, 41(), 459–47.doi:10.1007/s11125-011-9205-7
- [14] Paliokosta, P. and Blandford, S. (2010), Inclusion in school: a policy, ideology or lived experience? Similar findings in diverse school cultures. *Support for Learning*, 25: 179–186. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9604.2010.01464.x
- [15] Shaddock, A., Giorcelli, L., and Smith, S. (2007). Students with disabilities in mainstream, Classrooms: A resource for teachers. Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia.
- [16] Shogren, K., McCart, A., Sailor, W., & Lyon, K.(2015). All Means All: Building Knowledge for Inclusive Schoolwide Transformation. *Research And Practice For Persons With Severe Disabilities*, 40(3), 173–191. doi:10.1177/154079691558619
- [17] Theroux, P. (2004). *Differentiating instruction*. Retrieved on June 1, 2016, from Enhancing Learning with Technology web site: http://members.shaw.ca/priscillatheroux/differentiating.html
- [18] Tomlinson, C. A. (2003). Deciding to teach them all. Educational Leadership, 61(2), 6-11.
- [19] Tomlinson, C. A. (2005). Grading and differentiation: Paradox or good practice? *Theory into Practice*, 44(3), 262–269.
- [20] UNESCO (2005). Guidelines for inclusion: Ensuring access to education for all. Paris: Author.
- [21] Wahab, A. (2011). Preparing teachers for multi-class teaching: a case study from Fiji Ph.D. Thesis, Deakin University.
- [22] Zollers, N. J., Ramanathan, A. K., & Yu, M. (1999). The Relationship between School Culture and Inclusion: How an Inclusive Culture Supports Inclusive Education. International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 12(2), 157–74.

(reviewed twice)

Mr: Sunil Kumar (PhD student, Final semester) Faculty of Special Education Masaryk University Poříčí 538/31, 603 00 Brno, Czech Republic Tel: +420 776 186 566 email: 441552@mail.muni.cz

Boundaries and perspectives: needs of children with emotional and behavioral disorders from the perspective of children and educators

(overview essay)

Karel Červenka

Abstract: The text links selected findings of two qualitative researches and thus two perspectives of the situation of children with emotional and behavioral disorders. The first is based on the perspective of children with EBDs. Various types of adaptation strategies of children to their "problematic" situations are presented. The second perspective is based on the point of view of educators from educational facilities and it is represented by two educational needs of children with EBDs, which the educators consider to be one of the most important. The result of the interconnection of these views is the intervention triangle, which illustrates the relationship of the three factors in the context of the behavioral disorder intervention: the child's attitudinal response to his/her situation, the child's behavior and the intervention response of the educators.

Keywords: Education of children with emotional and behavioral difficulties, labeling, stigmatization, coping strategies, educational needs, qualitative reserarch

1 Introduction

The following text integrates the results of two of my qualitative researches that focused on the issue of children with emotional and behavioral disorders ("EBDs"). The first was focused on insights into the children's own experience and on their own "problematic" behavior and self-perception. The second research focused on the experience of educational professionals from school educational facilities (behavioral disorder experts, educators, teachers from diagnostic institutions, educational institutions, children's homes with schools, counseling care centers) and their view of the children they work with and the behavior of these children. In this text I will provide a look at the educational needs of the children from two perspectives: from

the perspective of the children themselves and from the perspective of people working with them in educational facilities (educational professionals).

In the following text I will link some of the conclusions of the two researches as they follow and complement each other. In the conclusion to the first research (from the point of view of children), I formulated four adaptation strategies that can be observed in children with emotional and behavioral disorders. These strategies are the result of a combination of two typical attitudes that emerged during the data analysis: 1) the attitude of the child towards changing his/her "problematic" behavior towards conformity (the *will to change*) and 2) the attitude of the child to the possibility of this change (*belief in change*). (Červenka, 2010)

In the conclusion to my latter research (from the point of view of educational professionals), I formulated two types of EBD children's needs, which emerged as the most fundamental in the research interviews: 1) the need for (positive) boundary setting (*boundaries*) and 2) the need for open perspective and identity (*perspective*). (Červenka, 2016)

The structure of the following text is based on the so-called informed intervention process (Vojtová & Červenka, 2011), where 1) the first step is the identification of relevant characteristics (*difference*) of the child (2) the second step is the interpretation of these characteristics in terms of their impact on the child and the formulation of his/her individual educational needs (*need*) and 3) finally, the third step is intervention in the situation of the child in order to meet these needs (*intervention*).

Firstly, I will introduce four adaptation strategies as the characteristics (differences) of children with emotional and behavioral disorders. Then I will focus on the topic of boundaries and perspectives as to the needs of children with EBD (need). In the end, I will link both topics.

2 Briefly on the methodology of both researches

The first research, which resulted in two types of attitudes and four adaptive strategies, focused on the attitudes of children at risk and with behavioral disorders, on their insight into "being problematic". The research took place in a preventive educational facility (counseling care center). The data was collected mainly by the technique of semi-structured qualitative interviews with eight children (eight weeks in the center), by analyzing personal documents (texts created by the participants on *My CV*), field notes, focus groups and long-term stay in the field as an employee of the facility (educator, behavioral disorder expert). The data was collected primarily in 2001-2002.

The second of these surveys took place in 2012-2015. This qualitative research was generally focused on the experience of the so-called educational professionals, namely on their view of children with EBDs. Qualitative interviews with a total of

fifteen participants (managers, educators, behavioral disorder experts from diagnostic institutes, educational institutions, children's homes with schools, centers of educational care) had a secondary objective to examine special education process of education and intervention in children with emotional and behavioral disorders. The main thematic areas of the research were: 1) the significance attributed by educators to their relations with children with EBDs (in terms of their influence on the social inclusion of the children) in the context of behavioral disorder intervention, 2) the educational needs of children with EBDs considered by educators to be essential (Červenka, 2016). In addition to semi-structured interviews, the data material was also collected by observation techniques, three pre-research group interviews, and by field remarks.

The data analysis method was very similar in both surveys. Atlas/Ti software was used. The data analysis was based on ethnographic approach (see Emerson, Fretz & Shaw, 1995) and the analysis was conducted at the level of open and focused coding. Major research findings were published in two research monographs (Červenka, 2014, 2016).

3 Pairs of attitudes and four adaptive strategies or differences of children with EBDs

3.1 Two attitudes of children with EBDs towards changing the "problematic" situation

Data from the first research revealed two typical attitudes of children towards changing their "problematic" situation. I labeled the first one, which relates to changing the situation proper, as *will to change*. The second, concerning the possibility of change, as *belief in change*.

The attitude of *will to change* closely touches upon the identity of the child. It is about how the child feels, how he/she thinks, how he/she thinks about him/herself, and how he/she thinks that others think about him/her. Identity means the sum of the child's external and internal identities. Goffman (2003) considers three identities of the actor: social, personal and self-identity (ego identity). The first two types of identities represent two levels of the actor's social status (who others believe that he/ she is). The third, self-identity (ego identity) refers to the actor's self-concept. The notion of identity in this sense allows us to grasp the state and dynamics of the inner and outer levels of the individual's life.

The self-identity of an individual participates in decisions and life choices and it is manifested in behavior. Behavior of an individual is one of the bases on which an actor's external identity stands, on which the neighborhood conceives the concept of who the individual is and how others will react to him/her.



Figure 1: Two attitudes of children towards the "problematic" situation (Červenka, 2012)

The attitude of the *will to change* the situation refers (in terms of the child's identity) to the extent to which the child identifies him/herself with his/her "problem" status (a *problem child, a child with a behavioral disorder*) as far as he/she understands it as part of his/her self-identity. This attitude has two variants: the attitude of the Penitent and the attitude of the Sulker. The attitude of the Penitent represents the child's willingness to change his/her problem situation and reject the status of a "problem child". The position of the Sulker, on the other hand, points to the acceptance of the "problem child" status into internal identity and, to a greater or lesser extent, internal identification with this status (see Figure 1).

"There are people here [in the counseling care center] who want to do something about it. There are people who do not want to do anything about it and they show it a lot. And there are people here who do not want to do anything about it, although they pretend they do." (An excerpt from an interview with a client of a center for educational care)

The second attitude, the *belief in change*, concerns the child's conviction of the extent of the *possibility* of changing his/her difficult life situation and his/her "problematic" behavior and status. While the attitude of will to change refers to the *identity of the child*, the attitude of belief in the change refers to the topic of *future life perspectives*.

"I have a rotten life... that's clear. It will never be better... I keep getting in trouble. If they expel me from the preventative educational facility, they'll put me back in the psychiatric ward."

"I'll end up in jail anyway... So why would I even try? They all say so. My parents do not give a damn and I cannot do anything about it."

3.2 Four typical adaptation strategies

By combining the variants of the two presented types of attitudes, we obtain four attitudinal complexes, or four variants of a typical adaptation strategy to a "problem" situation and status:

- 1) Open Penitent (has the will to change and sees it as possible)
- Closed Penitent (has the will to change, but does not see it as possible, does not believe in it)
- 3) Open Sulker (does not have the will to change, does not want it, but thinks that he/she chose it, it would be possible)
- 4) Closed Sulker (does not want change and does not see it as possible, does not believe in it).



Figure 2: Four adaptation strategies to "problem" situations (Červenka, 2012)

The four strategies represent ideal types which we will most likely never encounter in practice. Let us assume that we are more likely to encounter the tendencies in individual children's behavior towards one of the above types.

With the four adaptation strategies, I introduced combinations of variants of attitudes of children with EBDs to their life situation and thus I also redefined their specific characteristics. This refers to differences in the situation of children with EBDs that we can anticipate, and in terms of inclusive informed intervention, we should interpret them in the language of individual educational needs. This can help us plan effective intervention focused on the needs of the child.

We are now ready to present how educators perceive the situation of children with EBDs and the needs arising from this situation. I will focus on the two types of needs that I named in the conclusions of the research as 1) need for (positive) boundary setting and 2) need to open perspectives. In the following text, I will show the close relationship between the two above-mentioned attitudes (the will to change and the belief in change) and these two needs (boundaries and perspective). I will also show the role of identity in this interconnection and its relation to the other actors' behavior. By combining the perspectives of children and educators, we get a more sophisticated idea of a situation that is referred to as a disorder of emotion and behavior.

4 Needs of children with EBDs

In the framework of data analysis of the second research, two topics were identified in interviews with educators, representing the needs and, therefore, the two intervention goals that they link to EBD children: 1) the need for positive setting of boundaries (to have set boundaries); and 2) the need for opening of perspectives (to have open perspectives). Later I will show how these two needs are interconnected and how they can relate to the types of adaptation strategies presented above.

4.1 The need to set boundaries as a way to form identity

The need for children with EBD to *have boundaries* for their behavior was apparent in interviews with educators in various forms. From the analytical point of view, we understand the issue of boundary setting in two ways: *negatively* (limiting the room for negotiation, or preventing behavior as such) or *positively* (defining the space for negotiation or support, strengthening the behavior as such). Negative or positive boundary setting should not have judgmental connotations. It is only an analytical definition of how to "set boundaries".

Negative boundary defining is accomplished by identifying a space that is not accessible. This also involves disciplinary functions – *I know where I cannot go*. This is an approach of negative discipline, which uses bans to define rules and punishments to prevent trespassing of these rules. This reprehensively tuned approach to boundary setting is typically associated with the upbringing of children with EBDs.¹ It is also an approach where an authority (teacher) plays an active role in disciplinary policy, while the child is typically placed in a passive role and is thus implicitly dependent on the authority that defines boundaries for his/her behavior. As a rule, we speak of interventional concepts of repression or restrictions transmitted.

¹ From the point of view of research findings, it is interesting to note that the participants (educational professionals) did not speak about the fact that they would prefer a repressive approach in the intervention. The topic of repressive approaches, according to some of them, comes into the environment of educational facilities from the outside, which according to them is influenced by stereotypical ideas about educational institutions primarily as institutions punishing children with EBDs.

Besides the negative setting of boundaries, it is possible to define the boundaries positively. The concept of *positive* boundary setting shows the need to identify what to do. The means is the forms of support and empowerment that shapes the behavior in the intended direction. "Boundary setting" can be done by offering a role model that children can identify with or through an offer of opportunities for personal development or entertainment. The child is more likely to play an active role in the disciplinary policy. Boundary setting may not only limit or prevent certain (undesirable) behavior, but it may support certain (desirable) behavior, showing its form, content, and direction. Under the positive setting of boundaries we can imagine, for example, an "act of creating space, figuratively speaking, pitching the playground, rather than the act of limiting a space beyond which it is impossible to go." (Červenka, 2016, p. 79). Positive boundary setting is a prerequisite for the opening up of perspectives that I will write about later.

Positive and negative boundary setting can only be a matter of perspective and interpretation. "Both the negative and the positive approach to setting boundaries define the same space. But we do it in different ways. The effect is the same as when we talk about a half-empty or semi-empty bottle." (Červenka, 2016, p. 80)

The following roles of boundaries (in the sense of positive boundary setting) have emerged in the research: boundaries as search for limits of how far can I go; boundaries such as a ritual, regularity, custom; boundaries as asylum – escape from freedom to security of the boundary; boundaries as natural authority, leadership, role model, idol.

As you can see, the concept of *positive* boundary *setting* is closely related to the tendency to put the child into the role of an active agent. It is an active alternative to carelessness, mentioned by Helus (2004), when "the child asks for help, shows interest in interacting with his/her educator, asks for suggestions and events that will help him/her in his/her development" (Helus, 2004, p. 92).

4.2 Need to open up perspectives

Before we look at the need to open up perspectives and identities, we need to briefly introduce the situation from which this need arises.

4.2.1 Closing of identities and perspectives as one of the consequences of a behavioral disorder situation

One of the consequences of a child with a behavioral disorder is that the child gradually adopts the "problematic" status into his/her identity, his/her own self-concept – he/she is increasingly perceived as "problematic" or "a child causing problems". The problem, of course, is not just this process in terms of self-concept, self-identity, but also the fact that his/her external identity is changing – that others are increasingly perceiving him/her as "someone who is in trouble". Eventually, it may happen that his/ her external (and indeed internal) identity gets stabilized – a child with a "problem child" identity will not be able to "just" get rid of it. The process leading to such a situation is referred to as the process of identity closure. As a result, the child's identity is hardly changeable, the child is "closed" in it without having a chance to leave it or choose another identity (as is the case with a number of conventional identities).

In other words, the main component of the child's inner and outer identity in a behavioral disorder is the "problem" identity (which becomes the main status)². This "problem" status tends to be generalized to the rest of the child's personality, thereby limiting the possibility of changing the child's self-image and the chance to change the way others perceive him/her (as perceived by others). Problem identities usually stick more than the non-problem ones.

From the point of view of practical implications, the "problematic" identity of the child prevents transition to conventional behavior and a conventional life situation. Identity is a symbolic phenomenon, but it carries with it absolutely real consequences. This concerns, as mentioned above, both internal and external dimensions of the child's life. At the external level, how others perceive a child is reflected in their behavior towards the child (see stigmatization). On an internal level, how the child perceives him/herself is reflected in his/her behavior towards him/herself, to others, and what goals he/she sets for him/herself (see learned helplessness, self-efficacy).

To illustrate: in research interviews, education professionals talked in this context about "labeling" of children with EBDs in their natural social environment (at school, etc.), pointing to the process of labeling or stigmatizing. Examples have also emerged that illustrate the issue of "problem" careers of children with EBDs. One behavioral disorder specialist described the situation of a girl who was proud of her "problematic" actions and presented herself through them, taking pride in it. Another example that points to the relationship between the external and internal identities and the behavior of the child may be the situation of a boy who, according to a behavioral disorder specialist, said: "When they say I am a punk, then at least I am a good punk and a good thug."

From the point of view of a special education teacher, the process of closing of identities and perspectives can be understood in the case of a child with EBDs as a barrier in his/her way of life that blocks the development of his/her individual potential and endangers the quality of his/her life – both current and future.

 ² Master status is the term used by Evert Hughes (Becker, 1991). It is a concept that closely correlates with stereotypes. According to Hughes, a social actor has two types of status – master status and auxiliary status. The master status is unique in that it "supersedes" all other statuses – for example, in one person, the main status such as a former prisoner overcomes other statuses such as a proficient footballer, friend, philatelist, etc. Others look at the actor through the master status, using it to assign importance to other statuses that are in its shadow.

If we perceive the situation of a child with EBDs as a process of closing of identities and perspectives, then it is a logical need to set up a process in which identities and perspectives are opened up.

4.2.2 The need to open identities and perspectives as an intervention goal

In order to ensure conditions and support for active participation of the child in the change of their "problematic" life situation, it is necessary from the point of view of the boundaries and perspectives discussed here that the child should begin building his/her conformational career in order to adopt a conformal ("non-problem") identity into his/her self-concept and to see his/her future as open, as a reasonable offer of opportunities – to see the meaning of his/her actions. At the external level of the child's situation, the child is offered social acceptance, manifestations of solidarity and related opportunities for development.

Here, we can see a close link between the process of opening of identities and perspectives of the child and the above-mentioned four adaptation strategies of children with EBDs. The theme of perspectives that emerged in interviews with participants – education professionals, is particularly relevant from the point of view of behavior disorder specialist intervention, particularly among children who hold the attitude of non-belief in change (Closed Penitent or Closed Sulker). Particularly in the case of Closed sulker strategy, the theme of opening perspectives goes hand in hand with the theme of opening identities (Sulker needs to be changed into Penitent).

The process of opening can be seen as part of so-called normalization (cf. Scheff, 2013), neutralization (cf. Sykes & Matza, 1957) or simply as a process of transition to "normal" identity (cf. Lofland, 2002).

The need discussed here and the resulting process of opening the identities and perspectives of children with EBDs is understood as a way to intervene in response to the above adaptation strategies, namely to those that are risky from the child's perspective (Closed Penitent, Open Sulker, Closed Sulker).

The theme of opening identities and perspectives directs our attention to the conditions and factors that affect the children and their will and faith in changing their life situation. This is about the general belief of the child in the future and in options to approach their own past, the present and their self. The process of opening perspectives should therefore focus on the identity of the child, which will be open to various interpretations so that it serves the child as the basis for the realization of multiple scenarios of future behavior and life. (Červenka, 2016)

The outcome of the opening process should be a child understood (both by other people and the child itself) as a whole personality, when the problem is perceived through the personality of the child, not the other way round. The problem is thus better perceived as one of the various characteristics of the child's personality (no

matter how distinctive or influential). This results in the opportunity to perceive potentialities in the personality and the situation of the child, on which the change of the current situation and the best possible future can be built.

So how can we imagine the process of opening of identities and perspectives? To illustrate, I will introduce several topics that emerged in interviews with education professionals and which can be considered as indicators of the opening process. Steps that can play a role in *counteracting* the effects of closing identities and perspectives of EBD children.

Need for a role model and direction - as a counterweight to the closing process

Role models generally offer behavioral directions. Social role models, including identity models, offer behavioral directions and also define the scope for action (they say what is appropriate/inappropriate, possible/impossible...). In the research, the participants (educators) often talked about the role models play in the lives of children they work with. They talked more about negative role models that, in their view, lead children to "problem" behavior.

"The fact that somebody is sentenced to prison becomes part of ... a standard part of the lives of these families, so even for our children it is not really ... a big threat or anything ... because it's part of their lives..." (P4)

"I think they did not get a chance to learn ... or see how to do it ... they're mostly like that, or they just learned it the wrong way from the people around, seeing it ... Either they see their parents as role models ... or the parents do not let them learn it ... or maybe they just started as little kids doing it so to speak the wrong way and got supported – that it was OK. (P12)

Significance of positive role models can be traced back from the statements about negative role models. The former, unlike negative role models, could be the opposite of the process of closing of identities and perspectives, opening them up. It is also a good example of the relationship between boundary issues and perspectives and the interrelation of the needs represented by these themes.

Positive role model and experience

Positive experiences can be another factor in countering the process of closing. It can be a *competitive experience* (Vacek, in Polínek 2015, p. 99) or a *corrective experience* (Kalina, 2013, p. 26-27). Such experiences may take the form of a "*trace of a good man*," spoken of by one of the participants:

"I always say that if we taught the child that life can be better, just a trace of a good man, just a trace of someone respecting them that exists in this world [...]. So the goal is, because at six... at sixteen – seventeen, it is actually possible

just to leave a trace that the world is not only bad. [...] *And that he either is not only bad.* (P3)

The need to neutralize the burden of the past – thick line and other chances In one of the interviews, the term "thick line behind the past" appeared in connection with the labeling of children with EBDs and its implications for the future of the child.

"And I think this is precisely what the labels do. It's like you're the villain, I'm going to watch you and you get no second chance." (P6)

"That the child (here in the corrective educational facility) will do something wrong, something that I do not agree with, maybe, I don't know, an act of wrongdoing, but... I will punish him and that's it. This is where I draw the thick line... I do not mean just punish, of course there's a punishment... a lot of interviews, we talk about it, we're discussing it to get some lessons from it, but then there is a thick line and we start over again. I cannot say to him in two months... something in the sense: I do not want to talk to you, I do not believe you anymore because two months ago you disappointed me, this harping on and throwing the past back in his face... the past is the past. Because our children have a lot of problems here and they would never get out of it. (P6)

The technique of "drawing the thick line" can be interpreted as a need to neutralize the burden of the past. It can also be understood as opening the opportunity to establish a "new" relationship with authority. We can also see it as a way to create an opportunity for the child to escape from the troubled past and to see the future as open and encouraging to be active. The thick line is a means to offer the child another chance to change his/her life situation.

"I think they... should get... another chance. That when they do something, then... it's **not for life. In order not to have the sticker of a villain for life, that nothing can be done about it and that it will never change**. I think this is also very important to them. (P6)

5 Intervention triangle

The last part of the text links the topics presented above. It links the child's perspective with the perspective of educators on the "problem" situation of the child. Figure 3 shows the intervention triangle model with three factors: 1) the child's response, 2) the child's behavior, 3) an intervention response of people around. A factor on the child's side is his/her attitudinal response to his/her "problematic" situation, and this reaction takes the form of an adaptation strategy. A factor on the side of educators is an intervention response that takes the form of steps leading to boundary setting and opening of the child's perspectives.



Figure 3: Intervention triangle and intervention spiral

Here, I was freely inspired by Albert Bandura's model of reciprocal determinism (1977), which links the factors of the individual's personality, his/her behavior and the environmental factors. The Bandura's model is based on the assumption of mutual (reciprocal) influence among all of the above factors. The model of intervention triangle presented here is not based on reciprocity. It represents only a part of the process shown by the Bandura's model and declares the relationship of sequential influence of the above three factors. Figure 3 also shows a spiral in the center of which is the goal of a behavioral disorder intervention. The intervention triangle diagram is a representation of the cyclical repetition of the intervention process, with each another cycle (ideally) being more specifically targeting and approaching the intervention target. Thus the spiral metaphor. After each interventions in the next cycle should be adjusted and clarified until the intervention goal is reached, and then the intervention can be stopped.

Since the discussed adaptation strategy can be considered as one of the typical characteristics of the situation of a child with EBDs, in Figure 3, the aspect and **response of the child** is represented by an attitudinal (cognitive, emotional, acting) reaction to his/her "problem" situation. It can be assumed that such a reaction will approach one of the above four types of adaptation strategies (Open Penitent, Closed

Penitent, Open Sulker, Closed Sulker). This attitude response subsequently affects the behavior of the child, which is graspable for the child's environment in his/her behavioral manifestations. This is followed by the reaction of the environment, namely educators, consisting in three steps of informed intervention (1) identification of relevant characteristics and differences of the child with EBDs and its situation, 2) formulation of individual educational needs of the child, and 3) planning and realization of the intervention steps focused on setting boundaries and opening up the identities and perspectives of the child. While setting boundaries is more about shaping the child's identity, opening perspectives points to his/her attitude toward the future. From the point of view of different types of adaptation strategies, it can be concluded that, for the Open Penitent, intervention should offer support to continue to change his/her problematic situation. For other types of adaptation strategies, but especially for Closed Sulker, intervention should be primarily aimed at creating conditions for change in the will to change, i.e. the identity of the child (towards conformational identity), and at the level of belief in change, i.e. perspective (toward an open future).

6 Conclusion

A model of the interventional spiral was presented in the text, which points to the inevitable interdependence of the child and educators in the context of the intervention process in behavior disorders therapy. If the intervention is to be effective, it must be based on the subjective perception of the child. However, it must also take advantage of the external viewpoint of the child's situation, which offers the necessary expertise. In the model, the two sides of the same coin are represented on the one hand by the attitudinal reaction of the child to his/her situation and by the intervention response of the educators on the other hand, in the context of informed (inclusive) intervention.

References

- [1] Becker, H., S. (1991). *Outsiders: studies in the sociology of deviance* ([New ed.]). New York: Free Press.
- [2] Červenka, K. (2010). Vůle ke změně a víra ve změnu: Důležitost subjektivního hlediska dítěte s poruchou chování pro pozitivní změnu jeho situace. In Bartoňová, M. & Vítková, M. Inluzivní vzdělávání v podmínkách současné české školy (s. 347–357). Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- [3] Červenka, K. (2012). Strategie adaptace dětí s "problémovým" chováním a jejich úloha v rámci informované intervence. In Vojtová, V., & Červenka, K. Edukační potřeby dětí v riziku a s poruchami chování: Educational needs of children at risk and with behavioural disorders. Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- [4] Červenka, K. (2016). Sud, který nemá dno? Potřeby dětí s poruchami emocí a chování očima výchovných profesionálů. Brno: Masarykova univerzita.
- [5] Emerson, R. M., Fretz, R. I., & Shaw, L. L. (1995). *Writing ethnographic fieldnotes*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.-
- [6] Goffman, E. (2003). *Stigma: poznámky* k *problému zvládání narušené identity*. Praha: Sociologické nakladatelství.
- [7] Helus, Z. (2004). *Dítě* v *osobnostním pojetí: obrat* k *dítěti jako výzva* a úkol *pro učitele i rodiče*. Praha: Portál.
- [8] Kalina, K. (2013). Psychoterapeutické systémy a jejich uplatnění v adiktologii. Praha: Grada.
- [9] Lofland, J. (2002). Deviance and identity. Clinton Corners, N.Y.: Percheron Press.
- [10] Polínek, M. D. (2015). *Tvořivost (nejen) jako prevence rizikového chování: Expresivně-formativní potenciál základního uměleckého vzdělávání.* Olomouc: Univerzita Palackého v Olomouci.
- [11] Scheff, T. (2013). Diagnosis as Part of a Large Social Emotional System [Online]. *Deviant Behavior*, 34(12), 991–995.
- [12] Sykes, G. M., & Matza, D. (1957). Techniques of Neutralization: A Theory of Delinquency. American Sociological Review, 22(6), 644–670.
- [13] Vojtová, V., & Červenka, K. (2011). Umíme vnímat odlišné strategie dětí s poruchami chování? In Perspektivy práce s delikventní mládeží. Brno: Ratolest Brno, o. s.

(reviewed twice)

Mgr. et Mgr. Karel Červenka, PhD. Department of Special Education Faculty of Education Masaryk University Poříčí 9 630 00 Brno Czech Republic email: charel@mail.muni.cz

Women in private sex business from the perspective of relationship level

(overview essay)

Stanislav Ondrášek, Alena Kajanová, Zuzana Řimnáčová

Abstract: The main goal of the article consists in describing the relationship level of women in private sex business. The research set consisted of 36 women working in private sex business in the South Bohemian Region and in Prague. The study made use of the technique of biographic-narrative interview. The acquired data were analysed in the Atlas.ti program and then links between individual categories and codes were searched with the help of the anchored theory method. The result shows that the relationship level, or the social network of the respondents, respectively, is very narrow. Financial support to the primary family, the partner or a friend is frequent. The financial support may be consequently reflected in whether the respective person does or does not tolerate the work in sex business.

Keywords: sex business, relationships, social network

1 Introduction

The definitions of sex business differ by authors or institutions. So we can find a concept of sex business as "manifestation of violence against women" and a concept of sex business as sexual work (Ditmore, 2006). We can explain sex business in general as a provision of different forms of sexual services for money or other payment (Chmelík et al., 2003).

We can divide sex business in three ways, i.e. by its form, by the way of its provision and by the environment of its provision. The forms of sex business include female, male or child prostitution (we speak of prostitution from the perspective of the character of this form). The ways of provision include contact and contactless sex, as the Rozkoš bez rizika organization states. That organization divides sex business into contact and contactless forms. Contact sex business includes sex as such or acting in porn movies, while contactless sex business includes phone sex or sex chat (Kutálková et al. 2016). The last method of division divides sex business by environment. Chmelík et al. (2003) names street or road, club, hotel and private sex business, as well as escort services. Sex business is hierarchized; women working in private sex business fall into higher class, while women providing sexual services in the street fall into so called scum (Zikmundová, Weiss, 2004).

Private sex business is provided in hired or own flats. Often there are several women in such a flat; they cooperate and share the rent (Sanders, 2005). The customer base of private sex business is relatively regular; the first contact is often established by advertising on internet portals or press. Private sex business brings more privacy both to the client and to the women providing sexual services; therefore the demand for such form is high (Ditmore, 2006). The age of women in that form most frequently ranges from twenty to forty years; there are women of different education and background. (Sochurek, 2009)

We deal with this topic as private sex business and the relationship level of sexual workers are insufficiently processed, but in fact the relationship level is one of very important areas in sex business.

The article is aimed at describing the relationship level of women in private sex business. The article deals with the relationships of women in private sex business with their primary family, their partner, their pimp and their colleagues.

2 Theoretical foundation

The directing influence of the family on future life of the person and on possible starting of a procreation family is indisputable. The child often behaves according to the parents' model, as the parent is a loving person on one hand and an authority on the other hand. The absence of one or both parent models constitutes a considerable disadvantage and deprivation to the child. If the parent is present in the family, but does not fulfil his or her role sufficiently, a subdeprivation occurs – for example if the father is alcoholic. (Langmeier, Matějček, 2011)

Single-parent families are considered a risk-loaded environment for incidence of delinquent behaviour of the children, primarily due to reduced parent supervision (Sampson, Laub 1993; Kierkus, Baer 2002; Demuth, Brown 2004). Hirschi (2002) considers the type of family with one foster parent an even more risk-loaded family. Wikström, Butterworth (2006) agree with that.

Studies suggest the existence of specific family-related factors that may be riskloaded for entry in sex business. They include the non-functionality of the family in which the women have experienced physical or sexual abuse or other form of violence, do not have good relationships with their primary family or do not communicate with them at all, and the family does not fulfil the primary functions in general (James, 1980; Earls, David, 1990; Petrocchi et al., 2016). That is opposed by a study carried out by Rozkoš bez rizika; the study suggests that sexual workers are not predisposed for work in sex business by complicated childhood or by sexual desire (Malinová, 2016). One of the motives to start prostitution is also the effort to escape the parents or the husband (McCaghy and Hou, 1994). Family dissatisfaction and unstable family background, as well as the effort to repay the husband's or the family's debts play a great role. The study by Malakouti et al. (2016) confirms it by stating that more than one half of the women in question had bad relationships in the family and bad economic situation in the family.

As for the relationships between sexual workers and their male partners, they frequently miss emotional contents and focus rather on the use of finances or sex (Rochelle, 2011). Nabila (2004) found out that women working in sex business very often experience violence from their intimate partner. Jewkes et al. (2012) brought an interesting study result with respect to attached couples' experience with sex business. 42 % men, although they had a relationship, practised sex with a sexual worker either for money or for other benefits; 44 % experienced sex with a one-off partner.

Pimps constitute another group of persons entering the relationship level of the women working in sex business. The pimp is the person who is most frequently present in street or road sex business (Williamson, Cluse-Tolar, 2002). A woman who provides sex services and has a pimp supports the pimp with her income, giving him up to 2/3 or even all of her income. The woman is often completely dependent on the pimp, either because he withholds all her documents, or because he gives her a "shot" as a reward, if the woman is drug addicted (La Strada, 2006). At the beginning of the relationship, the pimp treats the woman kindly and nicely, but after some time he may behave rudely or even violently. We can learn that fact for example in the study by Marcus et al. (2004) that took place in New York; they found out that 5 % pimps admit their violent approach to the prostitutes. That is confirmed by their further survey carried out among prostitutes, in which about 2% sexual workers reported a relationship with a violent pimp. The remaining pimps are aware of their unstable work and of the limits they should not exceed in order to maintain their income. In private sex business, the pimp is often the lessor of the flat or the partner who sponges off the woman (May, Harocopos, Hough, 2000). The woman may not always perceive the relationship with the pimp negatively. The sexual worker may find her "family", as well as the feeling of safety and protection in the pimp (Eernstman-Mongard, 1996).

3 Methods

The study made use of qualitative research strategy. The interview, specifically biographic-narrative interview was chosen as the technique. The research set consisted of 36 women from the South Bohemian Region and from Prague, who work in private sex business and advertise their services for example in the Naprivat.cz, Agamaseznamka.cz and Eroticke-privaty.cz internet portals. The women's age ranged from 21 years – 50 years and their average age was 27 years. The respondents who were willing to get involved in the study were familiarized with the goal and the utilization of the interview. As the narrative interview imperatively needs the verbatim wording of the story, all interviews were recorded on a voice recorder with the respondents' informed consent, then they were verbatim transcribed and analyzed by the Atlas.ti program, with the help of the anchored theory method. The study was focused on the life style of women in private sex business; however, for the purpose of this article, we have focused only on a part of the results concerning the relationship level of the women in question. Specifically, we analyzed the information on their relationships with their family and their partner, and we further examined their relationships with their colleagues and with their pimp, if any.

4 Results

The data analysis helped us to identify four main groups of persons with whom the respondents maintained relationships. The relationships with the primary family, with the partner, with the colleagues and with friends. The interconnection of the relationship categories with codes is graphically represented in diagram 1; they are commented and analyzed in more detail in the text below.



Diagram 1: Relationship level

5 Relationships with primary family

The family background of the respondents was varied, from divorced to two-parent family. As for the relationships with the primary family, we identified two contrary positions in essence. The first position is based on the fact that the women have informed their family of their work: *"I am angry to be such a chatterbox; so my mum knows it, my grandma knows it, my friend knows it; a lot of people suspect it and a lot of people know it about me."* (IN2, 23 years), and the family either tolerated the respondent's work: *"My family knows it, my mum knows it, my children know it, and my mum finally said: "if only I were younger"* (IN5, 50 years) or rejected it: *"my mum learned about it … she never told me personally that she knows it, but she send messages to everybody, telling them not to talk to me because I work as a whore"* (IN10, 25 years). But the motive for tolerance often consists in the fact that the women working in sex business financially support their family: *"Clothing, jewels, cars, a lot of the luxury at the beginning; as I was modest, I paid it and gave money to my parents"* (IN6, 30 years).

The second position is connected with hiding the work in sex business from the family. Such decision is primarily motivated by fear of incomprehension. "*Well, of course they don't know it; if they knew that they have brought up their girl for this business, they probably wouldn't like it. (laughter).*" (IN17, 24 years). That's why the respondents speak of different false works, from masseur to cosmetician to bartender when talking to their family.

6 Relationships with the partner

Similar to the relationship with the primary family, the respondents had completely different experience with partner relationships. When the study was carried out, some of them reported to have a partner and some of them not. The respondents having a partner unanimously said that their partner was informed of their work and tolerated it. The tolerance may be influenced by the fact that, similar to the family, the partners have financial profit from the sex business. The respondents also agree that most men consider it unacceptable to harmonize the partner coexistence and the respondent's work:

T: What about, why did you break up, because of your work? IN4 (28 years): Well, it was because of my work; at the beginning, it is ideal, isn't it, everybody says he doesn't mind, but with the time they start not liking my being with other guys ... they start being jealous."

A great part of respondents do not have a partner at present and they do not want any. The motive consists in changed attitude and confidence in men in connection with their work: *"I have, well, problems with confidence… I trust hardly anybody.* Because the men are bastards and I know what they do, I just know that married men come to us" (IN1, 43 years), or: "Noo, I am sick of guys, I couldn't stand someone bothering me at a disco or something like that, no no" (IN13, 31 years).

Some respondents consider a partner for the future in connection with starting a family and leaving sex business: "But it is clear that one day I will reach the age to wish children and a family. So then I would leave this business; but I would consider leaving it now too, if our relationship was serious" (IN10, 25 years).

7 Relationships with colleagues

Another group of persons spoken about by the respondents in connection with the relationship level includes their colleagues. Some respondents reported good and friendly relationships connected with mutual support. The colleagues were often the only persons to discuss their work with, to complain about the customers, etc. Thus the colleagues became friends: "*We don't quarrel, but I have often seen that the group changes much* "(IN1, 43 years), "*I have friends from the private flat; they know it, of course…*" (IN2, 23 years). On the other hand, there were also relationships that could be termed as conflicting. The conflicts most frequently resulted from daily disputes of the operation of the flat, e.g. cleaning, management of common property (washing powder, towels, etc.). It further must be taken into consideration that they are competitors, and that may lead to conflicts too. "*For example rows with the girls in the flat, or something like that; it sometimes wrecks my nerves*" (IN8, 36 years).

8 Relationships with friends

The last group of persons reflected in the relationship level of women in private sex business includes friends. The respondents stated that before joining sex business, they had more friends than at present: "*Yes, they know it, but I must say I have few of them; not because I do what I do, but I actually have only the closest ones… I keep people far from me.*" (IN23, 27 years). The motive may consist in the fact that the women often hide their work in sex business from their friends. Similar to the primary family, the motive for hiding consists in fear of incomprehension.

On the other hand, they have at least one friend who knows about their work: "*My best friends whom I know since my childhood know it*" (IN9, 26 years). Such person is an important person from outside the sex business or a person who mediated their work in sex business and is thus their colleague: "A friend of mine offered it to me and I went into it because I didn't have money and I didn't want to work as a confectioner; then I even lived with her, with the friend" (IN4, 28 years), "I was offered this work by a friend whom I have known a long time" (IN6, 30 years).

9 Discussion

The data analysis brought quite interesting information, differing from existing studies. The first difference consists in the fact that our respondents come from very variable types of families, evaluated by the respondents as completely functional. Frequent support to the family is also interesting; it does not constitute the actual motive of joining sex business, but it may be an impulse to continue in it. For example Oso Casas (2010) states that in sex business, the difference between love and exploitation is often vague and some emotional relationships do not support the differentiation. The woman may continue in sex business for example because of family love and requests for gifts or because of sending money to the family.

A considerable part of the interviews concerned friends and colleagues, which are two groups usually not dealt with in literature, even though they may constitute key groups in the relationship level of women in private sex business, as for example Malinová et al. (2016) state; their study shows that the relationships with colleagues in private sex business are very important for the women to feel satisfied at their workplace. Female friends often constitute the first contact with sex business, which corresponds to the study carried out by May, Harocopos, Hough (2000) and stating that friends even encourage the women to join sex business. At the same time, the friend becomes the closest person to which the woman may unload her concerns related to work, That is shown by a study carried out by the Rozkoš bez rizika organization (Rozkoš bez rizika, 2014).

The question whether the respondents have a manager who arranges offers for them or supervises them was answered negatively by all respondents. That may be caused by the fact that pimps are not found in private sex business as often as in other forms (May, Harocopos, Hough, 2000). Although pimps were not directly found in the study, the role of pimp is sometimes assumed by the partner who does not offer the woman directly, but profits from sex business and tolerates it.

The narrow relationship network of women working in different forms of sex business is described by multiple authors. The most frequently stated motive is fear of disclosure of source of livelihood and consequent stigmatization (Heumann, 2010). Women in private sex business, unlike other forms of sex business, do not have contact with other helping institutions, e.g. social work.

10 Conclusion

Women in private sex business maintain relationships with their primary family and with the partner. The existing relationships are motivating to work in sex business and to continue in it. From our perspective, it is important to deal with the relationships of those women and not to omit them. The relationship level is bad in general, and the general social network of the respondents is narrow. That may be caused by the fact that the respondent has told her close persons about her work and they have not accepted it, or by the fact that the respondent intentionally maintains a narrow social network, in order to have a greater chance to hide her work in sex business.

Acknowledgements

The article is an output of the GAJU No. 029/2016/S project – Life style of women in private sex business and their (self-)reflection.

References

- [1] Campbell, R., Ahrens, C. E., Sefl, T., & Clark, M. L. (2003). The relationship between adult sexual assault and prostitution: An exploratory analysis. *Violence and victims*, *18*(3), 299–317.
- [2] Demuth, S., & Brown, S. L. (2004). Family structure, family processes, and adolescent delinquency: The significance of parental absence versus parental gender. *Journal of research in crime and de-linquency*, *41*(1), 58–81.
- [3] Ditmore, M. H. (Ed.). (2006). *Encyclopedia of Prostitution and Sex Work: AN. Vol. 1*. Greenwood Publishing Group.
- [4] Eernstman-Mongard, H. (1996). Školení pro streetworkery. In *Ulice silnice dálnice = Strassen und Grenzwege*. Praha: ProFem a Rozkoš bez rizika.
- [5] Heumann, I. A. (2010). Das Selbstbild von Sexarbeiterinnen mit Migrationshintergrund als Mütter. Zürich: ZHAW Zürcher Hochschule für Angewandte Wissenschaften, Department Angewandte Psychologie.
- [6] Hirschi, T. (2002). Causes of Delinquency. New Brunswick, London: Transaction Publishers.
- [7] Chmelík, J. et al. (2003). *Mravnost, pornografie a mravnostní kriminalita*. 1. vydání. Praha: Portál, 2003.
- [8] James, J. (1980). Entrance into juvenile prostitution: Final report. *Seattle, WA: University of Washington, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences.*
- [9] Jewkes, R., Morrell, R., Sikweyiya, Y., Dunkle, K., & Penn-Kekana, L. (2012). Transactional relationships and sex with a woman in prostitution: prevalence and patterns in a representative sample of South African men. *BMC public health*, 12(1), 325.
- [10] Kierkus, C. A., & Baer, D. (2002). A social control explanation of the relationship between family structure and delinquent behaviour. *Canadian J. Criminology*, 44, 425.
- [11] Kutálková, P. et al. (2016). *Tak tohle ne! Analýza násilí* v *sexbyznysu a jeho* řešení. Brno: Rozkoš bez rizika.
- [12] Langmeier, J., & Matějček, Z. (2011). Psychická deprivace v dětství. Praha: Karolinum.
- [13] La Strada. (2006). Obchodování se ženami a nucená prostituce. Podklady pro prevenční lekce. Retrieved from: http://www.strada.cz/images/Publikace/Prevence/obchodovani_se_zenami_a_nucena_prostituce.pdf
- [14] Malakouti, J., Mirghafourvand, M., Farshbaf-Khalili, A., Azadi, T., & Darabi, B. (2016). Job Motivation and its Relationship With Sexual Attitude Among Iranian Sex Workers. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF WOMENS HEALTH AND REPRODUCTION SCIENCES*, 4(4), 194–199.
- [15] Malinová, H. (2016). Facka ubližuje!. In K. Večerka (Ed). Úvahy nad sociální patologií 2016. Praha: Česká sociologická společnost.
- [16] Malinová, H. (2006). Tak tohle ne! Násilí v sexbyznysu. Výsledky kvantitativního výzkumu. In P. Kutálková et al. *Tak tohle ne! Analýza násilí v sexbyznysu a jeho* řešení. Brno: Rozkoš bez rizika.

- [17] Marcus, A., Horning, A., Curtis, R., Sanson, J., & Thompson, E. (2014). Conflict and agency among sex workers and pimps: A closer look at domestic minor sex trafficking. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 653(1), 225–246.
- [17] McCaghy, C. H., & Hou, C. (1994). Family affiliation and prostitution in a cultural context: Career onsets of Taiwanese prostitutes. *Archives of sexual behavior*, *23*(3), 251–265.
- [18] Matoušek. O. et al. (2005). Sociální práce v praxi: specifika různých cílových skupin a práce s nimi.
 1. vyd. Praha: Portál.
- [19] May, T., Harocopos, A., & Hough, M. (2000). *For love or money: pimps and the management of sex work*. Home Office, Policing and Reducing Crime Unit, Research, Development and Statistics Directorate.
- [20] Oso Casas, L. (2010). Money, sex, love and the family: Economic and affective strategies of Latin American sex workers in Spain. *Journal of ethnic and Migration studies*, *36*(1), 47–65.
- [21] Petrocchi, C., D'Aguanno, M., Velotti, P., & Zavattini, G. C. (2016). Psicopatologia, esperienze traumatiche e attaccamento nella prostituzione adolescenziale. *MALTRATTAMENTO E ABUSO ALL'INFANZIA*.
- [22] Sampson, R. J., & Laub, J. H. (1995). *Crime in the making: Pathways and turning points through life*. Harvard University Press.
- [23] Sanders, T. (2005). Sex Work. A Risky Business. Portland: Willan Publishing.
- [24] Sochůrek, J. (2001). *Vybrané kapitoly ze sociální patologie, II. díl Sociálně patologické jevy.* 1. vyd. Liberec: Technická univerzita v Liberci.
- [25] Wikström, P. O. H., & Butterworth, D. A. (2006). Adolescent crime. *Individual differences and lifestyles*. Devon: Willan Publishing.
- [26] Williamson, C., & Cluse-Tolar, T. (2002). Pimp-controlled prostitution: Still an integral part of street life. *Violence against women*, 8(9), 1074–1092.

(reviewed twice)

Mgr. Stanislav Ondrášek, doc. PhDr. Bc. Alena Kajanová, Ph.D., Mgr. Zuzana Řimnáčová Institute of Social and Special-paedagogical Sciences Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice

Jírovcova 24, 370 04

České Budějovice

Czech Republic

email: ondras00@zsf.jcu.cz, kajanova@zsf.jcu.cz, rimnaz00@zsf.jcu.cz

A review of somatic games intervention for children with autism spectrum disorders

(overview essay)

Lei Xianmei

Abstract: Technology-aided instruction and intervention (TAII) is an evidence-based practice intervention method for individuals with autism spectrum disorders. With three-dimensional display and body awareness, somatic games are video games operated through body movements. It is based on natural user interaction, and has great potential to support individuals with autism spectrum disorders to obtain target skills. This study reviews research literature on the studies of intervention for children with autism spectrum disorders by using somatic games, sums up the strength and problems of these studies, and then gives enlightenment on related researches and practice in future.

Keywords: children with autism spectrum disorders, somatic games, intervention, review

1 Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is one of the fastest growing developmental disorders in the US with the Center for Disease Control (CDC) estimating that 1 in 68 children are diagnosed with ASD. According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-fifth edition (DSM-V) published by the American Psychiatric Association in 2013, ASD is identified by two diagnostic markers: persistent deficits in social communication and social interaction, and the restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, or activities. With regard to these deficits, individuals caring for children and youth with ASD have been striving to explore more scientific and effective treatment methods. In January 2014, National Professional Development Center published a report, which was called Evidence-Based Practices for Children, Youth, and Young Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder. This report described 27 intervention practices designated as evidence-based practices. One of those intervention approaches is technology-aided instruction and intervention (TAII). TAII are those in which technology is the central feature of an intervention that supports the goal or outcome for the student, which can be used effectively to address social, communication, behavior, joint attention, cognitive, school-readiness, academic, motor, adaptive, and vocational skills (Wong et al., 2014).

In TAII, natural user interface (NUI) shows great potential benefits in individuals with ASD. "Natural user interfaces" have been adopted as a generally accepted term to refer to a new classification of computerized interactions that extend beyond traditional mice and keyboards, including pens/writing, gestures, speech, eye-tracking, and tangible computing. NUIs enable a variety of input mechanisms specific to the needs of individuals who present with different sensory impairments (Kientz et al., 2013). With the development of sensor technology, speech recognition, and computer vision, the use of motion sensing allows users to interact without any intermediary device to reach perfect natural user interface (Kandroudi, Bratitsis, 2013). Based on motion sensing, somatic games are video games operated through body movements, which means that the body motion is the game mechanic. Somatic games are digital games requiring neither mice nor keyboards, but a great number of body movements while being played.

The high potential of somatic games for learning is grounded on two relationships: the one between digital games and children's development, and the other between body movements and children's development. The particular influence of digital games on children's learning has been cherished by American education expert Marc Prensky. He (2001) proposed that integrating digital games with education would achieve better learning outcomes. Because digital games constitute potentially powerful learning environments, and children are not receiving knowledge passively but participating in the activities very positively. Therefore, those digital games aiming at making children be producers of knowledge, can make their learning much easier, more enjoyable, and more interesting, and thus, more effective. Besides, many researches indicates that children with ASD may have an affinity for digital media and that these technologies may serve an important role in ASD intervention (Uzuegbunam et al., 2015). In general, digital games that encompass educational objectives and subject matter are believed to contribute to children's development. As for the relationship between body movements and children's development, Piaget's theory firstly states that knowledge acquisition is derived from active experiences in the world. Then, embodied cognition theory also emphasises the formative role of embodiment, which is the way in which an individual's sensory-motor capacities enable him or her to successfully interact with the physical environment (Mademtzi, 2016). Later, more studies have suggested that body movements affect emotional

processes, and affective and social communicative mediation apart from cognitive processes (Bianchi-Berthouze, 2013). With respect to children with ASD, previous studies have shown that there is a positive correlation between behavioral problems and lack of body movements. Thus, engaging in body movements will contribute to reduce their self-stimulatory behaviors, class destruction behaviors, and improve their body aptitudes, such as stamina, strength, and agility (Pitetti et al., 2007).

While theoretical arguments and empirical results suggested that both digital games and body movements will be beneficial for children with ASD, the marriage of body movements with digital games, also known as somatic games, is a promising approach for children with ASD that has been increasing in attention and popularity in recent years. Since individuals with ASD demonstrate delay in fine motor skills which causes difficulties in grasping and manipulating objects, such as a mouse, and combining with their strong motivation and interests for somatic games, it is not difficult to conclude that somatic games will be a highly promising way to empower the teachers or parents of children with ASD with valuable tools to build important skills, such as cooperation, attention, and imitation, and then to improve their quality of life. The current study is trying to review empirical studies that applying somatic games to promote ASD children's skills, and then summarize and analyze the characteristics of these studies, hoping to provide insights into related research and practice in future.

2 Methods

The aim of this study is to provide a complete and structured literature review of somatic games interventions for children with ASD. To locate suitable articles, a computerized multi-database literature search on the China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), Web of Science, ProQuest, and Google Scholar search engine was performed using combinations of the following search terms and phrases: active video games, somatic games, motion-based touchless games, motion interactive games, exergames, autistic children, children with autism, children with autism spectrum disorder. Then, a dataset of 252 articles were received. After having read these articles' titles and abstracts, we excluded the same articles, books, and review articles, then reserved 43 articles in English language. Afterwards, we conducted a detailed reading for the full paper to select the most appropriate ones, which met the following criteria: (1) the subjects in the research must be identified as having a diagnosis of ASD, (2) the research must examine the use of somatic games as an intervention tool for children with ASD, (3) the research must be an empirical study, not a theoretical one, and (4) the research can be retrieved online. Ultimately, 18 articles were identified for this review. The main information of these articles is shown in TABLE 1.

Author and Na- tionality	Years	Subjects	Consoles	Somatic Games	Duration of Inter- vention	Target Behav- iors	Research Design
Blum- Dimaya et al. (USA)	2010	four chil- dren with ASD	PlaySta- tion Move	Guitar Hero II™	15 minutes	imitative skills	a multiple- probe across participants design
Li et al. (Taiwan, China)	2012	three children with ASD aged 8 to 10	Webcam	Swimming Race Game	30 minutes	sensory inte- gration	a quasi-ex- periment case study
Bartoli et al. (Italy)	2013	five boys with ASD aged 10 to 12	Kinect	 Bump Bash Body Ball Pin Rush Pin Rush Target Kick It's not what you think! Hon- est! 	3 hours and 40 minutes	attention, emotion, and behavior	
Shoe- maker (USA)	2013	eight chil- dren with ASD aged 4 to 11	Wii	 Just Dance 3 Wii Sports Mario Party Just Dance for Kids 	1hour	visual-motor coordination	a repeated measures quasi-experi- mental design
Hillier (USA)	2013	three boys with ASD aged 3 to 5	Wii	 Dora the Explorer Dance Video Nickelo- deon Dance Zoo Adventures 	2 to 3 min- utes	engagement and peer interaction	a multiple baseline across partici- pants design
Ferguson et al. (USA)	2013	six boys with ASD aged 7 to 11	Wii	Wii Sports Games	90 minutes	giving compliments, taking turns, and making a positive postgame comment	a multiple baseline across indi- viduals design

 Table 1 – Main Information of the Studies Included

Garzotto et al. (Italy) Bartoli et	2014	five boys with ASD aged 6 to 8 ten chil-	Kinect	Pixel Bal- ance (1) Bubble	10 minutes 30 minutes	imitative capability, body schema awareness, and social skills selected at-	a group-
al. (Italy)		dren with ASD aged 6 to 8		Game (2) Space Game (3) Shape Game		tention, sustained at- tention, visual perception, motor coor- dination, and visual-motor coordination	design
Zhu et al. (China)	2015	two chil- dren with ASD aged 9 to 10	Leap mo- tion	Matching games	30 minutes	fine motor skills	an AB se- quence design
Xu et al. (China)	2015	fifty-one children with ASD aged 3-19	Kinect	Rehabilita- tion games	30-40 minutes	self-care, mobility and sociability	a pre- and post-test experimental design
Bhat- tacha- rya et al. (USA)	2015	eighteen students with ASD aged 8 to 19	Kinect	Motion- based activi- ties		engagement, social behav- ior, motor skills and coordination	
Uzuegbu- nam et al. (USA)	2015	three boys with ASD aged 7 to 12	Kinect	MEBook		greeting be- haviors	a multiple- baseline single-subject study
Golden (USA)	2015	eleven boys with ASD aged 8 to 11	Kinect	(1)Crazy Sales (2)Save the hotdog	45 minutes	physical ac- tivity levels and executive function	a group- design
Mademt- zi (UK)	2016		Kinect	Pictogram Room	15 minutes	sensory-mo- tor skills	mixed a sin- gle-subject approach and a group-de- sign approach
Lei et al. (China)	2016	one boy with ASD aged 11	Kinect	Catching game	15 minutes	motor skills	an ABAB sequence design
Lei et al. (China)	2017	four chil- dren with ASD aged 10 to 11	Kinect	Catching game	15 minutes	attention	an ABAB sequence design

Ge et al. (China)	2017	one girl with ASD aged 14	Kinect	Gesture Games: "Fruit Nin- ja" and "Big Adventure"	30 minutes	verbal skills, communica- tion skills, peer relation- ship, interests	
Edwards et al. (Aus- tralia)	2017	eleven children with ASD aged 6 to 10	Kinect	Sports ac- tive video game	45-60 minutes	object control skills	a 2-group pre- and post-test experimental design

3 Review

The consoles of somatic games

Somatic games cannot run without motion sensing devices. Currently, there are three common motion sensor technologies, namely Nintendo Wii, Microsoft Kinect, and Sony PlayStation Move. The Nintendo Wii was developed by Nintendo Company in 2006. Its distinguishing features is the wireless controller, the Wii remote which contains a sensor able to detect motion and rotation in three dimensions and then can be utilized as a gesture recognition and pointing tool (Kandroudi, Bratitsis, 2013). Wii somatic games can not only improve health conditions such as heart rate, fat consumption, oxygen uptake, respiratory exchange ratio, and hand-eye coordination, but also increase participants' motivation for physical rehabilitation (Chang et al., 2011). But Wii requires users to hold the sensors in the hands to detect motions, which possibly causes inconvenience and discomfort (Chang et al., 2011), and may not be suitable for some special groups (Li et al., 2012). One of the existing studies applied the PlayStation Move, which is a motion-sensing game controller platform created by Sony Corporation in 2010, which uses a PlayStation Eye camera to track the wand's position, and inertial sensors in the wand to detect its motion (Kandroudi, Bratitsis, 2013). The wand contains a three-axis accelerometer and a three-axis gyro sensor, which are used to track rotation in overall motion and can be used for dead reckoning in cases when the camera tracking is insufficient, such as when the wand is obscured behind the player's back. Most of the existing studies chose the Kinect, which is a motion sensing input device implemented by Microsoft Corporation in 2010. The device can detect user's movements and gestures and transfer them to the computer, providing a natural user interface that enables users to control and interact without the need to touch a game controller (Chang et al., 2011; Kandroudi, Bratitsis, 2013). Using the Kinect sensor, children are engaged naturally, using hand and body gestures, in a playful learning experience where both body and brain stimulation are present and active. Thus, somatic games with kinect sensor can enhance participants' motivation and promote health-related fitness. However, Kinect has some limitations as well. For instance, it can only recognize the head, body, and limbs, but can not identify fingers acutely. Besides, it can just capture some simple motions. In addition to the three common motion sensor technologies above, some studies also applied other sensors, such as leap motion and the web camera (webcam). Leap Motion is a new gesture and position tracking system with the accuracy level of sub-millimeter (Zhu et al., 2015). Webcam is a kind of digital camera video monitor service terminals with an inbuilt web server by which people can monitor video, control remotely and manipulate PTZ. Li et al. (2012) proposed that webcam was similar to Kinect and was relatively cheaper. Taking into account the mutability of children with ASD, future consoles selection can be determined by the target behaviors and children's cognitive abilities and motor skills.

The characteristics of somatic games

Somatic games in the existing studies include ball games, sports, dance, adventures and so on. Some were chosen from commercial games, and some others were designed by researchers themselves. For example, Li et al. (2012) selected the swimming race game from an online Flash game resource website. Bartoli et al. (2013) selected the five games from various packages and over 150 entertainment products. Whereas Garzotto et al. (2014), Bartoli et al. (2014) and other researches designed their own games according to the characteristics and learning needs of children with ASD. It has been shown that games developed according to some guidelines are more effective than commercial games, which have a similar game logic but are not explicitly designed for children with ASD (Bartoli et al., 2014).

Generally speaking, somatic games applied in the existing studies present several characteristics as the following. (1) task simplicity: considering children with ASD tend to have difficulty in finishing tough works, Li et al. (2012) and Bartoli et al. (2013) required the task difficulty of the games should not be too high, to fit the abilities of children with ASD and to focus their attention and emotions on play rather than on understanding the complexity of multiple game rules. (2) short duration: as playing somatic games for a long time may lead to exhaustion, games in existing studies were demanded to be finished in short time. For example, Bartoli et al. (2013) suggested that the game session should be completed in few minutes, for the purpose of favoring concentration and keep physical fatigue at an affordable level. (3) ordering: in order to keep ASD children's interests and motivation, Bartoli et al. (2013) stressed that it must have an order of complexity among the games. And Garzotto et al. (2014) divided the game configurations in 5 levels with growing difficulty. (4) diverse: on the one hand, it refers to the diversity of the game content, which include ball games, sports, dance, adventures and so on. On the other hand, it means the multiplicity of the game modes. For instance, the pixel balance game and the shape game in existing studies both can be played in single player or in multiplayer mode. While in a multiplayer mode, participants have to cooperate to finish the tasks, which contributes to their social interaction skills. (5) customizable: to fit different children's interests and abilities, existing studies highlighted the customizable mechanism of the games. For example, Bartoli et al. (2014) emphasized that the designed games should be strongly customizable according to the characteristics and learning needs of the children with ASD, including the game speed, object density and enabled body parts. Similarly, Garzotto et al. (2014) also stressed the game's parameters should be set personally, including the shape to match, steady duration, and time limit.

The implementation of the intervention

Despite different studies conducted different intervention procedures, the implementation of the intervention shows several characteristics in general as follows. (1) different experimental designs: some researchers chose a group-design approach, while most utilised a single-subject design to see the effectiveness of the somatic games intervention. Single-subject design is one of the standard practices that can be used to examine the effectiveness of interventions based on the nature of the interventions and target behaviors (Uzuegbunam, 2015). In addition to that, interviews with the parents or teachers were also conducted in some researches to gather the qualitative data. In other words, mixed-methods design has been applied to provide better validity of the results. (2) different duration of intervention time: existing studies showed very different intervention time. For example, Bartoli et al. (2013) made an arrangement that each child played five games for approximately 3 hours and 40 minutes. Whereas Hillier (2013) let the children play the Wii game just for 2 to 3 minutes. Actually, children with ASD require intensive and sustained intervention, and the effect will be significant. But the long-time intervention may bring about exhaustion and loss of motivation and interests, and thus affect the effectiveness of the intervention. As a result, intervention duration should be reasonable and be determined by the intervention goals, procedures, and ASD children's characteristics and stamina. (3) flexible arrangement of the intervention activities: most research intervened with somatic games selected or developed, some other research conducted other activities in addition to somatic games. For example, in an attempt to verify the functional relationship between Wii game and peer interaction, children in the study of Hillier (2013) were directed to make a choice of a different free choice activity available in the classroom after playing Wii game with their peers. Likewise, Ferguson et al. (2013) allotted the participants 15 minutes of free time at the end of the intervention, in which they could play other games the participants brought from home or have access to other games on the Wii console. (4) effectively use of reinforcements: as the positive reinforcement is the most effective way to enhance the initiative of the children with ASD, existing studies applied plentiful reinforcements. For example, Bartoli et al. (2014) gave a positive final reward (e.g., an applause or a golden cup) to participants if they finished the game. Ferguson et al. (2013) reinforced each participant with verbal praise and token economy points (could be exchanged for tangible rewards, e.g., Legos, sunglasses, Pokémon trading cards) when they showed the following behaviors: following directions, participating in group discussion, and demonstrating the target skills. Golden (2015) gave the participant stickers every 2 minutes for feedback and additional encouragement if the child was lagging or was very intent in the game. Analogously, Garzotto et al. (2014) showed a 3-second video reward once the children successfully accomplished the activity, for the sake of gratifying and encouraging them.

The effectiveness of the intervention

Empirical studies focused on ASD children's motor skills (e.g., balance, visual-motor coordination), cognitive skills (e.g., imitative capability, body awareness), and social skills (e.g., attention, emotion, peer interaction). And majority of them hold quite positive intervention effectiveness. For instance, Li et al. (2012) analyzed three subjects' biological change on heart beat, blood pressure, and temperature, with the observation records about limb coordination, concentration focus time, tempo accommodation, and game performance, finding positive changes on vision, hearing, motor senses, and overall coordination of limbs. In addition, depending on the feedback, the teacher and the students possessed positive attitudes toward applying the game for training ASD students' sensory integration. Bartoli et al. (2013) found an increase of selective and sustained attention in all children and their difficulties on interaction and anxiety were decreased according to three participants' changes before, during, and after the treatment. Combining with three participants' data in baseline and intervention, Hillier (2013) held the belief that they demonstrated increased rates of peer interaction. At the same time, Hillier (2013) conducted an interobserver reliability assessment through training two assistants to simultaneously and independently code the sessions. Besides, the researcher provided a survey on the ease and effectiveness of the intervention to the classroom teachers to measure the social validity of the study. Ferguson et al. (2013) also indicated that participants exhibited improved performance in giving compliments, taking turns, and offering a positive postgame comment, and each participant made significantly fewer negative comments toward his peers and group clinicians after the intervention. Furthermore, these behaviors were found to generalize to other stimuli (i.e., different video games and actual sports). On the basis of the global weighted score, Garzotto et al. (2014) revealed that games successfully contributed to ASD children's imitative ability, body awareness, and social skills. Bartoli et al. (2014) compared the evaluation between the initial and the final time of the treatment group, finding that motion-based touchless games have a learning potential for ASD children's attention, integration of motor and visual skills.

Very few studies did not show significant data change. For example, Shoemaker (2013) found that the Nintendo Wii did not improve visual-motor coordination, visual perception or motor coordination in Hispanic children with autism according to

the data before and after the treatment. The researcher summarized several problems that might have affected the internal validity of the study. First, this study utilized a pre-post test design, potentially resulting in test-retest effects. This would mean that any changes that might have occurred could have been a result of practice effects. Second, only one measure (The VMI) was administered to assess for each construct, which means there was not convergent validity for each construct being measured. Third, during the initial pre-test period, many of the participants did not know the researchers, resulting in evaluation apprehension which may not have been present during the post-test where they knew the researchers. Forth, the assessment procedures and interventions were administered at different times of the day and different times of the year for different participants. Some participants completed the assessment and intervention over the course of summer break, while others completed the intervention during the school year. This could have resulted in History effects. Fifth, the children played the games with the assistance of their families, which means that the amount of support may have affected the results as well. Nevertheless, regardless of the unremarkable data changes, the researcher reported that all children appeared to enjoy the games, and each child developed their own favorite games or activities with each game, which confirms the potential of somatic games to motivate children with ASD. Besides, Edwards et al. (2017) also did not find any significant increase in object control skills following a 2-week intervention of playing Kinect Sports on the Xbox Kinect. They explained that the use of active video games (45-60 min, 3 times a week for 2 weeks) as a play-based intervention may not provide enough opportunity for children to perform the correct movement patterns to influence target skills. They suggested an active video game program may be more successful when used for a longer period of time or when incorporated in a therapy session within a structured environment, rather than for "play" in an unstructured in-home environment. However, they did find an improvement in ASD children's perceptions of their own motor skills, which could lead to positive active behavior.

4 Conclusions and Directions for Future Research

In this paper, we present a literature review of somatic games for children with ASD. Building on the encouraging findings from empirical studies, we suggest that somatic games, which incorporate body movements, may help to strongly motivate children with ASD to engage in vigorous exercise and be a powerful stepping-stone to develop their key skills, such as cooperation, attention, and imitation, thus leading to better life. Given that the children and the teachers or the parents possess positive attitudes toward somatic games, and the low-cost full-body tracking devices such as the Wii or Kinect will be widely available for schools and homes, we suggest it is worthy to integrate somatic games into daily routines of children with ASD, so as to be favorable for them. Meanwhile, it is noteworthy that excessively or inappropriately use of somatic games may hurt children, such as ankle sprain, which makes it vitally important to apply somatic games reasonably and properly in the future.

As we all know, children with ASD always can not maintain appropriate attention time, and lots of body movements in somatic games may lead to burnout after novelty, making it very crucial to develop multifarious games to arouse and maintain their motivation and interests. Owing to the variability in ASD children's interests, it is not practical to develop custom-tailored games for each child's particular interests. However, it may be possible to provide a customization mechanism in these games to allow teachers and parents to configure the settings according to the individual needs and profile of each child. As some researchers proposed, the applied game categories, levels and terms should be personalized so the highest effect on child's progress could be achieved (Roglić, 2016). At the same time, it is also vitally important to make a more diverse game design to keep children's interests and avoid boredom caused by tedious play. Furthermore, it could not be better if the game would be set with multiple modes, in which decisions between single player and multiplayer mode can be made according to different intervention goals. Especially, in the multiplayer mode, children with ASD have more chance to interact with peers and then will lead to better results in improvement of their social skills, such as cooperation and social interaction. Moreover, games with multiple difficulty levels are also needed to meet the needs of different children and boost their enthusiasm and motivation to participate in games more vigorously. Thus, we believe that making games fun and having multiple modes and difficulty levels might be the first reasonable step towards motivating the children. What's more, seeing that children with ASD typically have fear of difficulty, the number of steps required to operate the game should be minimized, with the aim of making it easier for children with ASD. Additionally, it is necessary to provide a data analysis or visualization tools in these games which presents the progress and development of the children's skills (Zakari et al., 2014).

In addition to the games, the experimental design of future interventions should be elaborated rigorously. Some existing studies paid more attention to the selection or design of the games, but ignored the experimental design of the intervention. For example, Garzotto et al. (2014) described the goals and the characteristics of the game in detail, whereas skipped over the procedures and results of the intervention. some studies even did not mention their experimental designs. In fact, rigorously experimental design will not only affect the persuasiveness of the results, but also be convenient for replicable studies in the future. Therefore, while valuing the game design, future studies should also emphasize the rigorousness of the experimental design of the intervention, making the intervention results more convincing. Additionally, it would be beneficial for future research to report the reliability and validity of the intervention. Few existing studies verified their reliability and validity of the intervention, which makes it unclear whether the target skills would be generalized to other contexts or not. As is known to all, reliability means the credibility of the results, and validity refers to the availability of the findings. They are very important standards to verify empirical studies, undoubtedly related to the dependability and authenticity of the findings. As a consequence, future studies with more accurate and reliable data about the reliability and validity should be conducted.

While research on the benefits of somatic games are encouraging, and given the shortcomings of existing studies, more strict research on the somatic games as an intervention to facilitate various vital skills of children with ASD are imperatively required in future.

References

- Bartoli L, Corradi C, Garzotto F, et al. (2013). Exploring motion-based touchless games for autistic children's learning, Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children, ACM, 102–111.
- [2] Bartoli L, Garzotto F, Gelsomini M, et al. (2014). Designing and Evaluating Touchless Playful Interaction for ASD Children, Proc. Interaction Design and Children (IDC).
- [3] Bianchi-Berthouze N. (2013). Understanding the role of body movement in player engagement, Human–Computer Interaction, 28(1), 40–75.
- [4] Chang Y J, Chen S F, Huang J D. (2011). A Kinect-based system for physical rehabilitation: A pilot study for young adults with motor disabilities, Research in developmental disabilities, 32(6), 2566–2570.
- [5] Ferguson B R, Gillis J M, Sevlever M. (2013). A Brief Group Intervention Using Video Games to Teach Sportsmanship Skills to Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders, Child & Family Behavior Therapy, 35(4), 293–306.
- [6] Garzotto F, Gelsomini M, Oliveto L, et al. (2014). Motion-based touchless interaction for ASD children: a case study, Proceedings of the 2014 International Working Conference on Advanced Visual Interfaces. ACM, 117–120.
- [7] Hillier K. (2013). Effects of Wii Game Console on Increased Engagement and Peer Interactions, University of Washington.
- [8] Kandroudi M, Bratitsis T. (2013). An Overview of Game Console Motion Sensor Technologies Exploited for Education, European Conference on Games Based Learning, 252–260.
- [9] Kientz J A, Goodwin M S, Hayes G R, et al. (2013). Interactive Technologies for Autism, Synthesis Lectures on Assistive, Rehabilitative, and Health-Preserving Technologies, 2(2), 1–177.
- [10] Li K H, Lou S J, Tsai H Y, et al. (2012). The Effects of Applying Game-Based Learning to Webcam Motion Sensor Games for Autistic Students' Sensory Integration Training, Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET, 11(4), 451–459.
- [11] Pitetti K H, Rendoff A D, Grover T, et al. (2007). The efficacy of a 9-month treadmill walking program on the exercise capacity and weight reduction for adolescents with severe autism, Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 37(6), 997–1006.
- [12] Shoemaker M. (2013). Technology as an intervention for visual-motor coordination in Hispanic Children with Autism. Adler School of Professional Psychology.
- [13] Wong C, Odom S L, Hume K, et al. (2014). Evidence-based practices for children, youth, and young adults with autism spectrum disorder, Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina, Frank Porter Graham Child Development Institute, Autism Evidence Based Practice Review Group.

- [14] Zakari H M, Ma M, Simmons D. (2014). A Review of Serious Games for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD), Serious Games Development and Applications. Springer International Publishing, 93–106.
- [15] Zhu G, Cai S, Ma Y, et al. (2015). A series of leap motion-based matching games for enhancing the fine motor skills of children with autism[C]//Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT), 2015 IEEE 15th International Conference on. IEEE, 430–431.
- [16] Ge Z, Fan L. (2017). Social Development for Children with Autism Using Kinect Gesture Games: A Case Study in Suzhou Industrial Park Renai School[M]//Simulation and Serious Games for Education. Springer Singapore, 113–123.
- [17] Bhattacharya A, Gelsomini M, Pérez-Fuster P, et al. (2015). Designing motion-based activities to engage students with autism in classroom settings[C]//Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children. ACM, 69–78.
- [18] Edwards J, Jeffrey S, May T, et al. (2017). Does playing a sports active video game improve object control skills of children with autism spectrum disorder?[J]. Journal of Sport and Health Science, 6(1): 17–24.
- [19] Uzuegbunam N, Wong W H, Cheung S S, et al. (2015). MEBook: Kinect-based self-modeling intervention for children with autism[C]//Multimedia and Expo (ICME), 2015 IEEE International Conference on. IEEE, 1–6.
- [20] Roglić M, Bobić V, Djurić-Jovičić M, et al. (2016). Serious gaming based on Kinect technology for autistic children in Serbia[C]//Neural Networks and Applications (NEUREL), 2016 13th Symposium on. IEEE, 1–4.
- [21] Golden D. (2015). The short term effect of Xbox Kinect active videogame on physical activity levels and executive function in children with and without autism spectrum disorder[M]. University of Delaware.
- [22] Mademtzi M. (2016). The use of a Kinect-based technology within the school environment to enhance sensory-motor skills of children with autism[D]. University of Birmingham.
- [23] Lei Xianmei, Liu Yanhong, Hu Xiaoyi. (2016). The Intervention Case Study on Autistic Children' Motor Skills in Somatic Games[J]. Journal of Modern Special Education(Academic), (10):36-42.
- [24] Lei Xianmei, Liu Yanhong. (2017). A Case Study on Somatic Games Intervention on Attention Deficit in Children with Autism[J]. Journal of Suihua University, 37(7):1-7.
- [25] Blum-Dimaya A, Reeve S A, Reeve K F, et al. (2010). Teaching children with autism to play a video game using activity schedules and game-embedded simultaneous video modeling[J]. Education and Treatment of Children, 33(3): 351-370.
- [26] Xu Q, Chen L, Zhu T, et al. (2015). Assessing the effect of game system for rehabilitation on rehabilitation of autism and cerebral palsy[C]//MATEC Web of Conferences. EDP Sciences, 1–7.

(reviewed twice)

Lei Xianmei College of the Special Education Leshan Normal University Leshan, Sichuan China email: 1216489621@qq.com

Studying the attitude of future teachers towards inclusive education in the Republic of Kazakhstan

(overview essay)

Saule Aubakirova, Kundyz Mukatayeva

Abstract: The aim of the current research is defining the attitude of future teachers to inclusive education. In total, 108 students of pedagogical specialities were recruited. In order to define the attitude «The Sentiments, Attitudes, and Concerns about Inclusive Education Revised Scale (SACIE-R)» method was used. The results of the research show the neutral attitude of the future teachers to inclusive education and need of purposeful work on their preparation for work in the conditions of inclusive education.

Keywords: Inclusion; inclusive education; future teachers; pupils with disabilities, special educational needs

1 Introduction

Teacher is a central figure in the pedagogical process and determining factor in upbringing the future generation, in particular, in the inclusive education process.

The attitude of a teacher towards inclusive education plays a main role in efficiency of implementation of inclusive education (Kraska & Boyle, 2014).

The analysis of foreign researches carried out by Anke de Boer, Sip Jan Pijl and Alexander Minnaert (2011) shows predominance of teachers` neutral or negative attitudes to inclusion. Most of the teachers either had a neutral or negative attitude towards inclusive education and did not think that they were well prepared for training of children with special educational needs (SEN).

Most studies have focused on studying the effect of different variables on the attitude of teachers to inclusive education. Among the main variables are:

1) Teacher's gender. A number of researches have found that women are more positive towards inclusive education than men (Savolainen et al., 2012). However,

other researchers have found no significant differences between attitudes towards inclusion between women and men (Haq & Mundia, 2012).

- 2) Teaching experience. Young teachers with work experience from 1 to 10 years are more positive concerning inclusive education, than their colleagues with a long standing (Boyle, Topping, & Jindal-Snape, 2013).
- 3) Teaching experience with SEN children. Most researchers note that teachers with teaching experience of children with SEN are more positive to inclusion, than teachers without such experience (Specht et al., 2016).
- 4) Special training. A number of researchers state that specialized training, studying a module about inclusive education or a professional development course influence improvement of the attitude to inclusive education (Kraska & Boyle, 2014).
- 5) Type of disorder. Teachers are more positive to inclusion of pupils with physical or sensory impairments (Muwana & Octrosky, 2014). Least of all they would like to teach in a class with children with intellectual disabilities, emotional or behavioural disorders or with more difficult, complex disorders (Hastings & Oakford, 2003).

In this research we did not try to determine the dependence of teachers' attitude towards inclusive education on all of the above listed variables. In Kazakhstan, inclusive education is only at a stage of formation, future teachers have neither any work experience with children with SEN, nor special training. Therefore, the aim of our research is to determine the general attitude of the future teachers towards inclusion.

2 Inclusive education in Kazakhstan

One of the directions of education modernization in the Republic of Kazakhstan (RK) is ensuring the right of children with special needs the access to quality education, their integration into society through inclusion in educational space.

According to the Law "On Education" of the RK (2007) inclusive education is the joint education and training of persons with disabilities, providing equal access with other categories of pupils to the appropriate educational programs, correctional-ped-agogical and social support of development by means of providing special conditions.

In Kazakhstan the legal framework for children with SEN and disabled is formed, which is aligned with the international instruments in education field of SEN children.

Today a child with disabilities can study:

1) In level maintenance depending on needs of the pupil practices in inclusive schools. The pupil is followed by a tutor, whose main task is to give physical support to a child, to help to move, feel confident in the class and school. Besides,

some children with special development need a tutor trained in methods of special correctional pedagogy.

- 2) In a **special school** and **inclusive school**. There are 27 inclusive schools in the country (EGov RK, 2017a). There are 102 special schools in the country now. Here is a list of their specific types of disorders:
 - for blind children 3 schools in the country;
 - for visually impaired 7 schools;
 - for the deaf 10 schools;
 - for hearing-impaired 9 schools;
 - for children with speech impairments 9 schools;
 - for children with disorders of the musculoskeletal system 3 schools;
 - for children with mental retardation 47 schools;
 - for children with a delay of mental development 14 schools.
- 3) In a **special class** of a mainstream school. There are about 1 219 in the country. However, special class pupils do not get additional tutors' support.
- 4) A **comprehensive (mainstream) school** is for pupils with slight disorders. There are 7 307 mainstream schools in the country at the moment. However, additional support is not provided there.
- 5) Home education is carried out in the presence of indications according to the conclusion of psychological medical-pedagogical consultation for children who cannot attend school for a long time due to health problems.

Education market for children with disabilities is extremely narrow. For example, Almaty city, with a population of 2 million people, has only 2 inclusive schools (Kurmanzhanova & Kenzhakimova, 2015). There are few private centres for children with disabilities, including autism spectrum disorder (ASD). However, there are no care centres and after-school professional training for children with disabilities older than 18 years.

Additional support for SEN children is carried out only in inclusive schools, the number of which is small, where for a child, depending on the requirements can be appointed 2 tutors: for the care and special handling (e.g. typhlo teacher for a child with vision problems).

Other children with SEN studying in special classes of a mainstream school are deprived of the necessary additional educational support.

In Kazakhstan teachers' training to work in inclusive education system is carried out by:

- 1) the National Scientific and Practical Centre of correctional pedagogy;
- 2) the Centre for Social Adaptation and Vocational Rehabilitation of children and adolescents with mental and physical development, that:

- conducts short training courses for professionals working in the field of special education: pathologists, speech therapists, oligophrenia teachers, audiologists, typhlo teachers, psychologists, social workers;
- conducts refresher courses for teachers with higher pedagogical education, working or wishing to work in special and inclusive education, of a duration of 1 year.
- "Orleu" national centre has methodical association of inclusive education, where training seminars, creative laboratories and workshops are delivered for teachers, psychologists, social workers, speech therapists, comprehensive and inclusive schools` academic affairs deputy directors` (Abisheva, 2016).

In addition, the quota for admission to study in the organization of higher education for the first and the second groups of disabled and children with disabilities are provided (EGov RK, 2017b). During the period 2012-2014, under the quota for the disabled more than 680 people in higher education institutions and 1,146 people with disabilities in the organization of technical and vocational education were accepted. At colleges and universities there is no support for such students and no staff of assistive technology.

Inclusive education in Kazakhstan is developing insufficiently. Children with SEN have limited access to quality education. Achievement of quality education for children with SEN is interfered by a lack of well-trained pedagogical personnel, impracticality of school buildings, buildings of colleges and universities, lack of individualized models and training programs, absence of support services for children with SEN at different education levels.

In 2010 the State program of a development of education of the Republic of Kazakhstan for 2011-2020 was adopted by the Ministry of Education and Science. In the program, an increase in number of inclusive schools up to 70% of the total number of schools is planned by the year 2020. In this connection, there is a need for teachers trained to work in conditions of inclusive education during their study period at the university.

3 Methods

In the questionnaire 108 students studying «Education» fields at S.Toraighyrov Pavlodar State University and Pavlodar State Pedagogical Institute took part. All participants were in the age range of 25 and under. Most respondents were females (83.3%) and school graduates (88%), only 12% had specialized vocational education.

The survey results presented in Table 1 show that most of the students had experience with children with disabilities (64.8%) and did not have experience of preparation for their training (73.1%).

Knowledge of the local legislation and policy for children with disabilities is also at a low level: 66.6%. Vast majority of students have no experience of training children with disabilities (69.4%).

In this connection the low level of confidence in teaching children with disabilities prevails among future teachers (52.7%).

Characteristics	N	%	
I am training to teach in:	Early Childhood	4	3.7
	Primary school	3	2.8
	Secondary school	85	78.7
	Special Education	16	14.8
Gender	Male	18	16.7
	Female	90	83.3
Age	25 years or below	108	100
Level of education	Secondary school	95	88
	Other (college)	13	12
Interaction with persons with disabilities	Yes	38	35.2
	No	70	64.8
Training in Special Needs Education	None	79	73.1
	Some	28	25.9
	High (at least 40 hrs)	1	0.9
Knowledge of the local legislation or policy as it per- tains to children with disabilities	None Poor Average Good Very Good	25 47 33 2 1	23.1 43.5 30.6 1.9 0.9
Confidence in teaching or supporting students with disabilities	Very Low	17	15.7
	Low	40	37.0
	Average	43	39.8
	High	5	4.6
	Very high	3	2.8
Experience in teaching or supporting students with disabilities	Nil	75	69.4
	Some	33	30.6
Total		108	100

 Table 1: Personal and professional characteristics of the sample

For the questionnaire «The Sentiments, Attitudes, and Concerns about Inclusive Education Revised (SACIE-R) Scale» (Forlin et al., 2011) method was used which comprises 15 scales and 3 subscales:

- attitude towards inclusion scale questions 3, 6, 8, 12, 15 of the questionnaire;
- fears/concern scale concerning inclusion: questions 1, 4, 7, 10, 14 of the questionnaire;

a scale of sentiments at interaction with children with disabilities: questions 2, 5, 9, 11, 13 of the questionnaire.

At the same time a scale of sentiments and fears were coded reverse to a scale of the attitudes towards inclusion.

Participants estimated the consent with statements, using a four-point Likert scale (1 = Strongly Disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Agree, 4 = Strongly Agree). The reverse coding was applied to a scale of sentiments and concerns so that the maximum point had positive value for all questions of the questionnaire and characterized the positive attitude towards inclusion. Calculation of average assessment on all 3 scales is overall assessment of SACIE-R.

In order to determine the reliability we used the measure of the internal consistency of the scales – a Cronbach's (1951) Alpha coefficient (£). Total coefficient a Cronbach's Alpha equal to 0.753 (scale of sentiments £ = 0.733, the scale of fears £ = 0.706, scale of attitudes £ = 0.702), which is an acceptable indicator of reliability.

The questionnaire also contains additional questions of the most important characteristics of participants (sex, age, education level, etc.).

4 Results

Table 2 contains detailed information on participants' answers to the questionnaire. The general attitude to inclusion of future teachers is neutral; the average value of all SACIE-R elements is 2.43 with a fairly wide range, which means the existence of both negative and positive values. Most importantly, the range of sentiments is 2.58 (SD = 1.046), which shows feelings people experience when interacting with children with disabilities.

Results on this scale show that future teachers are not afraid of interacting with children with disabilities (M = 3.28), of facing them (M = 3.19), and do not feel a shock when meeting with people with difficult physical violations (M = 3.14). The vast majority of students do not experience difficulties in communication with children with disabilities, but they are somewhat revolted by a possibility of existence of disability in themselves (M = 1.71, M = 1.6).

The lowest average has a scale ratio 2.29 (SD = 1.014), which indicates that future teachers are not ready for inclusion of children with SEN and disabilities in main-stream classes. Average value on a scale of fears is equal to 2.41 (SD = 1.220).

The main problems which disturb future teachers are connected with a lack of necessary knowledge and skills for realization of inclusive practice (M = 2.09), acceptance of children with the rest of the class (2.03), as well as the complexity of the distribution of attention to all pupils in an inclusive class (2.17).

Item	М	SD
Sentiments	2.58	1.046
I tend to make contacts with people with disabilities brief and I finish them as quickly as possible.	3.28	0.915
I am afraid to look directly at a person with a disability. I find it difficult to overcome my initial shock when meeting people with severe	3.19	0.997
physical disabilities.	3.14	0.880
I dread the thought that I could eventually end up with a disability.	1.71	1.094
I would feel terrible if I had a disability.	1.6	0.896
Concerns	2.41	1.220
I am concerned that I will be more stressed if I have students with disabilities in my class.	3.11	0.950
I am concerned that my workload will increase if I have students with disabili- ties in my class.	2.66	1.069
I am concerned that it will be difficult to give appropriate attention to all stu- dents in an inclusive classroom.	2.17	0.859
I am concerned that I do not have the knowledge and skills required to teach students with disabilities. I am concerned that students with disabilities will not be accepted by the rest of	2.09	1.000
the class.	2.00	0.917
Attitudes	2.29	1.014
Students who frequently fail exams should be in regular classes.	2.72	1.031
Students who have difficulty expressing their thoughts verbally should be in regular classes.	2.55	0.980
Students who are inattentive should be in regular classes. Students who need an individualized academic program should be in regular	2.30	0.979
classes.	2.03	0.932
Students who require communicative technologies (e.g. Braille/sign language) should be in regular classes.	1.85	0.905
Total	2.43	1.104

Table 2: Means and standard deviations for scores on the SACIE-R Scale

5 Discussion and conclusion

Specific character of educational space in the Republic of Kazakhstan is characterized by long-term existence of two systems of special and traditional learning. Inclusive education is at a stage of the formation and is now developing in insufficient degree. One of the reasons is the unavailability of teachers to inclusive practice. This research also confirms that future teachers do not feel assured to work in the conditions of inclusive education and show the neutral attitude towards inclusion.

Our research does not contradict the results of the international researches about prevalence of the neutral or negative attitudes of the teachers (Poon et al., 2016), especially in the countries where inclusive education has a short history of its existence (Galović, Brojčin & Glumbić, 2014).

As neutral or negative attitude of teachers may have devastating consequences for children with limited opportunities, and lead to feelings of alienation, psycho-social distress (Thaver & Lim, 2014), it is necessary to implement the targeted training of future teachers for realization of inclusive practice, particularly in the development of practical methods and technologies that are used in inclusive classes. Training of teachers and future teachers considerably increases the positive attitudes, willingness to work in the conditions of inclusive education (Bender, Vail & Scott, 1995).

Lambe and Bones (2007) research also approves positive influence of pedagogical specialties students' teaching practices on improvement of the attitudes towards inclusion, reduction of anxiety and concerns about the implementation of inclusive practices.

Need for trained teachers to meet the needs of all pupils becomes obvious to provide not only equal opportunities for all, but also for the formation of inclusive education system in the Republic of Kazakhstan. In this connection, in our country in 2016-2017 academic year the obligatory module on "A basis of inclusive education", aimed at the formation of future teachers competences for implementation of successful inclusive practice has been introduced into the standard plan of pedagogical specialities. It is believed that it will facilitate a more inclusive approach from new graduates of pedagogical specialities.

References

- [1] Abisheva, N. (2016, October). Inkluzivnoe obrazovanie v usloviyah sovremennoi shkoli. *Kazakh-stan mektebi*, *10*, 46–49.
- [2] Bender, W. N., Vail, C. O., & Scott, K. (1995). Teachers attitudes toward increased mainstreaming. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 28(2), 87–94. doi:10.1177/002221949502800203
- [3] Boyle, C., Topping, K., & Jindal-Snape, D. (2013). Teachers' attitudes towards inclusion in high schools. *Teachers and Teaching*, 19(5), 527–542. doi:10.1080/13540602.2013.827361
- [4] de Boer, A., Pijl, S. J., & Minnaert, A. (2011). Regular primary schoolteachers' attitudes towards inclusive education: a review of the literature. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 15(3), 331–353. doi:10.1080/13603110903030089
- [5] Education Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2007). (Zakon Respubliki Kazakhstan "Ob Obrazovanii"). Astana: Akorda Retrieved from http://online.zakon.kz
- [6] Electronic government of the Republic of Kazakhstan (EGov RK) (2017a). Inclusive Education in Kazakhstan. [Online] Retrieved from http://egov.kz
- [7] Electronic government of the Republic of Kazakhstan (EGov RK) (2017b). Social assistance for disabled. [Online] (Socialnaya pomosch dlya invalidov). Retrieved from http://egov.kz
- [8] Forlin, C., Earle, C., Loreman, T., & Sharma, U. (2011). The Sentiments, Attitudes, and Concerns about Inclusive Education Revised (SACIE-R) Scale forMeasuring Pre-Service Teachers' Perceptions about Inclusion. *Exceptionality Education International*, 21(3), 50–65.
- [9] Galovic, D., Brojcin, B., & Glumbic, N. (2014). The attitudes of teachers towards inclusive education in Vojvodina. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 18(12), 1262–1282. doi:10.1080/1 3603116.2014.886307

- [10] Hag, F. S., & Mundia, L. (2012). Comparison of Brunei pre-service student teachers attitudes to inclusive education and specific disabilities: Implications for teacher education. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 105, 366–374.
- [11] Hastings, R. P., & Oakford, S. (2003). Student Teachers' Attitudes Towards the Inclusion of Children with Special Needs. *Educational Psychology*, 23(1), 87-94. doi:10.1080/01443410303223
- [12] Kraska, J., & Boyle, C. (2014). Attitudes of preschool and primary school pre-service teachers towards inclusive education. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 42(3), 228–246. doi:10.10 80/1359866X.2014.926307
- [13] Kurmanzhanova, K. K., & Kenzhakimova, G. A. (2015). Formation and prospects of development of inclusive education in Kazakhstan. *KazNU Bulletin. Psychology and sociology series*, 55(4), 160–165.
- [14] Muwana, F. C., & Ostrosky, M. M. (2014). Factors related to pre- service teachers' attitudes towards inclusion: a case for Zambia. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 18(8), 763–782. doi:10 .1080/13603116.2013.835877
- [15] Poon, K. K., Ng, Z., Wong, M. E., & Kaur, S. (2016). Factors associated with staff perceptions towards inclusive education in Singapore. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 36(sup1), 84–97. doi:10.1080/02188791.2014.922047
- [16] Savolainen, H., Engelbrecht, P., Nel, M., & Malinen, O.-P. (2012). Understanding teachers' attitudes and self-efficacy in inclusive education: implications for pre-service and in-service teacher education. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 27(1), 51-68. doi:10.1080/08856257.2011.613603
- [17] Specht, J., McGhie-Richmond, D., Loreman, T., Mirenda, P., Bennett, S., Gallagher, T., Cloutier, S. (2016). Teaching in inclusive classrooms: efficacy and beliefs of Canadian preservice teachers. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 20(1), 1–15. doi:10.1080/13603116.2015.1059501
- [18] Thaver, T., & Lim, L. (2014). Attitudes of pre-service mainstream teachers in Singapore towards people with disabilities and inclusive education. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 18(10), 1038–1052. doi:10.1080/13603116.2012.693399

(reviewed twice)

Mgr. Saule Aubakirova Faculty of Humanities and Education, S.Toraighyrov Pavlodar State University Lomov street 64 140008 Pavlodar Republic of Kazakhstan email: asekaa@mail.ru

Mgr. Kundyz Mukatayeva Faculty of Education, Palacky University in Olomouc Žižkovo náměstí 5 771 40 Olomouc Czech Republic email: kundyz.mukatayeva@gmail.com

Lifestyle of visually impaired individuals

(scientific paper)

Alena Hiršová, Dita Finková

Abstract: The paper presents results from research realized in 2017 and focused on the issue of the "lifestyle of people with visual impairments". Scientific literature, as well as other sources, mostly focus their research on the topic of life satisfaction. Our goal was to approach the field of lifestyle, or rather of "healthy lifestyle", in visually impaired individuals so that this lifestyle can contribute to improving the quality of life of these individuals in intact society. This therefore presents another important aspect of this research area, being the aspect of the current topic of inclusion.

The research was focused on the lifestyle in people with visual impairments. Also a control group of intact individuals was created. The research result analysis enabled the evaluation of differences in approaches to the lifestyle of the groups. This, eventually, gave us the option to identify the possible barriers, the removal of which could lead to an improvement in lifestyle of the visually impaired in majority society.

The primary research method used was the questionnaire. We established hypotheses, via which we aimed to specify the lifestyle of the monitored groups. In order to verify the created hypotheses, we made use of statistical methods (particularly the chi-squared distribution) and attempted to asses identify and analyse quality of life in visually impaired individuals as well as of the intact group. Further research questions have been established, which helped identify possible obstacles. These questions have also helped to establish, whether these barriers occur in the life of any individual, or only affect the lives of the visually impaired.

The results of the research can be briefly summarised by stating that the lifestyle of the sensorically impaired is similar to that in intact population, but does differ in some aspects. These differences can be found especially in the implementation of physical activities, or rather the availability of centres enabling these activities. These centres also often lack the proper environment adjustments as well as trained staff. The visually
impaired individuals, therefore, often have to choose some other type of physical activity, or need to rely on the help of another person.

Seeing its focus area, the research helps in both theory and practice. This means that in practical terms it is possible to use the research results as a basis, for example, to improve the availability of fitness centres and other sports facilities, which could then be used by the visually impaired, who would then have the opportunity to live their lives without barriers and thus fully to their liking.

Keywords: visual impairment, lifestyle, quality of life, inclusion.

1 Introduction

Inclusion is a topic that is part of the current direction of a democratic society. In the past 27 years, also the Czech Republic has been working towards this principle. After the regime change (in 1989), the country has tried to gradually anchor fundamental human values and principles both in legislative terms and in reality (i.e. practice). The development, of course, is gradual, but after these 27 years, a large step forward can be seen in the segregation of individuals differing from the country's majority towards inclusion. The principle of inclusion is based on the acceptance of diversity in terms of gender, race, nationality, social background or disability. All the people are therefore equal in their dignity and rights, and the presence of diversity is understood as an enrichment and benefit to society.

In this text, we would like to point out an area that is also a part of inclusion, although at first glance it may not be obvious. We will talk about **quality of life**, and above all the **lifestyle of visually impaired individuals** in the context of inclusion. "The paper is created within the framework of Palacký University Student Grant Competition project: Research of Inclusion in Special Needs Individuals (IGA_PdF_2017_008) ". The text is based on the Master's thesis of Alena Hiršová (supervised by Dita Finková) named "Lifestyle of people with visual impairment", as written and defended in 2017.

2 Quality of Life, Lifestyle

The topic of **quality of life** has been the main focus of many papers and dedicated monographs. These papers focus on general topics relating to the quality of life either in specific groups of disabled individuals, minorities in individual countries and quality of life in specific facilities (such as hospital or social facilities), or in the unemployed population, the elderly, etc. We will try to concentrate solely on visually impaired individuals.

The perception of one's own health in relation to the quality of life is, in individuals with visual impairment, significantly different from such perception in intact population. In general, the quality of life in individuals with visual impairment can change, either for the better, or for the worse. In this context, we can talk about the concept of *Health Related Quality of Life*, i.e. quality of life dependent on the health of the individual (Jánský, 2007 in Ješina, Hamřík, 2011).

Koudelková (2002, in Ješina, Hamřík, 2011) characterises this term as a part of quality of life that is subject to the individual's health characteristics, as well as the level of health care. Therefore, we must also point out the context of quality of life and life satisfaction, which we already mentioned in this paper's introduction. An individual is happy when they can recognize what is important to them and what evokes their sense of inner happiness (Hiršová, 2017).

The above-mentioned thus points to the possibility of evaluation of the quality of life and life satisfaction, despite the presence of visual impairment. Hiršová (2017) also shows a link with the topic of life satisfaction, where one of the prerequisites that influence life satisfaction in the visually impaired is their particular grade and type of visual impairment. Some types of visual impairment may negatively affect e.g. the possibilities the individual's leisure-time activities, in particular those involving any physical activity. Hiršová (2017) states that visually impaired individuals have a reduced the ability of orientation in space, and therefore it is significantly more difficult for them to get involved in physical activities and sports. It is, therefore, of crucial importance to determine the real abilities of a particular person. The involvement of people with visual impairment is also useful for their ability to find a reason to live a satisfied life despite their disability. This may reflect in both their quality of life and the related lifestyle. The opportunity to be in the company of other people, not to be isolated, to have friends, to be able to engage in normal activities (to participate in cultural events, sports, work, etc.) – all these factors can influence the lifestyle.

The concept of **lifestyle** can have a number of different characteristics. It depends on the perception of the meaning of this term. The most general definition is specified as the way in which people live, i.e. the way of living, dining, education, social behaviour, and also how they communicate, work, make important decisions, take care of themselves and others, adhere to a particular value system, etc. This definition therefore suggests that the concept of lifestyle is rather comprehensive and can be approached from a number of angles. Despite this plethora of dimensions and interdisciplinary character, the area of lifestyle requires compliance with the complexity of approach (Duffková, Urban, Dubský, 2008).

In order to be able to understand the issue of lifestyle more easily, sociologists have devised a specific conceptual scheme, which attempts to describe the term "lifestyle" as such. The answer to the question: "What is actually examined in the category of lifestyle" is that **lifestyle is defined as a set of activities and relationships in the**

everyday life of a particular individual or group of people. The activities that the person or the group get involved in, are governed by universally well-known but unwritten rules and are organised in time and space. It is therefore the practice that a person or society implement within their particular style of life thanks to their inherent intelligence upbringing (Duffková, Urban, Dubský, 2008).

Hiršová (2017) in her paper zooms in on those areas of life style (especially in relation to the "healthy lifestyle") in visually impaired individuals, that can contribute to improving the quality of life of these individuals in the society of intact individuals. A healthy lifestyle can be, in general, defined as a decision made by an individual for their own health and fulfilling life. Klescht (2008) lists the following components of a healthy lifestyle: good nutrition, physical activity, sleep and relaxation, defence against stress, environment, protection from harmful drugs and substances, positive thinking.

Respecting certain approaches, therefore, improves the lifestyle of the individual, not only in terms of their overall health improvement a well-being, but also in terms of interpersonal relationships. If a person thinks positively and is pleased with his or herself, this fact can be later reflected in the behaviour of other people towards this very individual. If the individual tries to live a healthy and active life, they reduce the risk of health complications and handle stressful situations and obstacles in an easier fashion (WHO, 1999).

3 Methodology and Research Group

The research focuses on the lifestyle of visually impaired individuals. As a control group, a group of intact individuals has been selected. The research seeks to assess the differences in approaches to the lifestyles of these two groups. Having analysed the results, it will then identify possible barriers, the removal of which could lead to an improvement in lifestyle of the visually impaired in majority society.

The primary research method used was the **questionnaire**. We established hypotheses, via which we aimed to specify the lifestyle of the monitored groups. In order to verify the created hypotheses, we made use of statistical methods (particularly the chi-squared distribution) and attempted to asses identify and analyse quality of life in visually impaired individuals as well as of the intact group. Further research questions have been established, which helped identify possible obstacles. These questions have also helped to establish, whether these barriers occur in the life of any individual, or only affect the lives of the visually impaired.

Intact Individuals' Question	nnaire	Visually Impaired Individuals' Questionnaire			
Open-Ended Items	13	Open-Ended Items	14		
Semi-Close-Ended Items	10	Semi-Close-Ended Items	10		
Close-Ended Items	15	Close-Ended Items	16		
Total	Σ 38	Total	Σ 40		

Table 1: Questionnaire Item Distribution in Respective Questionnaires

For the purposes of the research, two questionnaires were created. One of them aimed at intact individuals (containing 38 items), whereas the other aimed at the visually impaired group (containing 40 questions). Both versions contained predominantly close-ended items. Other items in the questionnaires, however, were open-ended. Semi-close-ended items, i.e. questions containing answer suggestions as well as the possibility of the respondent commenting, were less frequent. This option was used by the visually impaired group more often than by the intact group. In the first part of the questionnaire, in questions where the authors have inquired about the sex of the respondent or whether the respondent is regularly physically active, the questions were predominantly dichotomous. The authors also included items enlisting a number of possible answers, e.g. in questions on the respondents' age or on the negative phenomena, that discourage the respondents from engaging in physical activities.

The respondents then completed the survey online via an Internet portal. The average time of completion was 20 minutes. The Web form of completing the survey was chosen, as it is easily accessed, especially for individuals with sensory disabilities. The final form of the questionnaire (before it was placed on the Internet) was consulted directly with a visually impaired individual in order to avoid any future issues, such as poor clarity of the questionnaire, too many items, an unsuitable way of completing the questionnaire, etc.

In total, **186 respondents took part in the questionnaire survey**, **50 of which were in the group of visually impaired individuals**.



Respondent Gender Distribution



Table 2: Respondent Gender Distribution

As far as the **issue of age** is concerned, most of the intact individuals were in the age group of 18–30 years of age. The group of visually impaired individuals contained mostly individuals older than 31 years of age. The results of the research also provide current employment information of the visually impaired individuals, as employment can affect quality of life and lifestyle of these individuals. The results show that people with visual impairments work mainly on administrative positions (34%) or work manually (14%) or are in full disability pension (14%). Some of the interesting positions reported in the survey were e.g. music teachers, piano tuners, English teachers, exhibition guides, software developers, masseurs or call centre employees. Most of these positions are not dependent on the quality of the person's vision and give the opportunity of employment to any given individual.

4 Research Result Analysis

Seeing the research topic (lifestyle of individuals with visual impairment), we have focused mostly on the areas of **correct nutrition and physical activity**.

Based on the chi-squared distribution, we found that the research group demonstrated the same frequency of physical activity in individuals with visual impairments as in the intact group. Other questions show, however, that visually impaired individuals tend to engage in other sorts of physical activity than the intact group. The most common sports and activities in the survey include tourism (33%), swimming (14%) and also riding a tandem bike (10%). Furthermore, the majority of people with sensory disabilities enjoy e.g. yoga, rehabilitation exercises, but also extreme sports such as mountain climbing or windsurfing. Based on the results, we can conclude that these individuals prefer to engage in slower-paced physical activities and can always be accompanied by another person. The intact population, on the other hand, predominantly prefers running (25%) and fitness and strength training (16%) to maintain their physical well being. Comparing these two groups. we can also determine some interesting accord in some of the physical activities. The observation shows that the intact individuals also swim and hike. Despite the different types of physical activities in the two groups, the calculation of average weekly frequency bears witness to the fact that both of these groups engage in some sort of physical activity at least three times a week. Using the question-naire, we also explored many more specifics and preferences related to physical activity, such as **exercise daytime preference** (morning, evening), **monthly cost** of the physical activity, **exercise lessons preference** (individual, groups) or even **phenomena discouraging from physical activity**, as shown in Chart 1. Further questions included the **respondent's dependence on a trainer**, the importance of **special gym equipment** etc.





The reasons for inactivity, as directly stated by the respondents with visual impairment, arise directly from the existence of their visual disability (see Chart 1). They would like to exercise, but they are faced with barriers, some of which cannot be affected by the will of these individuals.



Chart 2: Phenomena discouraging the intact individuals from physical activity

The responses of the intact group, by contrast, demonstrate somewhat different phenomena, on the basis of which these individuals reject or do not engage in physical activity on a regular basis. The results de facto reveal that everything depends on the will of each individual, and the vital thing is to overcome one's laziness and decide to start exercising. Most of the phenomena stated by the intact individuals can be generalized under the broader term of "reluctance to exercise". For the results, see Chart 2. The question remains, whether the visually impaired individuals would not state the same reasons as the intact group, if the barriers mentioned by them were removed.

The questionnaire also posed the question, whether the respondent's perceive the issue of initial dependence on a trainer or assistant as a problem. Both groups have stated that the help of a trainer or assistant is welcome and is thus no hindrance in their training.

The next question asked whether the respondents preferred individual or group lessons. In both groups, the respondents who have stated that a trainer is a hindrance to their training have also stated that they prefer individual lessons. This fact seems like paradoxical, because a person taking individual lessons is in the majority of cases dependent on the help of a trainer (see Chart 3).





Other results also show the need of special equipment for individuals with special needs in sport centres. These centres often lack such special equipment. The intact individuals, who participated in the research, perceive the issue in the same manner. The main importance was placed especially on labels and instructions in Braille, guide lines and contrasting elements throughout the fitness centres, as well as suitable lighting, exercise equipment with sound guidance and dedicated dressing rooms for the disabled. Most of the respondents also reflected the crucial need of trained staff, which would often be enough for the visually impaired individuals to not be afraid of entering these facilities and thus beginning to change their lifestyle via active movement.

In the research, we also sought to determine the dependence of frequency of physical activity on the type of environment (i.e. cities and countryside), where the individual lives. The authors of the research were trying to find out, whether individuals living in cities tend to indulge in sport more often than people living in villages. We wanted to verify this fact on the basis of cities' better availability of sports centres. The survey results have shown that 64% of the respondents live in cities and engage in physical activity. The ratio of respondents living in villages and engaging in regular physical activity is virtually equal (61%). These results show that the environment has no effect on the frequency of engaging in physical activity.

The authors of the research, as already stated in the introduction, have not only dealt with physical activity of the population, but also with other aspects that affect society's lifestyle. A further research issue was the aspect of **healthy nutrition**. Here we investigated e.g. the availability of information on healthy foods. The most often noted source in this regard was the Internet. In order to live a healthy lifestyle, however, it is not only important to know the information, one must also implement this knowledge. The next question investigated the respondents' ability to prepare

a nutritionally suitable dish for themselves (Chart 4). Intact individuals gave a positive answer in 82%, whereas visually impaired individuals gave a positive answer in 80% (even though they may be dependent on others to prepare their food, e.g. family members, caretakers, etc.).







The research has also shown that there is no connection between visual impairment and food allergy. Both groups claim that they mostly do not suffer from any food intolerance. Only 12% of the intact respondents responded positively, in that they were either lactose or gluten intolerant or allergic to fruit and nuts. 8% of the visually impaired group claimed either gluten intolerance or seafood allergy. This item was included in the questionnaire as food allergy can, to certain extent at least, affect an individual's lifestyle. The need for diet adjustments, the need for allergen monitoring in restaurant dishes and while shopping for food (usually finding out the nutritional information of the particular food item) can carry some risk. Noncompliance with certain principles can even endanger an individual's life as such.



Chart 5: Food allergy

The authors have eventually focused on the investigation of phenomena that can affect the respondents' quality of life. The responses show that the quality of life in intact individuals is most affected by family relationships and the individuals' current health status (see Chart 6). In other answers, the respondents mentioned their relationships with friends and regular physical activity. The results of the research show that physical activity has an impact on the particular individual's quality of life and is an integral part of an active lifestyle.

The quality of life of individuals with visual impairment is most affected by the degree of their visual impairment (see Chart 7). However, these respondents are able to live their lives at a similarly high degree of quality to the lives of the intact community, despite the presence of their visual impairment and the obstacles related. Both groups of respondents reported, as the second most common phenomenon, their current state of health. It goes without saying that each individual is affected by their current health state. Any activity or employment comes easier to a healthy and strong individual than to a person with certain health issues.



Chart 6: Phenomena affecting quality of life in intact individuals



Chart 7: Phenomena affecting quality of life in visually impaired individuals

As has already been said, the research attempted to evaluate the differences between the approach towards lifestyle in intact individuals and in people with visual impairment. A partial aim was the identification of possible obstacles which could be removed, leading to an improvement in lifestyle of visually impaired individuals in majority society.

5 Conclusion

The results show that there are differences in the lifestyles of intact and visually impaired individuals. Both groups feel the importance of their current health state, but also the presence of their visual impairment. The visually impaired individuals also perceive the amount of finances they pay monthly for their physical activity as somewhat of an issue, whereas the intact individuals do not. Therefore, their low disability pension can present a financial constraint for these individuals, or they might prefer other physical activity (such as hiking).

When investigating the aspects that discourage the respondents from regular physical activity, we have found that the reasons are similar, but can also differ greatly (maybe even typical for each individual group). The aspects discouraging the visually impaired individuals from physical activity are characteristic in that they mostly cannot be affected by the will of the individual. In this case, it can be argued that individuals with visual disabilities would like to engage in physical activity, but the unfortunate external circumstances and the sports centres' lack of preparation and specific equipment discourage them. The opposite side is then represented by the phenomena presented by the intact individuals, who can mostly influence these discouraging aspects by their will. In intact individuals, therefore, it can be said that it is merely a personal matter of each individual (as long as they are not suffering from a temporary health issue) whether they do or do not want to engage in regular physical activity. The question remains, whether the visually impaired individuals would not provide the same answers as the intact individuals if the conditions presented by them were actually adapted.

The analysis of the data showed an interesting paradox in the question specifying the presence of a trainer during physical activity. It was found that respondents who consider the presence of a trainer or assistant an obstacle during physical activity, prefer individual lessons. And yet it is the case of individual lessons where the presence of a trainer is needed.

One further question examined the need for special equipment for the disabled in the sports centres and gyms. The majority of respondents (in both groups) pinpointed the importance of such special fitness centre equipment for individuals with special needs. Unfortunately, most of the owners of fitness centres do not reflect on this, as they mostly do not presume that these individuals would visit their fitness centres at all. Most of the sports centres, therefore, do not offer suitable conditions for individuals with special needs. The visually impaired individuals themselves were supposed, within the framework of the questionnaire, to enumerate what changes and adjustments would be appropriate and even welcome in these centres. The following were stated most frequently: descriptions of exercise equipment in Braille, guidelines throughout the fitness facility, sound guidance for equipment, dressing room only for the visually impaired, contrasting elements on exercise equipment and on the floor, suitable lighting, trained staff. The results indicate that such adjustments are not substantial in their scope and should not be present a major financial obstacle for the fitness centres. The main issue to tackle here would probably be the one of trained staff, as this is mostly the problem of willingness to learn and implement one's knowledge if a disabled person visits the particular fitness centre.

Another area of research was healthy nutrition. The respondents answered the question whether they can prepare nutritionally valuable food on their own. The response analysis shows that the ability to prepare a nutritionally valuable food does not directly depend on the degree of visual impairment, but rather on the manual dexterity and skill of a particular individual. The question of the respondent's dependence on another person to prepare their food is also closely related. Most of the intact respondents as well as those visual disabilities stated that they are not dependent on anyone in their food preparation. The above stated makes it clear that even the visually impaired individuals can take care of themselves and prepare food of the same quality as the intact respondents.

An essential component of lifestyle, as clearly defined in the research, is the environment, where a person lives and grows up. Here we posed the question whether the characteristics of one's environment also affect the engagement in physical activity. The basis of this idea was the fact of greater availability of fitness and sports centres in cities. This leads us to believe that the frequency of physical activity would be higher for individuals living in larger conurbations. The result was that the frequency ratio of physical activity was more or less equal in individuals living in cities and in those living in smaller villages. Therefore, it cannot be stated that the type of environment would have effect on the frequency of engaging in physical activity. Another interesting point found out within the sensory disabled individuals research was the fact that those individuals, who regularly engage in physical activities, tend to live in quieter parts of towns or in villages, rather than in busy city centres. This is caused by the fact that these individuals have, due to their visual impairment, a reduced ability of spatial orientation. For this reason, it is easier for them to move in a calmer environment, where there is no large amount of people and vehicles. A quieter environment gives them a feeling of certainty and security when exercising.

The questionnaire also focuses on the difference of frequency of physical activity in individuals living in flats or houses. It was found that physical activity of individuals with visual impairments who live in flats, is three times higher than of those people who live in houses. From this we can assume that living in a flat, where there is not much space, forces the inhabitants to visit fitness centres more often or go exercise in the countryside.

In summary, it can be said that the lifestyle of individuals with sensory disabilities is similar to that of the intact population. There will always be possible ways to improve the conditions of inclusion (in this cases e.g. the adjustments on conditions of fitness centres in order to make them more suitable for the visually impaired). The current state of affairs, however, enables even these visually impaired individuals to live a life of high quality.

Acknowledgements

"The paper is created within the framework of Palacký University Student Grant Competition project: Research of Inclusion in Special Needs Individuals (IGA_ PdF_2017_008) ".

References

 DUFFKOVÁ, Jana; URBAN, Lukáš; DUBSKÝ, Josef. Sociologie životního stylu. Plzeň: Vydavatelství a nakladatelství Aleš Čeněk, 2008. University textbooks. (Published by Vydavatelství a nakladatelství Aleš Čeněk). ISBN 978-80-7380-123-6.

- [2] HIRŠOVÁ, Alena. Životní styl osob se zrakovým postižením. Olomouc, 2017. Diploma thesis. Palacký University. Faculty of Education. Institute of Special Education Studies. Thesis supervisor Dita FINKOVÁ.
- [3] JEŠINA, Ondřej; HAMŘÍK, Zdeněk. *Podpora aplikovaných pohybových aktivit v kontextu volného času*. 1. ed. Olomouc: Palacký University Olomouc, 2011. ISBN 978-80-244-2946-5.
- [4] KLESCHT, Vladimír. 5 pilířů zdravého života. Ed. 1. Brno: Computer Press, 2008. ISBN 978-80-251-2149-8.
- [5] WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. *What is a healthy lifestyle?* [online], [2016-10-18]. Available at: http://www.kznhealth.gov.za/healthyliving.pdf

(reviewed twice)

Mgr. Alena Hiršová Žižkovo nám. 5 771 40 Olomouc Czech Republic email: AlenaHirsova@seznam.cz

doc. Mgr. Dita Finková, Ph.D Žižkovo nám. 5 771 40 Olomouc Czech Republic email: dita.finkova@upol.cz

Testing of subjective perception of complexity of signs of Czech sign language

(scientific paper)

Jiří Langer, Miroslav Rypka

Abstract: The contribution focuses on expanding the theoretical basis for teaching the Czech sign language (hereinafter CSL) and for its particular grammatical description. This knowledge is a necessary condition for efficient teaching both of deaf users (prelingually deaf children) and of hearing users (parents and family members, students of special pedagogy, interpreters etc.).

More concretely, it reports on the results of research focusing on the subjective assessment of the perception of complexity of signs of CSL from the perspective of potentially hearing students. Another aim of the study was verification of the designed theoretical concept of counting of the number of morphemes in the CSL signs whose number is one of the crucial variables during the process of hierarchical dependences and subsequent verification of the validity of Menzerath-Altmann law in the case of CSL.

In total, 28 signs of CSL were tested while those belong into 7 groups of motion matrices, while 235 respondents subjectively expressed via five-degree Likert scale their opinion on the complexity of a particular sign. From the results, it is concluded that there exists a direct proportional linear dependence between the number of morphemes of individual signs and assessment of their complexity. Based on the discovered results, also an adjustment of the way how to count morphemes was designed for the needs of further qualitatively linguistic analysis.

Keywords: Czech sign language, teaching sign language, students, quantitative linguistics, Menzerath-Altmann law

1 Introduction

From January 2017, a multidisciplinary research project funded by the Grantová agentura České republiky (or GAČR, in English the Czech Science Foundation) is solved at Faculty of Education, Palacký University, Olomouc (Czech Republic) in cooperation with Faculty of Arts and Faculty of Science (of the same university) which is called "Theoretical basis for teaching Czech sign language (CSL) tested through quantitative linguistic methods". A deeper discovering of one of the other linguistic characteristics of CSL (esp. its hierarchical phoneme structure), obtained through quantitative linguistic methods, contribute to the development of special education, especially for theoretical and practical education of CSL. With its concept and used research methods, it is a unique research project while it links the newly created application of qualitative linguistic methods and fractal analysis onto the sign language of deaf people which has (contrarily to the spoken languages) a simultaneous and poly-synthetic nature.

Historically, it was developed based on the analogy with the natural language; equivalents for the concepts used in description of the natural language (like the phoneme, word, sentence etc.) were found for the sign language. This analogy then grounded further focus on the grammar and generally semiotic nature of the sign language. The nature of the sign language, yet, does not reflect the character of a natural language in many aspects as natural languages are usually understood. The biggest difference is seen in simultaneous presence of signs related to phonemes in the text, which does not correspond to natural language speech; whether spoken, written or another. On the other hand, varying individual signs of phonemic analogy in relation to other particular signs corresponds to the allophonic variability and phonotactic rules which are represented more or less in every natural language. There is, however, also a possibility to consider the sign simultaneity in the language of the deaf from the point of view of polysyntheticity; such a perspective, yet, requires the initial grammar model based on the phonemic structure of simultaneously used signs.

Simultaneously composed signs would then be evaluated as sets of semantically independent components, not only phonemes. Such a point of view would mean a significant change in understanding the hierarchy of the CSL. The research project will study the speeches in the CSL of the deaf and will describe them using varying grammar means. It will use for it available transcription methods, possibly it will develop new transcription methods (see further). Such samples will then be analyzed using a wide range of quantitative methods and the results will be compared with quantitative analyses of spoken languages. The used quantitative analyses will enable a safe procedure for evaluating the nature of particular hierarchies through which it sees the analyzed text. This way language types and language unit types will cluster regularly and safely. The same will happen in case of the CSL is correct and corresponds to the nature of this sign system.

The Menzerath-Altmann law (MAL) is a suitable instrument for text analysis. It is considered as a language universal which reflects so called conservation principles which affect the text production and language structure (cf. the literature at the end of the application). The research project assumes that the identification of the MAL in the CSL manifestations will confirm its correct unit concept, i.e. directly in comparison with those natural languages with sound-based and with sign writing systems (Chinese). The research will include another range of quantitative metrics through which the manifestations of the CSL will be analyzed. They are e.g. entropy, type-token ratio, word and sentence average length, thematic concentration, the ratio of hapax legomena, token length frequency spectrum, repeat rate etc. Analyses of these metrics will be compared with the manifestations of the MAL.

2 Quantitative linguistics and sign language

In the year of 1928 Paul Menzerath established the following simple hypotheses: "... a sound is the shorter the longer the whole in which it occurs" and "the more sounds in a syllable the smaller their relative length", as stated in (Menzerath, 1928). Later on, in (Menzerath, 1954), when analyzing German words, the author came to a conclusion that the longer the words the shorter the syllables. This way one of the most known, quoted and analyzed laws of quantitative linguistics was born. The hypothesis was put to the test many times employing many samples. Yet, it was popularized and given a mathematical shape by Gabriel Altmann, a German quantitative linguist. Altmann took it under the magnifying glass, tested it and generalized: the longer a language construct the shorter its constituents, cf. (Altmann, 1980), where the language construct is a unit on a higher language level and is composed of units on the immediately lower level, i.e. its constituents. The construct length is measured in the number of its constituents, the constituent length in the number of its subconstituents. The law reflects a universal nature of the language, i.e. to behave in an economical manner. Thus, every natural language is expected to maintain this quality (Köhler, 2008; Hřebíček, 2007; Kelih, 2010).

The research will describe the design of the sign language. The starting point will be elementary semiotic assumptions; it will describe the role of individual CSL instruments based on universal semiotic relationships. The CSL figural level and sign level determinations will become the platform. Following the description of the delimitation of double articulation of CSL levels (i.e. sign means, their components from the point of view of figural means – phonemes/graphemes), the description of the CSL sign structure will be treated and elaborated. It will, at the same time, assist in classifying the combination of CSL levels and their quantitative testing based on MAL manifestations. The research will not favor any CSL analogy, yet it backs the design by basic semiotic assumptions.

In a case of linear spoken languages (while it is possible to include Czech, English, German or Chinese languages into this group), the hierarchical dependences and structures are normally researched on the string of the following units:

the text - sentence - clause - word - syllable - phoneme (letter);

in a case of visually motor sign language (with a simultaneous production of phonemes which constitute individual signs and with a possibility of a simultaneous production of more signs), it is possible to research the hierarchical structure on a string of the following units:

the text - sentence - clause - sign - morpheme.

In the case of the first 4 stages (the text – sentence – clause – sign), the spoken languages and sign languages are structurally analogical while it is not possible to identify syllables among the sign languages due to their simultaneousness – the determination of the number of phonemes used is very complicated as well. In the following text, we therefore strive to design a way to calculate phonemes (or meaning-creating morphemes) which are used while articulating individual signs.

The text, apart from the above mentioned, will have to satisfy the criterion of homogeneity to the highest attainable degree. The sentences and clauses are defined in the traditional manner; however, their delimitation will solely be performed by the native speakers of the CSL. The same holds true for the signs (Grzybek, 2015).

Due to a fact that the string of the measurement of the dependence of hierarchical structures (which is mentioned above) has never – in the case of the sign language – been used within the field of quantitative linguistics, it emerged that it is necessary to perform experimental measurement whose aim is a discovery whether there is a similar dependence between the total number of morphemes of individual signs and the subjective perception of their complexity similar to the case of spoken languages (if a word is longer in terms of syllables and speech sounds, it is perceived as more difficult to be learnt and remembered). The educational and didactic aspects of this dependence are also obvious while it may lead to a more effective teaching of the sign language in the practical application from the easier (i.e. easily memorable) signs to signs that are more complex and more difficult.

3 Methodology

Based on the current knowledge, the lowest analyzed level is grounded in the number of morphemes which appear in particularly identified lexical units (signs). Since the signs of CSL (unlike the words of the Czech language) do not consist of linearly produced sounds, with respect to the composition of CSL signs by simultaneously produced parameters, every sign will be presented as the total sum of all morphemes which are produced in its course.

Simultaneously performed manual sign parameters (Macurová, 2008):

- sign location in the articulation space (TAB)
- the shape of the articulating hand/hands (DEZ)

- the orientation of the palm/palms (ORI1)
- the orientation of fingers (ORI2)
- the movements of the hand/hands (SIG)
- mutual hand arrangement in two-handed signs (HA)



CHOOSE**

	Number of	morphemes*
Parameter	Right hand	Left hand
TAB	1	0
DEZ	2	0
ORI1	1	0
ORI2	1	0
SIG	1	0
HA		0
Total		6

Table 1: The design of the analysis and notation of the total morpheme number in the one-handed sign (CHOOSE)

|--|

SPREAD

	Number of 1	morphemes*
Parameter	Right hand	Left hand
TAB	2	2
DEZ	2	2
ORI1	1	1
ORI2	1	1
SIG	1	1
HA		1
Total	1	5

Table 2: The design of the analysis and notation of the total morpheme number in the twohanded sign (SPREAD)

* The number of morphemes on the abovementioned examples states the number of values which are possible to be acquired by a certain parameter in a sign – e.g. the place of articulation of the sign CHOOSE is not changed (TAB = 1) as well as the palm orientation (ORI1 = 1) and orientation of the fingers (ORI2 = 1) while the movement of a hand is not repeated (SIG = 1). However, the original shape of hands is changed (DEZ = 2). At the sign SPREAD, one hand changes the place of articulation (TAB = 2), while the shape of one hand is changed as well (DEZ = 2). Other parameters are not changing (ORI1 = 1, ORI2 = 1, SIG = 1). The mutual position of hands is not changed as well (HA = 1).

** In the text, the English equivalents of corresponding signs of CSL are stated in capital letters.

It is possible to conclude from the stated tables that the total number of morphemes is significantly influenced by the number of hands (which are used to realize a sign) and the number of phonologically important changes in individual parameters (morphemes). However, it remains a question if the abovementioned sign SPREAD (with the total of 15 morphemes) is actually perceived by the students of sign language as significantly more difficult to learn and remember than the sign CHOOSE with the total number of 6 morphemes.

In the professional literature, the signs of sign languages are grouped in several groups according to so-called motion matrices. According to Battison (1978), the following ones are the most common:

- Signs that may be articulated by one hand:
 - signs with zero contacts (e.g. STUDY, DAY, SUN),
 - signs with a contact with the body, however, not with the other hand (e.g. DEAF, FRIEND, OLD).
- Signs articulated by both hands:
 - signs in which both hands are active and both of them are in the same shape (e.g. WEATHER, IMPORTANT, SLOVAKIA);
 - symmetric signs in which one hand is active (the dominant hand i.e. the right hand among the right-handed people) which articulates above (under, behind, in front of, etc.) the passive hand; both hands are in the same shape (e.g. SOCK, OCTOBER, DANGER);
 - asymmetric signs in which only one hand is active (the dominant hand) which articulates above (under, behind, in front of, etc.) the passive hand; both hands are in a different shape (e.g. GIFT, TECHNOLOGY, TACK).
- Composed signs which include combinations of signs of types mentioned above (e.g. MAY, LIBRARY, DO NOT KNOW).

For the needs of our research and for exploration of the subjective perception of complexity of signs to be learnt, it was necessary to create a classification of motion matrices which respects also the didactic difficulty of individual signs:

- Signs articulated by one hand:
 - signs with zero contacts (= 1H without contact),
 - signs with a contact with the body, however, not with the other hand (= 1H with contact).
- Signs articulated by both hands:
 - symmetric signs in which both hands are active and both of them are in the same shape and perform the same (mirror) motion (= 2H symmetric);

- semi-symmetric in which the hands are in the same shape and they perform similar or phase-shifted motion (= 2H semisymmetric);
- non-symmetric signs in which the hands are in the same shape, however, only one hand is active (= 2H non-symmetric);
- asymmetric signs in which the hands are in different shapes and only one hand is active (= 2H asymmetric).
- Composed signs which include combinations of all above mentioned types of signs (= composed).

All seven motion matrices were accompanied by four corresponding signs of CSL among which the sum of morphemes was analysed. After that, they were anonymized and they were subjected to assessment of respondents of the research in random order (see Table 3). Four signs of each motion matrix seemed optimal number with a regard to the variability of summarized number of morphemes, in order to provide a sufficient number of research data and also with regard to adequate time demands for respondents who had to assess 28 signs in total.

			Number of morphemes											
				Dom	inant	hand		N	on-do	mina	nt har	nd		
Sign (English equiva- lent)	Anony- mous code	Motion matrix	ТАВ	DEZ	ORI1	ORI2	SIG	ТАВ	DEZ	ORI1	ORI2	SIG	HA	Total
BANANA	SIGN01	2H non- symmetric	3	1	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	0	3	16
YES	SIGN02	1H without contact	1	1	1	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
ТАСК	SIGN03	2H asym- metric	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	11
DUCK	SIGN04	2H semi- symmetric	1	1	3	1	3	1	1	3	1	3	1	19
100	SIGN05	1H without contact	2	2	2	2	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	11
LI- BRARY	SIGN06	composed	3	1	3	1	6	2	1	3	1	2	1	24
MAY	SIGN07	composed	3	3	1	2	2	1	1	1	1	1	2	18
WEATH- ER	SIGN08	2H sym- metric	2	1	1	1	2	2	1	1	1	2	1	15
HIGH- WAY	SIGN09	2H semi- symmetric	1	1	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	3	1	15
SUN	SIGN10	1H without contact	3	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	7

SPAIN	SIGN11	1H with contact	1	1	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
OLD	SIGN12	1H with contact	1	1	1	1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	8
FAT	SIGN13	2H non- symmetric	1	1	1	1	4	1	1	1	1	0	1	13
ART	SIGN14	1H with contact	3	1	2	2	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	11
FEBRU- ARY	SIGN15	composed	5	2	2	2	5	5	2	1	1	4	2	31
TRUST	SIGN16	2H asym- metric	2	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	14
FAITH- FUL	SIGN17	2H non- symmetric	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	11
WOLF	SIGN18	1H without contact	2	2	2	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	9
BRIGHT	SIGN19	2H asym- metric	3	1	1	2	3	1	1	1	1	0	2	16
DANGER	SIGN20	2H non- symmetric	1	1	1	2	4	1	1	1	1	0	1	14
SHOP	SIGN21	2H semi- symmetric	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	2	1	1	1	13
HELP	SIGN22	2H sym- metric	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	11
DON'T KNOW	SIGN23	composed	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	1	1	0	1	15
FAMILY	SIGN24	2H sym- metric	3	2	1	1	1	3	2	1	1	1	1	17
YEAR	SIGN25	2H asym- metric	3	1	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	1	4	18
EGG	SIGN26	2H sym- metric	2	1	1	1	4	2	1	1	1	4	1	19
GREEN	SIGN27	1H with contact	1	1	1	1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	7
CAB- BAGE	SIGN28	2H semi- symmetric	1	1	1	2	3	1	1	1	2	3	1	17

Table 3: List of tested signs, their affiliation to motion matrices and numbers of morphemes which are occur in them

The tested signs may be watched (in a form of video recording) at links below:

- 1H without contact YES (S02), 100 (S05), SUN (S10), WOLF (S18): https:// youtu.be/VYzg_bgutxA
- 1H with contact SPAIN (S11), OLD (S12), ART (S14), GREEN (S27): https://youtu.be/HUdvv7orIHs

- 2H symmetric WEATHER (S08), HELP (S22), FAMILY (S24), EGG (S26): https://youtu.be/kn5Fc8Lblik
- 2H semisymmetric DUCK (S04), HIGHWAY (S09), SHOP (S21), CABBAGE (S28): https://youtu.be/7QLuwpoizkE
- 2H non-symmetric BANANA (S01), FAT (S13), FAITHFUL (S17), DANGER (S20): https://youtu.be/F7Puma2tJVU
- 2H asymmetric TACK (S03), TRUST (S16), BRIGHT (S19), YEAR (S25): https://youtu.be/5Ec0INzhYoc
- Composed LIBRARY (S06), MAY (S07), FEBRUARY (S15), DON'T KNOW (S23): https://youtu.be/Znfe8Ikk770

In order to discover the subjective perception of signs' complexity, an online questionnaire was applied (via GoogleDocs) while it employed five-degree Likert's scale to mark the complexity of all 28 signs. Individual signs were introduced to the respondents in anonymized form of isolated video recordings at which a deaf signer interprets the sign. All video recordings of signs were presented in the same light and color conditions and in the same (standard) speed. The respondents might (according to the introductory instruction) play the video recording of each sign any time they wanted and they were asked to mark their subjective perception of each sign on the scale of 1 (very simple) – 5 (very complicated) (see Figure 1 below). It was recommended to watch all the signs at the beginning and to use the whole scale 1–5.





Due to a fact that a vast part of CSL is visually motivated, has an iconic nature and, therefore, the visual course of a sign reminds a typical attribute of an item or a phenomenon which they represent (cf. Langer, 2013), it is possible to think that the knowledge of semantic meaning of these signs may influence the respondent in their subjective perception of sign's complexity. Since the aim of the realized research was to discover the perception of signs' complexity of respondents who were not aware if their meaning, a question to discover respondent's practical experience with CSL (or for how long do they study CSL) was included in the questionnaire as well. At the end of the questionnaire, several additional questions of demographic nature were included to discover the sex, age and economic status (high school student, university student, other respondents) of respondents. The respondents might also add any comments to the researched problematics and the online questionnaire itself.

4 Respondents and research course

The created scale-based online questionnaire was administered for the period of 19 days (13th February – 2nd March 2017), 3 main groups of respondents were addressed while they were typical hearing students of CSL:

- high-school students who study CSL because of their personal or professional interest,
- university students who study CSL because of their personal or professional interest,
- adults (aged 25–35 years) which is the age in which the hearing parents of a deaf child start to learn CSL.

Contacting of potential respondents was performed in a form of link which was given out together with introductory instructions based on personal visits of researchers in several classes of Slovanské gymnasium Olomouc (in case of high-school students) and personal visits of researchers in classes of university students of 3 faculties of Palacký University Olomouc: Faculty of Education, Faculty of Arts and Faculty of Science. The parents of young deaf children were contacted via personal contacts of researchers, community social networks and the snowball method. The responses of the respondents were anonymous

In total, 236 unique respondents were joined the research while 1 respondent have not managed to fill in the whole online questionnaire correctly. Therefore, this respondent's answers were not included in the further process. Therefore, data by 235 unique respondents were subjected to further analyses (see Table 4 below).

		Sum		Average age				
	Males	Females	Total	Males	Females	Total		
High-school students	19	26	45	16.2	16.9	16.6		
University students	15	137	152	24.4	22.6	22.8		
Others	16	22	38	30.3	29.7	29.9		
Total	50	185	235	23.2	22.7	22.8		

Table 4: Demographic characteristics of the respondents



Graph 1: Age structure of the respondents

	Length of CSL study (in years)										
	0	1	2	3	4	5 and more					
High-school students	45	0	0	0	0	0					
University students	112	30	6	2	0	2					
Others	36	1	0	0	0	1					
Total	193	31	6	2	0	3					

Table 5: Respondents' experience with CSL study

The possibility to add a comment linked to the researched problematics and to the online scale-based questionnaire itself was used by 36 respondents in total. The vast majority of the respondents positively assessed the form of the questionnaire while it showed a greater interest in CSL and the issue of communication among the deaf. In addition, the impulse to state Czech equivalents of individual signs was frequently mentioned while the anonymization of individual researched signs was the aim of researches (the same information channel was used to send a link to the respondents once the questionnaire was administered while it contained a modified version of the online questionnaire in which the Czech equivalents were stated). Only 2 comments of a technical nature contained an impulse to include a possibility to play the signs slower and to enable the zooming-in to see the signing hands in detail. However, these adjustments were not desirable due to the aims of the research.

5 Results and Discussion

From the responses which were recorded in data file of online questionnaire form, the following results of the scale-based assessment of signs complexity (1 = very easy; 5 = very hard) emerged for the researched signs (see Table 6 below):

					Average ratio	ıg
Sign (English equivalent)	Anony- mous code	Motion matrix	Number of mor- phemes	All	Without experience	With experience
YES	S02	1H without contact	6	1.3	1.3	1.3
100	S05	1H without contact	11	3.2	3.1	3.4
SUN	S10	1H without contact	7	1.2	1.3	1.1
WOLF	S18	1H without contact	9	1.5	1.5	1.6
GREEN	S27	1H with contact	7	1.6	1.6	1.7
SPAIN	S11	1H with contact	6	2.2	2.2	2.4
OLD	S12	1H with contact	8	1.4	1.4	1.3
ART	S14	1H with contact	11	2.8	2.9	2.6
WEATHER	S08	2H symmetric	15	1.3	1.3	1.2
HELP	S22	2H symmetric	11	1.3	1.4	1.2
FAMILY	S24	2H symmetric	17	2.0	2.0	1.8
EGG	S26	2H symmetric	19	1.6	1.6	1.4
DUCK	S04	2H semisymmetric	19	3.0	3.0	2.7
HIGHWAY	S09	2H semisymmetric	15	2.0	2.0	1.9
SHOP	S21	2H semisymmetric	13	1.7	1.7	1.6

CABBAGE	S28	2H semisymmetric	17	2.0	2.1	1.9
BANANA	S01	2H non-symmetric	16	2.7	2.9	1.8
FAT	S13	2H non-symmetric	13	1.8	1.7	1.8
FAITHFUL	S17	2H non-symmetric	11	1.4	1.3	1.5
DANGER	S20	2H non-symmetric	14	2.8	2.8	2.6
TACK	S03	2H asymmetric	11	1.6	1.5	2.0
TRUST	S16	2H asymmetric	14	1.8	1.7	2.1
BRIGHT	S19	2H asymmetric	16	3.1	3.1	3.1
YEAR	S25	2H asymmetric	18	2.1	2.2	1.9
LIBRARY	S06	composed	24	3.6	3.7	3.0
MAY	S07	composed	18	3.5	3.4	3.5
FEBRUARY	S15	composed	31	3.1	3.2	2.7
DON'T KNOW	S23	composed	15	3.4	3.4	3.3

Table 6: Average assessment of signs' complexity by the respondents

From the results stated above, it is possible to conclude (see Table 7 below) that the lowest average values at scale from 1 (very simple) to 5 (very complicated) were achieved in all three groups (all/without any experience with sign language/with experience with sign language) by one-handed signs or by two-handed signs in which both hands are in the same shape (the symmetric and non-symmetric). Signs of this type therefore have an extensive didactic potential and they should be (in addition to the contextual and content point of view) included in the vocabulary for students – beginners.

		All		Witho	out experien	ce	Wit	h experience	
Rank	Sign (English equivalent)	Motion matrix	Av. rating	Sign (English equivalent)	Motion matrix	Av. rating	Sign (English equivalent)	Motion matrix	Av. rating
1.	SUN	1H without contact	1.2	SUN	1H without contact	1.3	SUN	1H without contact	1.1
2.	WEATHER	2H sym- metric	1.3	FAITHFUL	2H non- symmetric	1.3	WEATHER	2H sym- metric	1.2
3.	HELP	2H sym- metric	1.3	WEATHER	2H sym- metric	1.3	HELP	2H sym- metric	1.2
4.	YES	1H without contact	1.3	YES	1H without contact	1.3	OLD	1H with contact	1.3
5.	FAITHFUL	2H non- symmetric	1.4	HELP	2H sym- metric	1.4	YES	1H without contact	1.3
6.	OLD	1H with contact	1.4	OLD	1H with contact	1.4	EGG	2H sym- metric	1.4

7.	WOLF	1H without contact	1.5	WOLF	1H without contact	1.5	FAITHFUL	2H non- symmetric	1.5
----	------	--------------------	-----	------	-----------------------	-----	----------	----------------------	-----

 Table 7: The order of seven signs with the lowest average value of complexity.

In terms of a group of 7 signs with the highest average value of complexity, the vast majority of respondents (as expected) of all 3 groups mentioned the composed signs – i.e. signs with a combination of more motion matrices in which there is a larger number of morphemes (see Table 8 below). However, the placement of a sign for a numeral 100 with a motion matrix of a one-handed sign without a contact is rather surprising. Nevertheless, it is a sign with rather high number of morphemes which are necessary to capture – therefore, it is obvious that the high number of morphemes is significantly projected in the perception of its complexity even in case of one-handed sign. From the perspective of didactics, they are not appropriate to be taught in the initial training.

	All			Without experience			With experience		
Rank	Sign (English equivalent)	Motion matrix	Av. rating	Sign (English equivalent)	Motion matrix	Av. rating	Sign (English equivalent)	Motion matrix	Av. rating
22.	DUCK	2H semi- symmetric	3.0	DUCK	2H semi- symmetric	3.0	FEBRUARY	composed	2.7
23.	FEBRUARY	composed	3.1	100	1H without contact	3.1	DUCK	2H semi- symmetric	2.7
24.	BRIGHT	2H asym- metric	3.1	BRIGHT	2H asym- metric	3.1	LIBRARY	composed	3.0
25.	100	1H without contact	3.2	FEBRUARY	composed	3.2	BRIGHT	2H asym- metric	3.1
26.	DON'T KNOW	composed	3.4	DON'T KNOW	composed	3.4	DON'T KNOW	composed	3.3
27.	MAY	composed	3.5	MAY	composed	3.4	100	1H without contact	3.4
28.	LIBRARY	composed	3.6	LIBRARY	composed	3.7	MAY	composed	3.5

 Table 8: The order of seven signs with the highest average value of complexity.

From the distribution of values of average assessment of the signs' complexity, the linear dependency of the complexity of a sign on the number of its morphemes (see Graph 2 below) is obvious, however, not entirely essential (the correlation reaches the value 0.4). At the same time, the non-standard placement of signs S08, S09, S24, S25, S26 and S28 is obvious, while they are, despite a rather high number of morphemes, assessed as relatively simple. Due to a fact that they are two-handed symmetric signs (2H symmetric), there emerge a question of an unwanted overrating of the total



number of morphemes among these signs since it is basically a mirror image and motion of both hands.

Graph 2: The dependence of the average value of sign's complexity on the number of morphemes

After the supplementary adjustment of number of morphemes of two-handed signs, in which both hands are in the same shape (symmetric, semisymmetric and asymmetric signs), which was based on the reduction of number of morphemes at a non-dominant hand to the value 1 (in case of symmetric signs), reduction to the value 2 (among semisymmetric signs), and reduction to the value 3 (among non-symmetric signs) – the linear dependence is less disrupted (see Graph 3 below).



Graph 3: The dependence of the average value of sign's complexity on the number of morphemes after their supplementary reduction



Graph 5: Correlation of a type of morpheme and its assessment

In the Graph 5 (see above), the correlation matrix for signs and assessments in the questionnaire is plotted. The most interesting discoveries are presented in fourth to sixth rows. The assessment of complexity done by respondents with and without experience with sign language are strongly correlated. Therefore, the signs which are complex for one group are complex for the second group as well. Among both groups, the correlation is growing when the number of morphemes is adjusted (last two columns), therefore, the adjusted assessment is more corresponding to the perception of complexity of signs among the respondents (the correlation raises from 0.42 to 0.57 among respondents without experience, and from 0.57 to 0.68 in total.

6 Conclusion

The realized research confirmed the original theoretical assumption that the number of morphemes (phonemes that carry meaning) in CSL signs is proportionally influencing the subjective perception of complexity of presented signs. The number of morphemes was at the beginning of research stated in a way that it referred to the sum of phonemes occurring during the articulation of a sign in individual parameters of a sign for both dominant and non-dominant hand.

The results also showed the fact that the assessment of complexity of two-handed signs among which both hands are in the same shape (i.e. symmetric, semisymmetric and non-symmetric signs) does not correspond to their placement in a graph of the trends stated by other types of signs. The cause may be the fact that the same shape of hands and more-or-less identical other parameters at both hands cause an impression of relatively simple sign among the respondents. During the modeling and the supplementary adjustment of the sum of total number of morphemes among the three groups of signs (instead of morphemes of the non-dominant hand among symmetric signs +1, among semisymmetric signs +2, and non-symmetric signs +3), their placement within the graph showing the dependence between the number of morphemes and the value of their complexity seems to be adequate and it corresponds the observed linear dependence.

From the didactic perspective, we consider substantial the confirmation of the theoretical assumption of the easier memorability of the signs which contain a lesser number of morphemes. As the simplest ones, the symmetric signs are considered, i.e. those which are performed with hands in the same shape, they are in mirror positions and they perform the identical motion. In addition, both groups of one-handed signs are perceived as relatively simple – e.g. those with no contact and with a contact to a body. The composed signs are unambiguously perceived the most complex and difficult. While designing the methodology of CSL teaching for target groups of hearing people (while the research included respondents from 13 to 42 years of age), it would be appropriate to include signs from groups of motion matrices which were perceived simple mainly in the initial stages of the teaching.

The results stated above are also principal for the execution of planned quantitatively linguistic analysis of CSL for which the numbers of morphemes of individual signs are the lowest level of the observed hierarchic structure. As stated above, the originally proposed calculation of the sum of morphemes proved to be (via research) overvalued (among two-handed symmetric, semisymmetric and non-symmetric signs), therefore, the supplementary adjustment of the calculation was performed.

Acknowledgements

The study has been supported by the Czech Science Foundation by project No. 17-18149S "Theoretical Basis for Teaching Czech Sign Language Tested through Quantitative Linguistic Methods".

References

- [1] Battison, R. Lexical Borrowing in American Sign Language. Silver Springs: Linstok Press, 1978.
- [2] Grzybek, P. Word Length. In: Taylor, J. R. (ed.) *The Oxford Handbook of the Word*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; pp. 1-25, 2015.
- [3] Hřebíček, L. Text in Semantics. Prague: Academy of Czech Sciences, 2007.
- [4] Kelih, E. Parameter interpretation of the Menzerath law: evidence from Serbian. In: Grzybek, P.; Kelih, E.; Mačutek, J. (eds.) *Text and Language. Structures · Functions · Interrelations · Quantitative Perspectives*. Wien: Praesens, pp. 71–78, 2010.
- [5] Köhler, R. (ed.) Quantitative Linguistics. De Gruyter, 2008.
- [6] Langer, J. Znakové systémy v komunikaci neslyšících [Sign Systems in Communication of the Deaf]. Olomouc: Univerzita Palackého. 2013.
- [7] Macurová, A. Dějiny výzkumu znakového jazyka u nás a v zahraničí [History of Sign Language Research in our Country and Abroad]. Praha: Česká komora tlumočníků znakového jazyka, 2008.
- [8] Menzerath, P. Über *einige phonetische Probleme [About some phonetic problems]*. Actes du premier congrès international de linguistes. Leiden, Sijthhoff, 1928.
- [9] Menzerath, P. Die Architektonik des deutschen Wortschatzes [The architecture of the German vocabulary]. Bonn, Dümmler, 1954.

(reviewed twice)

doc. Mgr. Jiří Langer, Ph.D. Institute of special education studies Faculty of education Palacký University Olomouc Žižkovo nám. 5 771 40 Olomouc Czech Republic email: jiri.langer@upol.cz

Mgr. Miroslav Rypka, Ph.D. Department of Geoinformatics Faculty of science Palacký University Olomouc 17. listopadu 50 771 46 Olomouc Czech Republic email: miroslav.rypka01@upol.cz

The role of school principals in implementing inclusive education in the Czech Republic

PETERS, Brenda; POTMĚŠIL Miloň: Palacky University Olomouc, 2015, 81pp., ISBN 978-80-244-4798-8 (book review)

Reviewed by Joy S. Okoye

The role of school principals in implementing inclusive education in the Czech Republic is one of the available literatures concerned with the development of inclusive education in central Europe. This book, however, focuses on leadership for inclusion and the inclusive practices of school principles of regular schools.

Brenda Peters and Milon Potmesil are the sole authors of the book under review. Their research focuses on the role of the school leader in developing inclusive attitudes and practices of staff and the wider community towards students with special education needs (SEN) in the Moravian region of the Czech Republic. They discern that the development of inclusion and inclusive practice in the Czech Republic is largely unknown outside the country when compare to other European countries, however, in sum Peters and Potmesil maintain that the Czech Republic purports to be moving towards a more inclusive educational system.

The book has six chapters and is written as a monograph. It begins by providing the reader with background and situational information, which are deemed essential to the investigation of school principal's attitudes towards students with SEN, and effect extant inclusive practices that occur within schools. The first chapter further describes the research problem, the purpose, the significance of the study and provides an overview and organization of the study.

In chapter 2, the authors' insights offer a cultural-historical perspective on inclusive education and the exploration of the inclusive practices of school leaders. Included in this chapter is the detailed conceptual framework that contributes to our understanding of the practices of inclusive education and comprises of philosophical perspectives, historical perspectives, cultural perspectives and professional/personal experience. The authors used related literatures that concern school principals and leadership from other countries such as United States, Australia, Sweden and the UK to buttress the issue. Intensive information about inclusive educational practices
in the Czech Republic is explored; for example, the Czech government's failure to address selective nature of its school system in that it has the highest percentage of students with SEN in segregated educational provision in the European Union. In addition, the chapter proffers, inclusive practices of principals in the Czech Republic and the research questions and hypotheses are stated.

Chapter 3 postulates the study design that involved two parts used to gather data. In the first part of the data collection schools principals' attitudes towards students with SEN in the Czech Republic are gathered by means of Bailey's attitude scale and results are compared with a renowned inclusive country, in this instance Sweden. The second part explores inclusive practices acknowledged by Czech school principals within their schools, thus, using survey research design. Included are a detailed procedure, recruitment process, data collection, instruments, validity as well as data analysis.

In chapter 4, Peters and Potmesil present the findings of the results gathered from administering the questionnaires that explored school principals' attitudes towards students with SEN and the extant inclusion practices that occur within schools in the Czech Republic, which are further explored in the subsequent chapter.

Chapter 5 explains the results gathered in detail in relation to the research literature. Additionally, the chapter is organized in relation to the six elements of the activity system (Engestrom, 1987) namely the community, tools, outcomes, subject, role and rules. Peters and Potmesil conclude the chapter with the implications and limitations of the study.

Finally, chapter 6 draws the study together and connecting the implication of the findings to future developments of inclusive education and how such developments may be best supported and encouraged in the Czech Republic and future research directions were proffered.

Generally, the book provides new empirical data into staff attitudes and the inclusive educational practices in the Czech Republic and also exposes existing inclusive practices of school leaders in Moravia region.

It identifies the strength and weakness of school leadership inclusion and inclusive practice in the Czech Republic. Thus, this book does not only gives one an understanding of the role of school principals in implementing inclusive education in the Czech Republic but also that of many other countries.

Joy S. Okoye Palacky University of Olomouc Olomouc Czech Republic email: Sadespecial@yahoo.com

A practical guide for learning the craft of qualitative interviewing

BRINKMAN, S; KVALE, S.: *Interviews: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing*. London: Sage, 2015, ISBN: 978-0761925422 (book review)

Reviewed by Liu Jia, Zhou Bo

Interview is one of the important methods of social science researches. It forms the basis of investigation method together with questionnaires and plays an important role in the research of psychology, pedagogy, sociology, anthropology and other disciplines. Because it is more time-consuming, using the interview method to collect research data often has to pay a higher cost, this method has not been favored by researchers in the times of pursuing quantitative indicators. With the rise of qualitative researches, the importance of interview is increasingly revealed.

Two authors of Interviews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interview, Steinar Kvale and Svend Brinkmann, have deep attainments in qualitative research interviews. Qualitative interviews are just relying on their own advantages to increasingly become a method used by social researchers in the study. the method of interview is not only a basic skill for the researchers, but also a successful way to study social phenomena. In the book, interview is seen not only as a technique, but also as a social practice; through such a practice, it can make researchers understand and grasp the researched issues better. As an interview method which is very different from the structured interviews used in the social survey and research, the qualitative interviews described in the book (sometimes it is also referred to as "in-depth interviews", "no-structure interviews", "free interviews", etc.) is a method which has more flexibility, more requirements for interviewers, and involves more techniques, strategies, methods as well as issues. In this method, the interviewer (researcher) is just a tool of the research; in the interview process that seems very close to the oral communication between people in the daily social life, the researchers put forward all kinds of questions around the target in their hearts, listen to the interviewees, and deepen the understanding of the objects step by step. The direction guide and content control in the interview process both should be in depth and expanded step by step, smoothly, without being perceived by the respondents and with the help of interview skills of the interviewers.

The book consists of two parts, the first part is concepts and basic theories. In this part, the authors adopted four chapters to introduce the concepts related to qualitative research interviews, not only distinguishing the differences between research interviews and philosophical conversations as well as therapeutic interviews, but also making the further analysis of related concepts from the aspects of epistemology and ethics. This part can be seen as the basis of qualitative research interviews. The second part is the focus of this book, the authors adopted twelve chapters to introduce in detail the specific steps and technical details of qualitative research interviews, and they made all the detailed descriptions from determining the theme to the whole process of the official interviews, as well as the construction and handling of interview contents, the conversational language, etc.. The book also has a major feature taking a specific interview study for example, and introduces step by step the conceptualization of interview surveys, interview design, interview situation and a variety of interview forms, making interactive oral interviews translated into written text data, a variety of tools used for analyzing the interview text data, the validation of interview results, the writing of interview research reports and many other aspects of contents, which cover the entire process of interview researches. This approach provides the novices engaged in interview researches with a good and practical guide on "how to do" an interview research, and it is very easy for the novices to learn and use. In addition, the book not only lists a large number of living examples to introduce all kinds of interview techniques and skills in detail, but also especially discusses the epistemology and methodology of interview researches, ethical issues of interview researches, etc.. The authors adopted a simple, concise way to present the complex academic information, guided the readers to understand the interrogative interview techniques used in social researches and provided a clear, incremental guide for the researchers who try to be familiar with the field. The papers and research report cases which are provided in the book show the readers a systematic process of the qualitative research from fragmentary thought sparks to finally forming a masterwork.

When describing detailed techniques and skills, meantime, the authors also put forward a question that all those who do qualitative researches may encounter ---- How can qualitative researchers make an appropriate, effective understanding and explanation of research phenomena? In the qualitative interviews, the authors put forward an understandable paradox which is reflected in: How can interviewers really "understand" interviewees? Interviewers have their own research questions, and the reason why the interviewers put forward the questions is that they have their own pre-views, or at least they have their own concern contents on the questions, and they think that such questions are very important. During the conversation with the interviewees, he / she must keep balanced between listening to the other (local concepts, naming ways and life worlds) and keeping in mind their research questions as well as research purposes. Whether pausing, repeating or questioning closely, he / she are consciously guiding the other to the ways that his/ her own interest is in. The reasons why the interviewees accept interviews are that they usually have their own agendas and hopes. Mostly they have their own stories needing to be poured out, they hope to be heard, understood, and expressed. While, often, they have different languages, different meaning systems, different cultural customs and different social realities from the interviewers. The gap between main bodies is torn by different factors, seeming to make the exchanges and interviews become impossible.

According to the introduction of the authors of this book, in the postmodern epistemology, the object of cognition is not an independent island, but a "structure of relationship". The core of knowledge is the relationship, not the individual. Knowledge does not exist in the individual, nor is it independent of the world, but it exists in the relationship between persons as well as the relationship between it and the world. The authors of this book uses two vivid metaphors to refer to the role of qualitative researchers in understanding and interpreting: miners and travelers. They both hope to know and understand the social realities, and also hope to pursue the truths. But, in contrast, the former is a knowledge explorer, and knowledge is considered to be objective existence, similar to the rich mineral deposits, waiting for the "miners" to dig; while the latter is a knowledge constructor, similar to the traveler, forming his own knowledge and insight then by constantly talking and inquiring with others during the journey. From the research paradigm, the miners can be considered as a post-positivist, hoping to dig the precious "gold" that has long been "there" through the rigorous, systematic procedures and methods; while the traveler is a constructivist, forming the new knowledge in a particular, social and historical situation, as well as in the relationship with people. So the authors stress that the two must be combined.

From that the authors of this book adopt many chapters to introduce the knowledge view of post-modernism, it is clear that they are more interested in the role of qualitative researchers as travelers. However, it is not stereotyped to teach "philosophismus" and "research method", but to make the theories, steps and techniques related to qualitative interview researches that seem difficult introduced systematically in popular, simple and concrete language, and it has a good inspiration. In the structure, the whole book first makes an overview of the entire interview research, and makes a brief and comprehensive discussion of qualitative researches. It can not only help the readers understand the qualitative research method, but also help to open up perspectives, understanding various possibilities in the survey method. Mgr. LiuJia Palacky University, Olomouc Žižkovo nám.5, Olomouc, Czech Republic Chengdu Sport University Tel: +86 13036664679 email: 5338833@qq.com

Mgr. ZhouBo Palacky University, Olomouc Žižkovo nám.5, Olomouc, Czech Republic Sichuan Normal University Tel: +86 18681356600 email: 2230101@qq.com

Approaches to students with learning disorders in inclusive school environment

BARTOŇOVÁ, M.: (2014). Approaches to students with learning disorders in Inclusive school environment. Brno: Muni press .ISBN 978-80-210-7110-0 (Book Review)

Reviewed by Orim Samuel Orim

This book is one of the intellectual property of a researcher and academic, doc.PaedDr. Miroslaua Bartonova,Ph.D. It is the author's contribution to the Interdisciplinary Research Project MUNI/M/0012/2013 which primarily aims at creating enabling environment for the implementation of inclusive education in the Czech Republic. The book has four chapters, beginning with introduction which gives the background to the text and stresses the role of positive school environment to the implementation of inclusive education for children with specific learning disorders with a focus in primary schools. Chapters one and two present theoretical background and research based strategies/models of educating students with specific learning disorders in inclusive school environment. In capters three and four the author's attention is focused on strategies for measuring support among learners with these disabilities in inclusive educational setting and personality characteristics of this category of learners.

In chapter one the author presents expressly the subject matter in an orderly and scholarly sub headings, beginning with:

- The right to education of children with specific learning disorders
- Terminology associated with specific learning disorders
- Etiology of specific learning disorders and behavior.
- Counseling and intervention approaches for students with learning disorders.

Specifically, the author discusses the right of persons with these disabilities to education. To substantiate this the author clearly makes reference to the provisions of the constitution of the Czech Republic ,ACT NO198/2009Coll and the UN Convention on the Right of persons with Disabilities 2006. Other legislations that conferred the right to education on persons with specific learning disorders (SLD) in the Czech Republic as articulated by the author are Decree no: 13/2005 coll as amended by Decree 374/2006, Decree 48/2005, Decree 72/2005 as amended by Decree no:

116/2011 coll and Decree no:147/2011 coll which specifically focus on inclusive education and support services. To precisely and categorically understand the disability in question it heterogeneity is discuss and the prevalence as the time of this research was 4–8% with dyslexia having the higher percentage. The author use the diagnostic manual of the world health organization-International classification of diseases 10th edition of 1992 and International classification of functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) adopted by WHO in 2001 to classify these disabilities into, dyslexia, dysgraphia, dysorthographia, dyscalculia, dyspraxia and terms like learning disabilities, specific learning difficulties, specific learning disorders and specific learning and behaviour disorders are used to refer to disabilities that has no sensory, facial evidence but implicate one's ability to read, write, spell. Count, use motor skills and pay attention to a given task for a required time frame. Under etiology of SLD, the author acknowledges the shift from earlier etiology to more recent and scientific research based causes. In this regard SLD is traced to many factors which include but not limited to phonologic deficit, memory deficit, and neurological deficit, deficit in automation process, genetic factors and social interaction problem. The author appreciates the frustration SLD imposes on the children the need for professional counseling as well as prompt intervention beginning with comprehensive neuropsychological diagnosis as a basis for remediation of SLD cases.

Chapter two of the text acknowledges varied models of education for students with SLD in accordance with the principle of curriculum policy formulation as defined by Act no: 561/2004 coll as amended primarily to give students opportunity to choose from among various professions base on future education, forces of labour market and individual interest and cognitive ability of the child. The author further articulates policy initiative in Europe as decided by Council of ministers of Education and express support for inclusion. However the author did not rule out the need for individualization of educational programmes which must be supported with professional services and good facilities.

The writer expressly highlights the need for effective planning for effective classroom interaction, learning and particularly note that reading is a cardinal skill that required professional pedagogical attention in school especially among students with dyslexia. In addition, the textbook sees foreign language as a vehicle to enhance social interaction among student with SLD in Czech and other countries. On this basis the book advocates for the study of foreign language by students with SLD despite the challenges of teaching and learning the language. The Chapter presents executive function as a strategy to initiate, plan and keep the students on track or focus on his/ her task as well as monitor the progress. The positive role of learning styles is discuss and based on research findings the author encourage these category of students to develop and use effective learning with due consideration to their ability, to enhance their learning style teaching strategies should be learner centered. The last chapter presents both behavioural and educational characteristics of students with SLD and notes that the uniqueness of this disability makes it difficult for two people with SLD to exhibit the personality which has instructional implications for the teacher. The chapter is concluded with recommendation for effective counseling for people with SLD to be able to cope with varied challenges of the disability as they show up at different stages of life and specific assignments in school, office and the society.

Orim ,Samuel Orim Department of Special Education University of Calabar, CRS,Nigeria email: Samuelorim1@gmail.com

Information for authors



Basic information about the JEP

Journal of Exceptional People (JEP) is be based on twice a year publishing period in both electronic and traditional – printed form. To guarantee professional standards of the Journal we have chosen special needs teachers, psychologists, therapists and other professionals from the U.S., Finland, Spain, Slovakia, Hungary, China, Russia, Poland and other countries. Above mentioned the scientific journal aspires to be registered into the international database of impacted periodicals (Journal Citation Reports).

Journal of Exceptional People (JEP) will provide research studies and articles on special education of exceptional people. This area covers individuals with disabilities and, on the other hand, gifted persons. The *Journal* will focus on publishing studies and articles in the field of education, social science (sociology) and psychology, special thematic issues and critical commentaries. The publishing language of the *Journal of Exceptional People* is to be English exclusively.

The periodical has been published since the year 2012 by the **Institute of Special** – **pedagogical Studies at Palacky University in Olomouc**.

Instructions for authors

Scope of the article is strictly given – must not be more than 12 **pages** formatted according template (including list of references, images, tables and appendices). The body of the text shall be written in letters of Times New Roman size 11 b. Different styles are undesirable, use the normal template and also please avoid numbering of pages. The final version of the articles ought to be formatted to the paragraphs. The Editorial Board reserves the right to refuse contributions.

The file should be saved under the same name with the surname of first author and sent in a format with the extension doc or docx (MS Word 2007 and upper versions). Before sending a file with the paper it is required to scan for possible infections or viruses. Authors are responsible for content and linguistic aspects of the contributions. Please, do not number pages. Images, graphs and tables should be numbered according to the example (*Figure 1: Preparatory exercise* [Times New Roman 11 b, italics]).

It is highly recommended to spend the necessary time correcting the paper – every mistake will be multiplied. Posted papers unsuitable for printing will not be published! Ensure appropriate division and balance between the various parts of the contribution and aesthetic placement of pictures and diagrams as well as their quality. Terminological correctness and formality are required.

Please note that publication of papers in the Journal will be free of charge.

Section headings should be numbered and written, as described in following manual: standard signs, symbols and abbreviations are to be used only. Monosyllabic preposition are ought not to figure at the end of the line, but at the beginning of the next line – they can be shifted using the "hard returns" CTRL + SHIFT + SPACE.

The list of literature and references to resources ought to follow these norms and directives: ČSN ISO 690 and ČSN ISO 690-2 or Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association APA.

Completed contribution shall be sent in an electronic form to the mail address: **dan.bibaged@centrum.cz**. In the subject line of the email note: JEP – contribution

Compliance with publication ethics

JEP editorial board ensures compliance with publication ethics and does this in a following way:

Editors board guarantees:

- That in the review process the author does not know the identity of the reviewer, and vice versa
- The reviewer and contributor does not come from the same organization or institution
- That if it is proven that there were some editorial or author's errors in the published article, this fact will be published in the next issue

Authors agree to the following:

- That their presented texts are original works
- That they state the references in accordance to standard specifications for citing sources (standards ISO 690, ISO 690-2 or the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association APA).

The criterion relating to the quality of articles

Content criteria:

- Does the authors state the current state of knowledge?
- Is the chosen topic a new one?
- Is the article comprehensive enough?
- Did the author use appropriate terminology?
- Are the sample and the methods used in scientific papers adequately described?
- Are the quantitative or qualitative methodology and interpretation of results reliable?
- Does the text have clear conclusions?

Formal criteria:

- Did the author comply with the standard division of the article (abstracts, keywords, literature...)
- Is the text clearly divided into chapters?
- Are the tables and graphs clear and understandable?
- Is the text not too long or too short?
- Is the list of used citation sources (literature) not disproportionately large?

Recommendations – Editors conclusions

- Text will be published
- Text will be published after minor modifications
- Text will be published after reworking
- Text will be reviewed again
- Text will not be published

ISSN 1805-4978